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Corporate Information
NEER

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Corporate press releases, financial reports and other
investor information are available online at the
website of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT
Direct enquiries to:
Facsimile: +852 2262 7843

Email: renzhi.zhou@oneforce.com.cn
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Board and Committees
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Directors and Senior Management

HHEGLARAEEAR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. WANG Dongbin, aged 54, is a founder of our Group, and the
Chairman and executive Director of the Company. Mr. WANG is also
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is primarily
responsible for the overall business corporate strategies planning and
development of our Group.

He obtained a bachelor’s degree in modern physics application from
Tsinghua University in the PRC in July 1990. He obtained a master’s
degree in nuclear physics from Tsinghua University in July 1992.

Mr. WANG has over 20 years of experience in the information
technology industry. Prior to founding our Group, Mr. WANG started
his career in the industry when he was first employed as a technical
director by Beijing Teletron Internet Technology Company Ltd.
between May 1996 and June 2001. He then joined Becom Software
Co, Ltd. as the general manager between July 2001 and April 2008.
Between May 2008 and July 2012, he was the executive director and
the general manager of Beijing lJietong Yishin Technology
Development Company Limited.

Mr. WU Zhanjiang, aged 53, is a founder of the Group and has been
appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from
1 June 2019. He is primarily responsible for technological research
and development and commercial application of the Group’s smart
city 1oT and smart energy loT businesses. Mr. WU Zhanjiang
graduated from North China Electric Power University and obtained a
master’s degree in Automation of Electric Power System in March
1996. In 2015, Mr. WU Zhanjiang graduated from China Europe
International Business School and obtained the EMBA certificate. Mr.
WU Zhanjiang has over 20 years of experience in the electric power
industry in the PRC and has accumulated abundant experience in
technological research and commercial application of smart city loT
and smart energy loT areas.

Mr. WU Hongyuan, aged 49, an executive Director of the Company,
has been re-designated from the post of Chief Executive Officer of
the Company to Executive President of the Company with effect from
1 June 2019 due to strategic planning. He is primarily responsible for
and focus on the operation and management of our Group’s loT. Mr.
WU Hongyuan joined our Group in December 2011 as the general
manager of the research and development and customer service
department of Along Grid and was promoted to the general manager
of Along Grid in April 2014. Mr. WU Hongyuan graduated from Beijing
Electricity College (which was incorporated into Beijing Jiaotong
University in 2000) in the PRC in July 1994, majoring in electricity
system communication.

Mr. WU Hongyuan has over 20 years of experience in the electric
power selling and management system industry. Prior to joining our
Group, he started his career as teaching staff in the information
engineering department of North China Electric Power University
between July 1994 and October 2007. He was then employed by the
Beijing Puhua Yalong Technology Company Limited as the deputy
general manager between November 2007 and December 2011.

Mr. LI Kangying, aged 65, is a founder of the Group and an executive
Director of the Company. He is primarily responsible for investment,
merger and acquisition related matters of the Group. Mr. LI
graduated from North China Electric Power University in December
1979 majoring in telecommunication and has extensive experience in
corporate management in mainland China and Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management

HEGLRRHEEAR

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. NG Kong Fat, Brian, aged 66, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since 5 February
2018. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He graduated from
the University of Stirling in Scotland in 1983 and was admitted as a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland in May
1987. Mr. NG has over 20 years of experience in corporate,
investment and financial management. Mr. NG has served as an
executive director of Beijing Enterprises Environment Group Limited
(stock code: 154), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and principally engaged in solid waste treatment business
in the PRC since July 1993.

Mr. HAN Bin, aged 68, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since 5 February 2018. He is also the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Audit Committee of the Company. He graduated
from North China Electric Power University (previously known as
North China Electric Power College) (“North China Electric Power
University”) in the PRC in December 1979, majoring in electricity
system communication.

Mr. HAN Bin has over 20 years of experience in the electric power
selling and management system market in the PRC. Between August
1989 and November 1992, he joined Tsingtao Electricity Supply
Company (previously known as Tsingtao Electricity Affair Department)
where he worked at various positions, including assistant engineer,
engineer and deputy head of the system operation department.
Between December 1992 and May 1999, he joined China Fulin Wind
Power Development Company where he worked as the deputy
general manager of the project department. Between June 1999 and
October 2013, he joined China Longyuan Power Group Corporation
Limited (previously known as Longyuan Power Group Limited) where
he worked at various positions, including assistant of the general
manager, deputy chief engineer and project development
department officer.

Mr. WANG Peng, aged 48, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 5 February 2018. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He graduated from North China Electric
Power University in the PRC in July 1994, majoring in electricity
system and automation of electricity system. He obtained a master’s
degree in engineering from North China Electric Power University in
January 1997. He then obtained a doctoral degree in electricity
system and automation of electricity system from North China
Electric Power University in April 2002.

Between April 1997 and May 2005, Mr. WANG Peng worked in North
China Electric Power University as teaching staff. Mr. WANG Peng
was qualified as an associate professor from North China Electric
Power University in November 2003. Between May 2005 and May
2015, he worked in National Energy Administration North China
Regulatory Authority) (previously known as National Electricity
Regulatory Commission North China Regulatory Authority). Since May
2015, he has become a professor of North China Electric Power
University. Mr. WANG Peng is currently an independent non-
executive director of Sichuan Energy Investment Development Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 1713), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LI Yanmin, aged 57, is the deputy general manager of our Group. Mr.
LI Yanmin joined our Group in October 2012 as the general manager of
the research and development and customer service department of our
Group and was promoted to the deputy general manager of our Group in
April 2016. He is primarily responsible for project management for
software systems and hardware of our Group. Mr. LI Yanmin graduated
with a bachelor’s degree in electricity engineering from Wuhan
University (previously known as Wuhan Hydro Electricity Institute) in the
PRC in July 1987. He obtained a master’s degree in electricity system and
automation of electricity system from North China Electric Power
University in January 1993.

Mr. LI Yanmin has over 20 years of experience in the electric power
selling and management system industry in the PRC. Prior to joining our
Group, between July 1987 and September 1990, and between July 1993
and October 2007, Mr. LI served as a teacher in North China Electric
Power University. Between November 2007 and September 2012, he
served as the deputy general manager of Beijing Puhua Yalong
Technology Company Limited, where he was responsible for software
and technology development.

Ms. ZHOU Renzhi, aged 34, FCCA, was appointed as the chief financial
officer of our Group in December 2020 and was primarily responsible for
financial management and compliance assurance of our Group. Ms.
ZHOU Renzhi graduated with a master’s degree in accounting and finance
from Exeter University in the UK in August 2011. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. ZHOU Renzhi worked for sizeable listed companies, she has
more than 10 years of experience in accounting, financial management
and capital operation.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. HUI Yin Shan has been appointed as the company secretary of our
Company since 30 October 2020, responsible for the company secretarial
matters of our Group. Ms. HUI is a Senior Manager of Corporate Services
of Tricor Services Limited. She is an associate member of both The
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in England and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and with over 18 years of experience
in corporate services. She has been providing professional corporate
services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as multinational, private
and offshore companies. Ms. Hui was the company secretary/joint
company secretary of several listed companies on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.
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Chairman’s Statement

FEREHE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
OneForce Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you with the annual
report of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 (the
“Year”).

As an information technology service provider, the Group is dedicated to its
relevant technical research and application in power information
technology and smart city loT. The Group provides tailor-made software
and solutions, technical services and hardware products to various types of
energy companies, government and corporate customers.

INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

Since 2020, the global epidemic and climate change has had a huge impact
on everyone's life. People need to adapt to a more fast-changing and
complex world.

In response to the global climate change, on 22 September 2020, President
Xi Jinping proposed a target for China of reaching the carbon peak by 2030
and achieving the carbon neutrality by 2060 at the 75th United Nations
General Assembly. In 2021, the Central Committee of the Communist Party
of China and the State Council successively issued several guiding policy
documents such as the Working Guidance for Carbon Dioxide Peaking and
Carbon Neutrality in Full and Faithful Implementation of the New
Development Philosophy, and the Action Plan for Carbon Peaking Emission
Before 2030, focusing on the building of a "1+N" policy framework for
carbon peaking and carbon neutrality. The government work report
published in March 2022 has also put forward the requirements of "orderly
promoting carbon peak and carbon neutralization, promoting low-carbon
energy transformation, improving the consumption capacity of power grid
for renewable energy power generation, and accelerating the formation of
green production and lifestyle".

The energy and electricity field is the main battlefield of carbon emission
reduction, and as China's economy enters into the stage of high-quality
development, people's demand on energy has changed from “a stable and
guaranteed supply” in old days to “a safe, economic and green energy”
nowadays. Digitalisation, marketisation and scenario-based means have
become the main solutions to solve the energy issue in the new era.

In terms of the urban governance, when physical facilities, economic
structure and living patterns cannot be easily changed, digital solutions can
accelerate the urban resilience and adaptability of the city which allow
residents to enjoy a happy life.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Smart energy

In October 2021, the National Development and Reform Commission
issued the “Notice on Further Deepening the Market-Based Reform of On-
Grid Electricity Prices for Coal-fired Power Generation”, which on one hand,
promote all the coal-fired type power generation to enter into the power
market, and expand the fluctuation range of the market price of the
electricity to 20%. On the other hand, it completely abolishes the tariff
catalogue to promote the entering of all the industrial and commercial
users into the power market. In January 2022, the National Development
and Reform Commission issued the “Guiding Opinions on Accelerating the
Construction of a National Unified Electricity Market System”, specifying
that the national unified electricity market system will be preliminarily
completed by 2025 and will be basically completed by 2030. The core of
such electricity marketisation is to reflect the relationship between supply
and demand through the prices, to form price signals, and to return to the
commodity attributes of electricity.

With the marketisation of the electricity prices and the increase in the
proportion of renewable energy, the electricity prices become more
fluctuating, and thus the ability to digitalise has become the foundation for
realising the marketisation of electricity and meeting the new demand for
electricity. At the same time, the digital technology runs through the whole
life cycle of energy development, production, transportation, utilisation
and recycling. China is improving the foundation of the digitalised power
network through a series of planning and construction, such as a strong
smart grid and the power loT.

Since its establishment, the Group has been deeply engaged in the field of
smart energy. Starting from the power industry, the Group has now
expanded to water, gas, heat, oil and other energy industries, providing
customised services for large enterprises and industrial users in the whole
chain of consultation, design, development, implementation and operation
and maintenance. Through the intelligent transformation of energy
enterprises, including real-time collection, quality monitoring, energy
consumption analysis and other means, the overall planning, coordination
and optimal allocation of energy can be achieved to help improve the
digitalised power network, thus achieves the dual-carbon goal.

Smart life

The power of the global third generation Internet comes from the urban

Internet, and its scale will far exceed that of its predecessor mobile Internet.

The speed of the development of digital economy, the wide range of
radiation and strong influence are unprecedented. According to the 14th
Five-Year Plan for Big Data Industry Development issued by the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology, the average annual compound
growth rate of China's big data industry will exceed 30%. By 2025, the
estimated scale of big data industry will exceed RMB3 trillion, and the
average annual compound growth rate will remain at about 25%. The value
of data, as the fifth largest factor of production, will be further released.
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Chairman’s Statement
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The Group’s Smart Life Strategy includes smart cities, smart
parks/communities, and smart homes. At the urban level, the government
implements the fine governance of “instant perception and data-driven” in
the fields of traffic environment, city appearance, security, communication
and people’s livelihood. At the community and park level, managers can
conduct management on property, sanitation, parking, security, public
services and other matters through digital means. At the family level, the
Group is committed to maximising the value of digitisation in special living
services, such as bed care, remote medical care, AED first aid, intelligent
interactive companionship, etc., so that residents can live at ease and
convenience. With all the above improvements in technologies related to
smart life, it is our Group’s goal to make digitisation truly beneficial to the

daily life of residents.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

Low-carbon and digitalization are opening up a new world. The Group's
long-standing strategy and efforts of "Smart Energy + Smart Life" will pay
off. In the future, the Group will use various methods such as equity
incentives and dividends, so that every striver and every shareholder who
supports and believes in the company can share the dividends of the
company's development and innovate into the future together.

WANG Dongbin
Chairman
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OUR INDUSTRY
Power Information Technology Industry

In 2021, the electricity consumption of China exceeded 8 trillion kwh for
the first time, with a year-on-year increase of 10.3%. In addition to basic
power services, load aggregation, green power, demand response, power
big data value-added services and distributed generation have become
new demands in the power market. At the same time, under the context
of the unified national power market, the majority of industrial and
commercial power users urgently need professional energy services.
With the joint promotion of marketization, digitization and
scenarioization, intelligent energy technology services with open
interconnection and supply and demand interaction have become a
necessity.

The Group is a leading technology enterprise in the power information
technology industry, which has been serving the field of power and
energy consumption and is deeply committed to the energy industry.
Through complete solutions, the Group helps power grid enterprises,
power stations, electricity sales companies and other customers to
achieve digital upgrades, accumulate platform capabilities, and realize
the construction and upgrade of new power systems.

Smart City loT Industry

In September 2021, eight departments including the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology issued the Three-Year Action
Plan for New Internet of Things Infrastructure Construction (2021-
2023). It is proposed that by the end of 2023, the new infrastructure
of the loT will be initially built in major cities in China. In terms of
smart energy, it will accelerate the intelligent transformation of
power grid infrastructure and the construction of smart microgrid,
and deploy typical application systems such as regional energy
management, intelligent metering system and comprehensive energy
services. In terms of smart cities, it will promote the construction and
large-scale application deployment of smart pipe corridors, smart
meters, smart light poles and other sensing terminals, realize the
digitization and virtualization of all urban elements, and build a new
model of urban public governance. By cultivating a batch of loT
construction and operation entities with strong demonstration and
driving effects, a batch of replicable, popularized and sustainable
operation service models will be created, and a batch of industry
with
comprehensive benefits will be developed, and a number of industry

applications significant empowerment and excellent
applications will be built. A complete set of Internet of Things

standards and security systems will be established.

12

RM1TR
B BRHER

2021 B E H B8 E R, [
W1R10.3%. B 17 HBER) M B IR AL, A
RE. B, FREBIE. BIRBEY
TEARES . A 33 55 RS & TG K &
Ko [, fE4BlG—E 05K &
N, BERTHEEINF R4 BRI A
. G B, GRSk R HES)
N, BHBCEIE. S BN R S IR
55 FRs LI T

AL R I fE B BT SR R A
X, HRBTEIIAEHEN S, w6
PAT3E . HIE SRR RTT S, AL
AN, EEuh. BEAFER P IR
TATHER, UUBCTERET), B E AR
BUIE BT

BRI YBT3

20214F9 , TARHRSE )T ED 5% (1A
Y B SO A R — SR AT BT # (2021-2023
) o RHFI20235FK, £ N T ZI
320 S A A TR B BRSO B  E RRE U
T3, N ER R AR L B I R A SOE A R fE
R, AR AR B R RERT R
DA ARG REIUIRESSE AL B R . AR
BT, R R, BRERET. A
SR T 5 TR R A% i ) S RSO AL A A JE P
oy BT e ER B ER L, R
W AR BT EIREE R
B AR A M A v A N,
AT WTHERE . T RRAE A IE S IR
B, MR B . AR A A B
REATEEM, M — Bl s s 1y
FRYEAN 2 S DR PR AR



CEOQ’s Review and ManagementDiscussionand Analysis

THREROIE R EEERNRE ST

The current industry of the Group is the integration of the power
information and loT industry. In 2013, the Group entered the
smart city field through its relevant experience, technology and
talent pool accumulated in the field of informatization of the
energy industry. The Group's intelligent l1oT gateway product m
core, as a self-developed and globally unique intelligent loT
product, provides access to power and network, connects all
smart applications, obtains data and distributes information in
cities. ‘t core’ is the sensory nerve endings of a smart city. Its
applications include the construction of smart light poles in
Mentougou District, Beijing, which has become the first batch of
smart city pilots in Beijing; and smart garbage sorting stations in
Licheng District, Jinan City.

Competitive strengths

Industry knowledge and experience

The design, R&D and implementation teams of the Group cover
the headquarters and branches of the three major power grid
companies, and are deployed in 29 provinces, cities, autonomous
regions and municipalities directly under the central government
nationwide. The national information service management
system of “two levels and three lines” has been constructed.

The Group has been deeply engaged in the field of electric power
informatization for 26 years, and the average experience of its
main technical and management personnel in the industry is
more than 20 years. The Group has long standing and in-depth
cooperation with state grid and Inner Mongolia electric power
company. At the same time, the information service of power
customers is also extended to oil, water conservancy, thermal and
other energy fields.

Technological expertise and products

After accumulating years of technology and experience, a
comprehensive technical system has been formed that runs
through platform research and development, big data operation,
system software development, covering cloud computing, big
data, loT technology, etc., ensuring the Group's long-term
business and technology leadership and stability of sustained
profitability. Combined with the deep understanding of the
energy industry and the innovation and application ability of new
technologies, the Group helps customers realize the construction
and upgrading of digital energy system.
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The Group’s proprietary R&D support platform ARSP is the
development and operation support platform of the Enterprise
Cloud application system, which is fast, efficient, accurate and
economical. The Group’s lab, named “n Lab” focuses on IoT product
development. It has developed an loT hardware product named “mt
Core” which has “plug and access power and network” features.

The Group obtained CMMI level 5, information system integration
level 3 and 41 management qualifications including
1ISO9000/14000/20001/27000 management system, 59 test reports,
25 national patents and 153 software copyrights.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The following table sets out the breakdown of the Group’s
revenue by business segments during the Year:

Ft 5 el

LN

JAAEERE, N RES AL 12 355 7 i ) 23 (SN
HIAN -

Sale of software and solutions SHEURAE R AR T %
Provision of technical services AL R %
Sale of products S E

For the Year, the Group’s revenue increased by approximately
RMB83,038,000, which is mainly due to the combination of the
following factors:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

the increase in revenue from the sale of
software and solutions by approximately
RMB39,979,000, which was mainly attributable
to the implementation of a number of new
large-scale information construction projects of
grid companies and energy enterprises during
the Year;

the increase in revenue from the provision of
technical services by approximately RMB36,881,000,
which was mainly attributable to the further
expansion of the types and scope of technical
services provided to grid companies and energy
enterprise customers; and

the increase in revenue of the sale of hardware by
approximately RMB6,178,000, which was mainly
attributable to the implementation of the smart
energy monitoring hall construction project during
the Year.
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For the For the

year ended year ended

31 March 2022 31 March 2021
BE HE

2022 3 A 31 H 2021 %3 H 31 H
N33 I35
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETx ARETT
81,143 41,164
239,743 202,862
55,818 49,640
376,704 293,666

A EE N, AL N R
83,038,0007C, FERZMHMALU FHEKGEY
a5,

=]

(i) SHEERAE LT ZRONFE L R AN IR
#39,979,00070, == EERKIA L IHEHA A
K RE VR A SR TAE BAL R TE H A AR
TN T i 5

(i) RO RSN B R 49 A IR ¥ 36,881,000
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X K

(i) B E SRR AT N IR 5 6,178,000 7T
G IR A R R e IR A S O A R TE H R
AP N BB



CEOQ’s Review and ManagementDiscussionand Analysis

TR O R R E IR E R AR

Cost of sales and gross profit margin SHE A B E

JAAEERLIN, N REIIA 1235 7 i )
BRI A5 A BB R R A

The following table sets out the breakdown of the
Group’s cost of sales and gross profit margin by business
segments during the Year:

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
BE HE
2022 3 H 31 H 2021 £3 B 31 H
IEEFE IFFE
Cost of sales (RMB’000) SHENA (AR
Sale of software and solutions  $585 Rt Az il 77 & 60,670 27,113
Provision of technical services  H2ALF5 47 IR 180,692 156,166
Sale of products PHAEEE 47,070 43,440
288,432 226,719
Gross profit margin E SVl
Sale of software and solutions  $HE IR A il 77 % 25.2% 34.1%
Provision of technical services  H2ALF5 47 IR 24.6% 23.0%
Sale of products B E 15.7% 12.5%
23.4% 22.8%
For the Year, the year-on-year increase in cost of FAARAERE N, A5 B 88 AR Z W N3 K11
sales of the Group was approximately frdh, [EEBna A K #61,713,00070. [6
RMB61,713,000, which was driven by the growth in p, A2 [ Has R R H4922.8% T AL
revenue of sales. Meanwhile, the Group’s overall 23.4%, 2B R A T R SR e B A A K
gross profit margin increased from approximately MR TT RN KR EVE, [ N 97%.
22.8% to approximately 23.4%, mainly attributable to b, A A [ A AR AL S T, BRI TE E 1Y
the sharp increase in revenue from the sale of KSR T, A ATAC S A

software and solutions with higher gross profit
margins, which increased by 97% as compared with
previous year. In addition, the Group continued to
strengthen management, emphasized refined and
spot management of projects, and reduced operating
costs.
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Administrative and other operating expenses TR HAh AR 28 &
Below sets out a breakdown of the Group’s administrative TAARIEEE N, AEEFEAT B R HAh A8 2 H 5
and other operating expenses incurred for the Year: 1B R

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 March 2022 31 March 2021

= BHE

p vy - W-IEIN=l 202143 531 H

IEFRE FFE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ET AR®TT

Labour costs N LRA 4,828 6,336
R&D expenses Tk % 2 29,138 12,297
Professional services expenses BHERRTS & 4,593 6,275
Others oAt 10,623 8,305
49,182 33,213

For the Year, the Group’s administrative and other operating FAARAERE, ANHE B 954 47 B R HoAh 48 25 2y
expenses increased by approximately RMB15,969,000, or 48% as FH 3N B8 415,969,000 0, B A E

compared with previous year. The increase was mainly due to: WIN4a8%. 3N MR

(i) Labour costs decreased by approximately (i)  ALaiAu/b AR % 491,508,00070,
RMB1,508,000, mainly due to the decrease in the FEHAEEN B NB UL Ay
number of management personnel and the expiration AT EE

of the share based payment plan; and;

(i) The R&D expenses increased by about RMB16,841,000. As (i) WF 9% # 0 hn N IR 49 16,841,000 7T

a technology and innovation driven company, the Group ER— XA SREI R 3, AL
has increased its investments in R&D activities. The BRI B4 B — D oK T S E 380G
amount of R&D expenses increased by approximately FFTHEN RS T B, T % 2 A i
137% as compared with previous year. As at 31 March FAEMR137%. A20224E3H31H,

2022, the Group has registered a total of 25 patents and AR B &K IE S TN\ OAF P A

153 software copyrights in China (31 March 2021: 25 %ML 25 TE R K 153 TH K 4 25 18 ki
patents and 113 software copyrights). (202143 31 H : 2518 2 F| & 11378

WAFEAEHE) -
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Intangible assets EMEE
Below sets out a breakdown of the Group’s intangible assets A20224E3 H31H, AEBE LG EDEE
as at 31 March 2022: T

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 March 2022 31 March 2021

BE HE

20223 H31H 2021 f£3 H 31 H

IEEE IFFE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ET AR®T T

Cost JEAE 101,218 98,280

Less: Accumulated amortisation W REHEESH 59,638 48,213

Less: Accumulated impairment e REHRUE 22,418 22,418

Net book value IR T 19,162 27,649
As at 31 March 2022, the Group has registered a total of 2022331 H, AEESHESZ AR D
25 patents and 153 software copyrights in China (31 LE A B P S BT i 3 25 7 BUR K2 153 TE ER A
March 2021: 25 patents and 113 software copyrights). FEAERE(20214F3 31 H : 25TH B R K 11318

BRAEEARRE) -
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Trade and bill receivables

Below sets out a breakdown of the Group’s trade and bill
receivables as at 31 March 2022:

H 5 WG TH R BCR

J220224E3 H31H, AR B 5 EYCIR O &
e Sa LN

Trade receivables
Bill receivables

Total
Less: loss allowance

Net book value

H 5 IEUSUIRAK
T R

JRE AR
e BETRE

AR T A

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 March 2022 31 March 2021
BE S
202243 H31H 20213 H31H
IEEFE IFFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
305,004 219,915

6,800 2,184

311,804 222,099
16,353 9,953
295,451 212,146

As of 31 March 2022, the Group’s trade and bill
receivables increased by approximately RMB83,305,000,
or 39% as compared with previous year, which was slightly
higher than the increase in revenue. The Group’s credit
policy and the creditability of its customers were stable as
compared with prior years. The Group will continue to
strengthen the collection management, formulate the
collection plan, and take various measures including
timely obtaining the progress confirmation from the
owner, to strengthen the collection and relieve the
financial pressure.
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Inventories and other contract costs

Below sets out a breakdown of the Group’s inventories
and other contract costs as at 31 March 2022:

Products JEE fift
Software systems under development  7ERFER{}: 548

R&D expenditure

Below sets out a breakdown of the Group’s
capitalised/R&D expenditure charged to profit or loss
accounts incurred for the Year:

& R HAhE R A
720223 H31H, AEBAEE KA FRA S
W
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
BE BHE
20223 H 31 H 2021 3 H31H
;3 IFFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETx ARET T
4 277
14,470 12,231
14,474 12,508

W&
B & AR
GPNCEIE R R

R&D expenditure
Capitalised
Charged to profit or loss accounts

As a technology and innovation driven company, the
Group has increased its investments in R&D activities. The
amount of R&D expenditure increased by approximately
78% as compared with previous year.
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For the For the

year ended year ended

31 March 2022 31 March 2021
B=E BHE
202243 H31 H 2021 £ 3 B 31 H
IFEFRE IFFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTxT ARBFT

- 4,069

29,138 12,297

29,138 16,366
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s operation and
capital requirements were financed principally through a
combination of cash flows from operating activities and bank
borrowings. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had net current
assets of RMB203,096,000 (31 March 2021: RMB173,974,000),
including bank balances and cash of RMB37,924,000 (31
March 2021: RMB31,703,000). The Group’s current ratio (as
calculated by current assets divided by current liabilities)
changed from 2.17 times as at 31 March 2021 to 2.02 times as
at 31 March 2022.

Gearing ratio is calculated by net debt divided by total capital
as at the end of the year. Net debt is calculated as total
borrowings (including bank borrowings and finance lease
payables, if any) less cash and bank balances, while total
capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position, plus net debt, where
applicable. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2022 was
4% (31 March 2021: nil).

The change in liquidity position was mainly due to the Group’s
efforts to explore new business, new customers and new
market, which led to more working capital investment.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:

(i) market risk (including cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk); (ii) credit risk; and (iii) liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

CASH FLOW AND FAIR VALUE INTEREST RATE RISK

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s bank borrowings amounted
to approximately RMB47,520,000 (31 March 2021:
RMB31,267,000), which bears a fixed interest rate of 2.45% to
5.8% p.a. As such, the Group was limitedly exposed to interest
rate risk.
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CREDIT RISK

Credit risk arises mainly from cash deposited at banks, trade
receivables and contract assets, deposits and other
receivables. In respect of cash deposited at banks, the credit
risk is considered to be low as the counterparties are banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating
agencies.

The management of the Company makes periodic assessment
on the recoverability of trade receivables, contract assets and
other receivables based on historical payment records, the
length of the overdue period, the financial strength of the
debtors and whether there are any disputes with the debtors.
The Group’s historical experience in collection of trade
receivables, contract assets and other receivables falls within
the recorded allowances, and the management is of the
opinion that adequate provision for uncollectible receivables
has been made in the financial statements.

As at 31 March 2022, 23% (31 March 2021: 26%) of the total
amount of trade receivables and contract assets was due from
the Group’s largest customer and 80% (31 March 2021: 83%)
was due from the five largest customers determined on the
same basis.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of
the Group. Such forecasting takes into consideration the
Group’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance and, if
applicable, external regulatory or legal requirements — for
example, currency restrictions.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of sources
including orderly realisation of short-term financial assets and
receivables; and long-term financing including long-term
borrowings, if any. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in
funding by keeping sufficient bank balances, committed credit
lines available and interest-bearing borrowings which enable
the Group to continue its business for the foreseeable future.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any contract
commitments (31 March 2021: nil). The details regarding the
Group’s future lease payments are disclosed in Note 23.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of the Company only comprises of ordinary
shares. As at 31 March 2022, the Company had 503,927,177
shares in issue (31 March 2021: 503,927,177 shares).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not hold any significant
investments (31 March 2021: none).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not have
any acquisition or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus or otherwise in this annual
report, the Group currently has no other plan for material
investments and capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2022 (31 March 2021: none).

TREASURY MANAGEMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no material
change in the Group’s funding and treasury policies. The
Group has a sufficient level of cash and banking facilities for
the conduct of its trade in the normal course of business.

The management of the Company closely reviews trade
receivable balances and any overdue balances on an ongoing
basis, and only trades with creditworthy parties. The
management of the Company closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the
Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its
funding requirements to manage liquidity risk.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, a total of RMB9,327,000 of the Group’s
bank deposits were charged as security for bank borrowings of
the Group (31 March 2021: 9,720,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no property, plant and

equipment that was held under finance leases (31 March 2021:

none).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The total number of employees was approximately 417 as at
31 March 2022 (31 March 2021: approximately 111). The
Group’s employee benefit expenses mainly included salaries,
overtime payment and discretionary bonus, share options,
other staff benefits and contributions to retirement schemes.
For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s total
employee benefit expenses (including Directors’ emoluments)
amounted to RMB38.7 million (31 March 2021: RMB30.4
million).

Remuneration is determined with reference to the
qualification, experience and work performance of employees,
whereas the payment of discretionary bonus is generally
subject to work performance, the financial performance of the
Group in that particular year and general market conditions.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and that the risks of non-compliance
with such requirements. To the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief, and having made all
reasonable enquiries, the Group complied with all applicable
laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong in all material
respects during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Group also complied with the requirements under the

Listing Rules and the SFO for the disclosure of information and
corporate governance in all material respects.
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THASCIERERE N mE ST
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the
environment during its business activities. The Group
continually seeks to identify and manage the environmental
impacts attributable to its operational activities in order to
minimize these impacts.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets
of the Group. The Group strictly complies with the labour laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong and regularly
reviews the existing staff benefits for improvement.

The Group provides quality services to customers and
maintains a good relationship with them. The Group is able to
establish trust and long-standing business relationship with its
major customers.

The Group also maintains effective communication and
develops long-term and stable relationships with suppliers.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no material
dispute or disagreement between the Group and its suppliers.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Opportunity always comes with challenge. While
strengthening our technological expertise and market
position, the Group is facing the following main
operational risks:
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Reliance on major customers

Our revenue was mainly derived from the provision of
software and solutions, technical services and sale of products
to IMPG, SGCC and CSG. For the year ended 31 March 2022,
the revenue attributable to our five largest customers
represented over 80% of our total revenue. Even though the
Group has been proactively approaching new customers in,
electric power retailing, public utilities and electric power
generation sectors, the exploration of new markets and
expansion of customer base require heavy initial investments
in time and resources and is uncertain in nature. As such, the
Group is likely to retain a notable concentration in customer
base in the forthcoming few years. If IMPG, SGCC and CSG
adjust their respective investment plan and procurement
model in the business sector the Group operates, or our
product and service offerings cannot satisfy customers’
demands, which would lead to a decrease in procurement
from the Group by its customers, or the Group’s R&D projects
may not be commercialised, and our results of operation and
profitability may be adversely affected.

In this respect, the Group has expanded its business upstream
from power grid enterprises to power generation enterprises
since the Year, commenced cooperation with China Huaneng
Group, one of the largest electricity generation enterprises in
China by participating in various power generation
information digitization projects. Meanwhile, by leveraging
new technologies such as cloud computing, big data and
mobile internet, the Group will actively develop new market
and business in the smart life sector.

Seasonality of business

The Group’s major customers are electric power grid
companies featuring a top-down management structure.
Accordingly, their internal procedures for investment approval
are centrally planned and managed. In general, electric power
grid companies set up next year’s investment plans (including
information technology related projects) toward the end of
the current year. In the following year, budgeted projects are
implemented (from tendering to project kick-off, construction
and completion) in batches. Subject to electric power grid
companies’ internal management procedures, the signing of
contracts and completion of project inspection tend to be
conducted in the fourth quarter each year. Accordingly, more
of our revenue is recognised in the same period. As such, our
results of operation have exhibited high seasonality.

In this respect, the Group will proactively communicate and
cooperate with electric power grid companies, so as to
increase visibility of our business operation. Meanwhile, the
Group will also explore new customers and business areas for
the purpose of smoothing seasonality of our business and
results of operation.
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Costs in R&D activities

The Group has been focusing on technological and business
innovation, and making consistent major investments in R&D
activities each year. With heavy investment in innovation, the
Group has been developing new product and service offerings,
which provide sound and solid ground for the continuous
development of the Group. Nevertheless, if our continuous
investments in R&D do not commercialise in the short term
and the economic benefits arising from relevant products
and/or services do not cover the underlying investments, the
Group’s results of operation and profitability may be adversely
affected.

In this respect, the Group will keep abreast the latest
developments in technology and the industry, so as to
maintain its leading position in industry technology, while not
making excessive R&D. By enhancing our study in industrial
policies and trends in new technology development, the
Group seeks to increase the success rate of R&D activities and
mitigating the uncertainties and risks associated with business
innovation.

Impairment of trade receivables

Along with the ongoing expansion of the Group’s business, our
revenue and trade receivables increased quickly. Our major
customers, electric power grid companies and relevant
enterprises, all have solid financial ground and sound
creditability, which provide reliable basis for the recovery of
our trade receivables. Nevertheless, the fast rise in trade
receivables does have notable impacts on our cash positions
and increase our demand for working capital investments.
With continuing development of the Group’s business, trade
receivables may further increase. If our trade receivables
could not be collected in time or at all, which leads to bad
debt, the Group would face the risk of working capital
shortage.

In this respect, the Group will keep close monitoring of trade
receivables and strengthen communication with customers in
relation to settlement, so as to facilitate timely collection of
trade receivables.

Retaining of quality staff

The Group’s success fundamentally depends on its high-
calibre staff. The increase in industry competition will
inevitably make the pursuit of staff increasingly fierce. If the
Group loses core members of its management and/or
technical staff and it cannot make timely and appropriate
replacement, the Group’s results of operation and profitability
may be adversely affected.

In this respect, the Group aims to provide competitive salaries,
welfare and incentive packages and establish a fair and
competitive promotion system, so that its staff can enjoy both
favourable short-term economic benefits, and share their
long-term career pursuit with the development of the Group.
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Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of
corporate governance best suited to the needs and interests
of the Group as it believes that an effective corporate
governance framework is fundamental to promoting
and safeguarding the interests of shareholders and other
stakeholders and enhancing shareholder value. Accordingly,
the Company has adopted and applied corporate governance
principles as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules and practices that emphasise a quality Board, effective
risk management and internal controls systems, stringent
disclosure practices, transparency and accountability. It is,
in addition, committed to continuously improving these
practices and inculcating an ethical corporate culture.

The Company complied with all code provisions of the CG
Code throughout the Year.

THE BOARD

Corporate strategy

The strategy of the Group is to deliver sustainable returns
with solid financial fundamentals, so as to enhance long-
term total return for shareholders. Please refer to the
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis for discussions and analyses of the performance of
the Group and the basis on which the Group generates or
preserves value over the longer term and the basis on which
the Group will execute its strategy for delivering the
objective of the Group.

Role of the Board

The Board, which is accountable to shareholders for the
long-term performance of the Company, is responsible for
directing and guiding the strategic objectives of the Company
and overseeing and monitoring managerial performance of
the business. Directors are charged with the task of
promoting the success of the Company and making decisions
in the best interests of the Company.

The Board, led by the Chairman (executive Director), Mr.
WANG Dongbin, determines and monitors group-wide
strategies and policies, annual budgets and business plans,
evaluates the performance of the Company, and supervises
the management of the Company (the “Management”).
Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of

the Group under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer.
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Board composition

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board comprised
seven Directors, including the Chairman, Mr. WANG Dongbin
(executive Director), the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. WU
Zhanjiang (executive Director), the Executive President, Mr.
WU Hongyuan (executive Director) and Mr. LI Kangying
(executive Director) and three Independent Non-executive
Directors (“INEDs”), namely, Mr. NG Kong Fat, Mr. HAN Bin
and Mr. WANG Peng.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which
recognises the benefits of a Board that possesses a balance
of skills, experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the businesses of the
Group. Accordingly, the Board appointment has been, and
will continue to be, made based on merit that complements
and expands the skills, experience and expertise of the Board
as a whole, taking into account age, professional experience
and qualifications, cultural and educational background, and
any other factors that the Board might consider relevant and
applicable from time to time towards achieving a diverse
Board.

The Board diversity policy is available on the website of the
Company (www.oneforce.com.hk). The Board will review and
monitor from time to time the implementation of the policy
to ensure its effectiveness and application.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 6 to 8
and on the website of the Company. A list setting out the
names of the Directors and their roles and functions is
posted on the websites of the Company and HKEx. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, there is no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship among the
Directors, and in particular, between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the INEDs of
the Company and considers all of them to be independent
having regard to (i) their
independence as required under the Listing Rules; (ii) the

annual confirmation on
absence of involvement in the day-to-day management of
the Company; and (iii) the absence of any relationships or
circumstances which would interfere with the exercise of
their independent judgment. Throughout the year ended 31
March 2022, the number of INEDs on the Board meets the
one-third requirement under the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, including but not limited to the compliance and
disclosures on the Listing Rules, accounting policies and
relevant regulations.
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The Board will continue to work to enhance gender diversity.

The Nomination committee will continue to use its best
efforts to identify and recommend suitable female
candidates to the Board for its consideration on
appointment of a Director. The Board will also ensure that
there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to
senior level so that the Company will continue to have a
pipeline of female senior management and potential
successors to the Board in due time to ensure gender

diversity.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for the functions set out in the
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. During the year ended
31 March 2022, the Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, the compliance
of the Model Code and Employees Written Guidelines, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report and the internal
control system of the Group.

Chairman and executive Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the role of the
Chairman was separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer. Such division of responsibilities reinforced the
independence and accountability of these Directors.

The position of Chairman, held by Mr. WANG Dongbin, is
responsible for providing leadership to, and overseeing the
functioning of, the Board to ensure that it acts in the best
interests of the Group and that Board meetings are planned
and conducted effectively. The Chairman is responsible for
setting the agenda for each Board meeting, taking into
account, where appropriate, matters proposed by Directors
and the Company Secretary. With the support of the
executive Directors and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues discussed at Board meetings and provided
with adequate and accurate information in a timely manner.
The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and actively
encourages Directors to voice their opinion and be fully
engaged in the affairs of the Board so as to contribute to the
effective functioning of the Board. The Board, under the
leadership of the Chairman, has adopted sound corporate
governance practices and procedures and taken appropriate
steps to promote effective communication and ongoing
engagement with shareholders and other stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the position of Chief
Executive Officer, held by Mr. WU Zhanjiang, was
responsible for managing the businesses of the Group,
attending to the formulation and successful implementation
of Group policies and assuming full accountability to the
Board for all Group operations.
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Acting as the principal manager of the businesses of the Group,
the Chief Executive Officer attends to developing strategic
operating plans that reflect the long-term objectives and
priorities established by the Board and is directly responsible
for maintaining the operational performance of the Group.
Working with the Chief Financial Officer and the Management,
the Chief Executive Officer presents annual budgets to the
Board for consideration and approval, and ensures that the
Board is fully apprised of the funding requirements of the
businesses of the Group. With the assistance of the Chief
Financial Officer, the Chief Executive Officer sees to it that the
funding requirements of the businesses are met and closely
monitors the operating and financial performance of the
businesses against plans and budgets, taking remedial action if
necessary. He maintains an ongoing dialogue with the
Chairman and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all
major business development and issues. He is also responsible
for building and maintaining an effective executive
management team to support him in his role.

Board process

In accordance with relevant requirements under the Articles
of Association and the Listing Rules, the Board will meet
regularly, and at least four times a year with meeting dates
scheduled prior to the beginning of the relevant year.
Between scheduled meetings, senior management of the
Group provides to Directors, on a regular basis, quarterly
updates and other information with respect to the
performance, and business activities and development of the
Group. Throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, Directors
have participated in the deliberation and approval of routine
and operational matters of the Company by way of written
resolutions and/or meetings with supporting explanatory
materials, supplemented by additional verbal and/or written
information from the Company Secretary or other executives,
if any, and as and when required. Details of material or
notable transactions of subsidiaries are provided to the
Directors as appropriate. Whenever warranted, additional
Board meetings are held. In addition, Directors have full
access to information on the Group and independent
professional advice at all times whenever deemed necessary
by the Directors and they are at liberty to propose appropriate
matters for inclusion in Board agendas.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, Directors
receive written notice of the meeting generally about 14 days
in advance and an agenda with supporting Board papers no
less than three days prior to the meeting. For other meetings,
if any, Directors are given as much notice as is reasonable and
practicable in the circumstances. Except for those
circumstances permitted by the Articles of Association and the
Listing Rules, a Director would abstain from voting on
resolutions approving any contract, transaction, arrangement
in which he or she or any of his or her close associates is
materially interested in, and such Director is not counted for
quorum determination purposes.
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The Company held four Board meetings during the year ended
31 March 2022 and held one annual general meeting on 16
September 2021 with overall attendance of 100%. The
attendance record is set out below:

Aoy \) A 42022463 A 31 H 1L B N BT YR
HHE LR 202149 ] 16 H AT — R HIE
R, EFAERE R 4100% . HE LB
EiRZlE I

Board meetings

Executive Directors BITEE

WANG Dongbin (Chairman) EHK (EED
WU Zhanjiang SRRV

WU Hongyuan eyt

LI Kangying Zhr

INEDs BILEPRITESR
NG Kong Fat LSl

HAN Bin FEM

WANG Peng BRI

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Chairman had
regular meetings with executive Directors and met with INEDs
without the presence of executive Directors. The INEDs freely
provided their independent views to the Board.

Any Director who is appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company, or in the case of an additional
appointment, until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company, and shall be eligible for re-election at the
relevant meeting. All Directors are subject to retirement from
office by rotation and re-election by shareholders at annual
general meetings at least about once every three years. A
retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election of
retiring Directors at general meetings is dealt with by separate
individual resolutions. In addition, each of the INEDs entered
into a letter of appointment for an initial term ending on 31
March of the year of their appointments which contracts are
automatically renewed for successive 12-month periods,
subject to re-election in accordance with the Articles of
Association.
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attended/
eligible to
attend Attendance at
EXged 2021 AGM
HRERE %
AEBEE 2021 fFRRE
EIRRE BEXE
4/4 v
4/4 v
4/4 v
4/4 v
4/4 v
4/4 4
4/4 v
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No Director has a service contract with the Company which is
not terminable by the Company within one year and without
payment of compensation (other than  statutory
compensation).

Shareholders may propose a candidate for election as Director
in accordance with the Articles of Association. The procedures
for such proposal are posted on the website of the Company.

Training and commitment

Upon appointment to the Board, Directors will receive a
package of orientation materials on the Group and are
provided with a comprehensive induction to the businesses of
the Group by the Management.

The Company arranges and provides Continuous Professional
Development (“CPD”) training such as seminars and relevant
reading materials to Directors to ensure that they are apprised
of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory
environment in which the Group conducts its businesses and
to refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions
and duties of a listed company director. In addition,
attendance at external forums or briefing sessions (including
delivery of speeches) on the relevant topics also counts
toward CPD training.
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The Directors are required to provide the Company with
details of the CPD training undertaken by them from time to
time. Based on the details so provided, the CPD training
undertaken by the Directors as of 31 March 2022 is
summarised as follows:

HH AR AR A W PR S i1 H A e
JEIEASHFEA A R . IR SR R, &3
HABE2022F3 H31 HEATHI RFE B 3L 9 e i
MR U :

Professional Areas

BEH
Group Business/
Legal and Corporate  Directors’ Duties
Regulatory Governance CLES
R SOEH BB HEMWE
Executive Directors WiTES

WANG Dongbin (Chairman) T 5k (F/F) v v v
WU Zhanjiang S BRI v v 4
WU Hongyuan SRt 4 4 v/
LI Kangying 2R 4 4 v/

INEDs BLAEPITES
NG Kong Fat St dk 4 4 v
HAN Bin L 4 v v
WANG Peng g 4 v v

During the year ended 31 March 2022, all Directors have
complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code to
participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills by attending
seminars, in-house briefings or reading materials.

All Directors have confirmed that they have given sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Group. In addition,
Directors disclose to the Company in a timely manner their
other commitments, if any, such as directorships in other
public companies and major appointments as well as update
the Company on any subsequent changes.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the
statutory and regulatory regime and the business

environment to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
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Directors’ securities transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. In response to
specific enquiries made, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code in their securities transactions
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Board committees

The Board is supported by three permanent board
committees: the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, details of which
are described below in this report. The terms of reference for
these Committees, which have been adopted by the Board,
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. Other board committees are established by the
Board as and when warranted to take charge of specific tasks.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for
ensuring that Board procedures are followed and Board
activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. These
objectives are achieved through adherence to proper Board
processes and timely preparation of and dissemination to
Directors comprehensive Board meeting agendas and papers.
Minutes of all meetings of the Board and Board Committees
are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary to
record in sufficient details the matters considered and
decisions reached by the Board or Board Committees,
including any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced by
any Director. All draft and final minutes of Board meetings and
meetings of Board Committees are sent to Directors or Board
Committee members as appropriate for comments, approval
and records. Board records are available for inspection by any
Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully apprised of all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments of relevance to the
Group and that it takes these developments into
consideration when making decisions for the Group. From
time to time, she organises seminars on specific topics of
importance and interest and disseminates reference materials
to Directors for their information.
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The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the
compliance of the Group with all obligations of the Listing
Rules and Takeovers Code, including the preparation,
publication and despatch of annual reports and interim
reports within the time limits laid down in the Listing Rules,
the timely dissemination to shareholders and the market of
information relating to the Group.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on
connected transactions, notifiable transactions,
price sensitive/inside information and Directors’ obligation
for disclosure of interests and dealings in securities of the
Company, to ensure that the standards and disclosures
requirements under the Listing Rules and applicable laws,
rules and regulations are complied with and, where required,
reported in the interim and annual reports of the Company.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is
subject to Board approval. Whilst the Company Secretary
reports to the Chairman, all members of the Board have

access to the advice and service of the Company Secretary. Ms.

HUI Yin Shan (“Ms. HUI”) has been appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company since 30 October 2020. Ms. HUI is
the nominee of the external professional service provider
appointed to act as the Company Secretary of the Company in
compliance with the Listing Rules. The appointment of Ms.
HUI as a Company Secretary of the Company during the
relevant period has been nominated by Tricor Services Limited
under an engagement letter entered into between the
Company and Tricor Services Limited. Ms. HUI has attended
over 15 hours’ relevant seminars during the year ended 31
March 2022 pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The primary contact person at the Company is Mr. WANG
Dongbin, Chairman and executive Director of the Company.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The annual and interim results of the Company are published
in a timely manner, within three months and two months
respectively of the year end and the half-year end.

The responsibility of Directors in relation to the financial
statements is set out below. This should be read in
conjunction with but distinguished from, the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 73 to 83 which acknowledges the
reporting responsibility of the auditor of the Group.

Annual report and financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of this annual report and financial statements of
the Company, ensuring that the financial statements give a
true and fair presentation in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting
policies that are consistently adopted and made judgments
and estimates that are reasonable in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards.

Accounting records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose the financial position
of Group upon which financial statements of the Group could
be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies of the
Group.

Safeguarding assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities within the
Group.
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Going concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are of the
view that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future and that, for
this reason, it is appropriate for the Group to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs who possess the
relevant business and financial management experience and
skills to understand financial statements and contribute to the
financial governance, internal controls and risk management
of the Company. It is chaired by Mr. NG Kong Fat with Mr.
HAN Bin and Mr. WANG Peng as members.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee
held two meetings with 100% attendance, where each of Mr.
NG Kong Fat, Mr. HAN Bin and Mr. WANG Peng attended all
the meeting.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit
Committee had met with the executive Directors and
management of the Company to review the interim and
annual results, the interim report and annual report and other
financial, internal control, corporate governance and risk
management matters of the Group and made
recommendations to the Board. The Audit Committee had
met with the external auditor without the presence of
management and discussed about the interim financial report,
its annual audit of the consolidated financial statements and
key audit issues.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required
to monitor the relationship between the Company and its
external auditor, review the preliminary interim and annual
results, and interim and annual financial statements of the
Group, develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance including compliance with
statutory and Listing Rules requirements, review the scope,
extent and effectiveness of the activities of internal audit,
engage independent legal and other advisers and conduct
investigations as it determines to be necessary.
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The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a
high degree of transparency, probity and accountability. In
line with this commitment, the Company expects and
encourages employees of the Group and those who deal with
the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) to
report to the Company any suspected impropriety,
misconduct or malpractice concerning the Group. In this
regard, the Company has adopted procedures for Reporting
Possible Improprieties in Matters of Financial Reporting,
Internal Control or Other Matters, which is posted on the
website of the Company.

The Audit Committee meets with the Chief Financial Officer
and the Management from time to time for purposes of
reviewing the interim and final results, the interim and annual
reports, and other financial, internal control, corporate
governance and risk management matters of the Group. It
considers and discusses the reports and presentations of
Management, the internal and external auditors of the Group,
with a view to ensuring that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with IFRS
and the applicable disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). It also
meets at least two times a year with the external auditor of
the Group, KPMG, to consider the reports of KPMG on the
scope, strategy, progress and outcome of its independent
review of the interim financial report and annual audit of the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Audit
Committee holds regular private meetings with the external
auditor, the Chief Financial Officer and internal auditor
separately without the presence of executive Directors.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in maintaining
effective risk management and internal control systems. It
reviews the process by which the Group evaluates its control
environment and risk assessment process, and the way in
which business and control risks are managed. It receives and
considers the presentations of Management in relation to the
reviews on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff in the
accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions of
the Group, as well as their training programmes and budgets.
In addition, the Audit Committee reviews in conjunction with
the Group’s internal auditor the work plans for its audits
together with its resource requirements and considers the
internal audit reports to the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
in the business operations of the Group. Further, it receives
the reports from the Company Secretary on the material
litigation proceedings, if any, and compliance status of the
Group on regulatory requirements. These reviews and reports
are taken into consideration by the Audit Committee when it
makes its recommendation to the Board for approval of the
consolidated financial statements for the year.
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External auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the external
auditor’s independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the
audit process. Each year, the Audit Committee receives a
letter from the external auditor confirming its independence
and objectivity. It holds meetings with representatives of the
external auditor to consider the scope of its audit, approve its
fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit services,
if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
retention of the external auditor.

The policy of the Group regarding the engagement of its
external auditor for the various services listed below is as
follows:

e Audit services — include audit services provided in
connection with the audit of the consolidated financial
statements. All such services are to be provided by the
external auditor.

e Audit related services — include services that would
normally be provided by an external auditor but not
generally included in audit fees, for example, accounting
advice related to mergers and acquisitions, internal control
reviews of systems and/or processes, and issuance of
special audit reports for tax or other purposes. The
external auditor is to be invited to undertake those
services that must be undertaken, or is otherwise best
placed, to undertake in its capacity as auditor.

e Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and
tax planning services, except for those services which are
provided in connection with the audit. The Group engages
the services of the external auditor where it is best suited.
All other significant taxation related work is undertaken by
other parties as appropriate.

e Other services — include, for example, financial due
diligence, review of actuarial reports and calculations, risk
management diagnostics and assessments, and non-
financial system consultations. The external auditor is also
permitted to assist Management and the internal auditor
with internal investigations and fact-finding into alleged
improprieties. These services are subject to specific
approval by the Audit Committee.

e General consulting services — the external auditor is not

eligible to provide services involving general consulting
work.

External auditor’s remuneration

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the total fees to KPMG
amounted to approximately RMB2,770,000 and are all for
audit services.
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RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND LEGAL &
REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

Role of the Board

The Board has overall responsibility for the systems of risk
management, internal control and legal and regulatory
compliance of the Group.

In meeting its responsibilities, the Board seeks to inculcate risk
awareness across the business operations of the Group and
has put in place policies and procedures, including parameters
of delegated authority, which provide a framework for the
identification and management of risks. The Board evaluates
and determines the nature and extent of risks that the
Company is willing to accept in pursuit of the strategic and
business objectives of the Group. It also reviews and monitors
the effectiveness of the systems of risk management and
internal control on an ongoing basis at least annually.
Reporting and review processes include review by the
executive Directors and the Board and approval of detailed
operational and financial reports, budgets and plans provided
by management of the business operations, review by the
Board of actual results against budgets, review by the Audit
Committee of the ongoing work of internal audit and risk
management functions, as well as regular business reviews by
the executive Directors and the executive management team.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee regularly reviews
the corporate governance structure and practices within the
Group and monitors compliance fulfillment on an ongoing
basis. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the Company
complied with all code provisions of the CG Code throughout
the year.

Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage
risks that could adversely impact the achievement of the
business objectives of the Group, they do not provide absolute
assurance against material mis-statement, errors, losses, fraud
or non-compliance.
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Risk management

Based on the COSO (the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission) model, the
Company establishes its Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)
framework to support the delivery of the Group’s business
and strategic objectives. The framework facilitates a
systematic approach in identifying, assessing and managing
risks within the Group, be they of strategic, financial,
operational or compliance nature.

The Group’s risk management is a continuous process
integrated seamlessly into the day-to-day activities at all levels
of the Group companies. There is ongoing communication
between the executive management of the Group and the
business units on the current and emerging risks, their
potential impact and mitigation measures so as to institute
additional controls and deploy appropriate insurance
instruments to minimise or transfer the impact of risks to the
Group’s business. In addition, the Group’s Directors and
officers are protected against potential personal legal

liabilities through the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance.

In terms of formal risk review and reporting, the Company
adopts a “top-down and bottom-up” approach, involving input
from each major business unit as well as discussions and
reviews by the executive Directors. More specifically, on a
quarterly basis, each major business unit is responsible for
formally identifying the significant risks their business faces,
measuring them against a defined set of criteria, and
considering likelihood of occurrence and potential impact to
the business, whilst the executive Directors provide input after
taking a holistic assessment of all the significant risks that the
Group faces. Relevant risk information including key
mitigation measures and plans are recorded in a risk register
to facilitate the ongoing review and tracking of progress.

The composite Register, as part of the Risk Management
Report, is submitted to the Audit Committee for review on a
half-yearly basis. The Committee, on behalf of the Board,
reviews the nature and extent of the significant risks facing
the Group, and provides input as and where appropriate so as
to ensure effective risk management in place.

Pages 25 to 28 of this annual report provide a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group which could
affect the financial condition or results of operations of the

Group that differ materially from expected or historical results.
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Internal control environment

Executive directors are appointed to the board of the
operating subsidiaries of the Group for monitoring the
companies, including attendance at board meetings, review
and approval of budgets and plans, and business strategies,
with associated risks identified and setting of key business
performance targets. The executive management team of
each business unit is accountable for the conduct and
performance of their business within the agreed scope of
strategies. The executive Directors monitor the performance
and reviews the risk profiles of the Group companies on an
on-going basis.

The internal control procedures of the Group include a
comprehensive system for reporting information to the
executive management team of each business unit and the
executive Directors.

Business plans and budgets are prepared annually by
management of individual businesses and subject to review
and approval by both the executive management teams and
the executive Directors as part of the annual corporate
planning cycle. The annual budget is reviewed on a quarterly
basis to identify major variances and propose rectifications
measures. When setting budgets, the management identifies,
evaluates and reports on the likelihood and potential financial
impact of significant business risks.

The executive Directors review monthly management reports
on the financial results and key operating statistics of each
business and holds monthly meetings with senior
management of business operations to review these reports,
business performance against budgets, forecasts, significant
business risk sensitivities and strategies. In addition, the Chief
Financial Officer and finance managers of the business
operations have monthly meetings to review monthly
performance against budget and forecast, and to address
accounting and finance related matters.

The Group maintains a centralised cash management system
for its subsidiary operations and the finance department
oversees the investment and lending activities of the Group.
Treasury reports on cash and liquid investments, borrowings
and movements thereof are distributed monthly.
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The Group has established guidelines and procedures for the
approval and control of expenditures. Operating expenditures
are subject to overall budget control and are controlled within
each business with approval levels set by reference to the
level of responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital
expenditures are subject to overall control within the annual
budget review and approval process, and more specific
control and approval prior to commitment by the executive
Directors are required for unbudgeted expenditures and
material expenditures within the approved budget. Quarterly
reports of actual versus budgeted and approved expenditures
are also reviewed.

In terms of formal review of the internal control system of the
Group, an internal control self-assessment process is in place,
requiring senior management of each major business unit to
review, evaluate and report on the effectiveness of the
internal controls over the operations and devise action plans
to address the issues, if any. These assessment results,
together with the Risk Management Report as mentioned
above and the independent assessments by the auditors, form
part of the bases on which the Audit Committee formulate its
opinion on the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.
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Legal and regulatory compliance

The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are
operated in compliance with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The investor relations and compliance
department has the responsibility of safeguarding the legal
interests of the Group. It monitors the day-to-day legal affairs
of the Group, including preparing, reviewing and approving all
legal and corporate secretarial documentation of Group
companies, working in conjunction with finance, corporate
secretarial and business unit personnel on the review and co-
ordination process, and advising the Management of legal and
commercial issues of concern. In addition, the investor
relations and compliance department is responsible for
overseeing regulatory compliance matters of all Group
companies. It analyses and monitors the regulatory
frameworks within which the Group operates, including
reviewing applicable laws and regulations and preparing and
submitting response or filings with relevant regulatory and/or

government authorities on regulatory issues and consultations.

In addition, the department prepares and updates internal
policies and conducts tailor-made training sessions where
necessary so as to strengthen the internal controls and
compliance procedures of the Group.

The investor relations and compliance department reports to
the Board on all material legal, regulatory and corporate
secretarial matters and it proposes to the Board for the
engagement of external legal advisors, ensuring the requisite
professional standards are adhered to as well as the most cost
effective services are rendered. Further, investor relations and
compliance department organises and holds continuing
education seminars/conferences on legal and regulatory
matters of relevance to the Group for Directors and the
Management.

On the listed company level, the Group is subject to the Listing
Rules, the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-
backs, the Cayman Islands Companies Act, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
SFO. The investor relations and compliance department stays
alert to the legal requirements under these statutes, rules and
regulations.
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Code of ethics and handling of inside information

The Group places utmost importance on the ethical, personal
and professional standards of the Directors and employees of
the Group. In addition to the various policies adopted and
implemented by the Group imposing requirements on
Directors and employees to conduct themselves in compliance
with applicable laws, rules and regulations, every employee is
required to undertake to adhere to the Code of Ethics, and is
expected to meet the highest standards of behaviour including
avoiding conflict of interest, discrimination or harassment and
bribery and corruption. Employees are required to report any
non-compliance with the Code of Ethics to the Management.

With a view to identifying, handling and disseminating inside
information in compliance with the SFO, additional
procedures, including

e pre-clearance on dealing in the securities of the Company
by designated members of Management,

e notification of regular blackout period and securities
dealing restrictions to relevant Directors and employees,
and

* identification of project by code name and dissemination
of information to stated purpose and on a need-to-know

basis,

have also been implemented by the Group to guard against
possible mishandling of inside information within the Group.
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Internal audit

The internal auditor, who reports directly to the Audit
Committee, provides independent assurance as to the
existence and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal controls systems in the business operations of the
Group. By applying risk assessment methodology and taking
into account the dynamics of the activities of the Group,
internal audit devises its annual audit plan which is reviewed
by the Audit Committee, and continually reassessed during
the year to ensure that adequate resources are deployed and
the objectives of the plan are met. Internal audit is responsible
for assessing the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, including reviewing the continuing
connected transactions of the Company and whether
adequate internal control procedures are in place to monitor
such transactions, formulating an impartial opinion on the
systems, and reporting its findings to the Audit Committee,
the executive Directors and the Management concerned as
well as following up on the issues to ensure that they are
satisfactorily resolved. In addition, internal audit maintains a
regular dialogue with the external auditor so that the parties
are aware of the significant factors which may affect their
respective scope of work.

Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure of
individual business units, the scope of work performed by
internal audit includes finance, IT, operations and regulatory
compliance reviews, recurring and surprise audits, fraud
investigations, as well as productivity efficiency reviews.

Reports from the external auditor on internal controls and
relevant financial reporting matters are presented to the
internal auditor and, as appropriate, to the Chief Financial
Officer. These reports are reviewed and appropriate actions
are taken.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022 covering all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and is satisfied that such
systems are effective and adequate. In addition, it has
reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the staff of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions of the Group,
and their training programmes and budgets.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Remuneration Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Remuneration
Committee comprised three members with expertise in
management and remuneration packages. The Committee
was chaired by Mr. HAN Bin (as INED), with Mr. WANG
Dongbin (as executive Director) and Mr. NG Kong Fat (as INED)
as members.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible to review and
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Directors and senior management, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors; and
develop the Group’s policy on remuneration for its Directors
(including executive Directors) so as to ensure that it attracts
and retains the Directors needed to manage the Company and
the Group effectively. Directors do not participate in decisions
regarding their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee assists the Group in the
administration of a fair and transparent procedure for setting
remuneration policies for all Directors and senior
management of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings with 100% attendance, where
each of Mr. HAN Bin, Mr. WANG Dongbin and Mr. NG Kong
Fat attended all the meetings.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed background information on market data
(including  economic indicators, statistics and the
Remuneration Bulletin), the business activities and human
resources issues, and headcount and staff costs of the Group.
It reviewed and considered the annual directors” emoluments
for executive Directors and directors’ fee for each of the INEDs
and made recommendation to the Board. Prior to the year
end, the Committee reviewed and approved the year end
bonus and remuneration packages of the executive Directors
and senior executives of the Group for the coming year. The
executive Directors did not participate in the determination of
his own remuneration.
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Remuneration policy FrEHBUR

The remuneration of Directors and senior management is & 35840 H A B IS 12 B ST HE
determined with reference to their expertise and experience  JZ&&Ey. REFAGHIRRMER], VISR
in the industry, the performance and profitability of the Group  fh i bt /A &) [ 3 0 S e B BT i IS S Wi 8. &
as well as remuneration benchmarks from other comparable  Z5§il & T 7522 Bl j5 A [F % (i N\ R IR 5 2 (1
companies and prevailing market conditions. Directors and 4122 HE,

employees also participate in bonus arrangements which are

determined in line with the performance of the Group and the

individual’s performance.

Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration EEHEEAEEA R

Details of emoluments paid to each Director in the year ended A% F20224F3 H 31 H L4 324+ T & 2 3 1
31 March 2022 are set out below: SRR,

Director’s Basic salaries, Retirement Share-based Total
fees allowances scheme payments Emoluments
and BIK contributions

EHlS BEAHe. BAGESER  DUROHAER A

REREMTIS :EINE

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETR ARETRT ARETRT ARETR

Executive Directors BITES

WANG Dongbin F AR 292 481 53 - 826
WU Hongyuan eyt i 97 700 53 - 850
LI Kangying B ST 292 450 - - 742
WU Zhanjiang BRI 97 642 53 - 792
INEDs B IEPATER

NG Kong Fat Stk 97 - - 5 102
HAN Bin (27 97 - - 5 102
WANG Peng BRI 97 - - 5 102

The remuneration to the members of senior management by JARE Z20224F3 H31 HIHERE, =& A B R
bands for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below: 1 N B A R

Number of Individuals
Remuneration Bands Tl <> 0 ] N/
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) nil to HKD1,000,000 ZE#:7¢ ( [#7C] ) % 1,000,000 ¥#C
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 # 7T % 1,500,000 #57T 2
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, one of
whom is an executive Director, namely Mr. WANG Dongbin
(chairman of the Nomination Committee) and the other two
members are Mr. HAN Bin (as INED) and Mr. WANG Peng (as
INED).

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include,
but are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the
independence of the INEDs; and (iii) making recommendations
to the Board on matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

The nomination policy sets out the relevant selection criteria
and nomination procedures.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
following factors would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee, including but not limited to:

(a) reputation for integrity and accomplishment and
experience in the financial services industry, in particular,
in the securities, commodities and futures markets;

(b) commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; and

(c) diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background and
ethnicity.

When a vacancy arises under any circumstance, the
Nomination Committee, upon consultation with the Board,
will determine the selection criteria and select candidates with
the appropriate expertise and experience for the position in
such circumstance. For proposing candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee
shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation. A circular setting out information as
required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations
of the proposed candidates will be dispatched to the
shareholders. The Board shall have the final decision on all
matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand
for election at any general meeting. The candidates are
assessed based on objective criteria approved by the Board
such as integrity, independent mindedness, possession of the
relevant skills, ability to commit the time and effort to carry
out his/her responsibilities.
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out, among others, a number of aspects of board diversity in
reviewing and accessing the board composition and
nomination of Directors, as applicable.

In assessing the optimum composition of the Board, the
Nominating Committee would take into account various
aspects set out in its terms of reference and the board
diversity policy of the Company, including but not limited to
skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender, as well as the existing and
future strategic needs of the Company.

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of
differences in the skills, region and industry experience,
background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors.
These differences will be taken into account in determining
the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on merit while taking into account
diversity. The Nomination Committee will report annually (if
necessary) in the corporate governance report, on the Board’s
composition under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of this policy.

The Board comprises balanced and well diversified members
of different age, cultural background and ethnicity. They
provide the Board with the necessary experience and
expertise to direct and lead the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings with 100% attendance, where
each of Mr. WANG Dongbin, Mr. HAN Bin and Mr. WANG Peng
attended all the meetings.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Nomination
Committee members (i) reviewed and considered that the
structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board are
appropriate; (ii) assessed the independence of INEDs; (iii)
recommended the re-appointments of Directors.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of the Founding Shareholders gave a non-competition
undertaking in favour of the Company (the “Non-competition
Undertaking”). Each of the Founding Shareholders has
undertaken under the Non-competition Undertaking that it/he
shall provide the Company and the Directors from time to
time (including the INEDs) with all information necessary for
the annual review by the INEDs with regard to compliance
with the terms of the Non-competition Undertaking by the
Founding Shareholders and the enforcement of the Non-
competition Undertaking. Each of the Founding Shareholders
has confirmed compliance with the terms of the Non-
competition Undertaking and that during the year under
review, there was no matter which required to be deliberated
by the Board in relation to the compliance with and
enforcement of the Non-competition Undertaking. The Board
comprising all the INEDs is of the view that such Founding
Shareholders have been in compliance with the Non-
competition Undertaking in favour of the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board considers proper returns to shareholders to be one
of the main objectives. Stable dividend payment to
shareholders is a primary objective of the Company. The basic
policy is to pay interim and final dividends in each financial
year.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Board’s
discretion, where the Board takes various factors into account
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends,
including but not limited to:

- liquidity position of the Company;

- shareholders’ interests;

- financial results;

- capital requirements; and

- general business conditions and strategies.

The Board will not declare any dividend(s) where:

- there are reasonable grounds for believing that the
Company is or would be, after a dividend payment,
unable to pay its liabilities or discharge its obligations as
and when they become due;

- pursuant to the dividend decision date, the Company is
insolvent or bankrupt or where, as a result of paying
dividends, the Company would be rendered insolvent or

bankrupt; or

- there is any other case set forth by any law.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group actively promoted investor relations and
communication with the investment community throughout
the year. The Group is committed to enhancing investor
engagement and communications. Through the Chief
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the Investor
Relations Department and the Corporate Secretarial team, the
Group responded to requests for information and queries
from the investment community including shareholders,
analysts and the media through regular briefings,
announcements, conference calls and presentations. A policy
on shareholders’” communication, which is available on the
website of the Company, has been adopted and is subject to
regular review by the Board to ensure its effectiveness and
compliance with the prevailing regulatory and other
requirements.

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information
on the Group to shareholders through the publication of
notices, announcements, circulars, and interim and annual
reports. The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company are published on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. Moreover, additional information on the
Group is available to shareholders and stakeholders through
the Investor Relations page on the website of the Company.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of
the Company. Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of
Association, any shareholder holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company has statutory
rights to call for extraordinary general meetings and put
forward agenda items for consideration by shareholders, by
sending the Board or the Company Secretary at the principal
place of business a written request for such general meetings,
signed by the shareholders concerned together with the
proposed agenda items and such meeting shall be held within
two months of the deposit of such requisition.

All substantive resolutions at general meetings are decided on
a poll which is conducted by the Company Secretary and
scrutinised by the Hong Kong Share Registrar of the Company.
The results of the poll are published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. In addition, regular
updated financial, business and other information on the
Group is made available on the website of the Company for
shareholders and stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company
convened one general meeting. Separate resolutions were
proposed at the respective general meeting on each
substantive issue, and the percentage of votes cast in favour
of such resolutions was disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 16 September 2021. All resolutions put to
shareholders at the AGM were passed. The results of the
voting by poll were published on the websites of the Company
and HKEXx.
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During the year under review, the Company did not make any
changes to its Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of
the Articles of Association is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Other corporate information relating to the Company is set
out in the “Corporate Information — Investor Calendar” section
of this annual report. This includes, among others, dates for
key corporate events for 2022.

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts to
promote transparency and foster investor relations. Enquiries,
comments and suggestions to the Board or the Company are
welcome and can be addressed to the Investor Relations
Manager or the Company Secretary by mail to

Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

or by e-mail at

renzhi.zhou@oneforce.com.cn

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its
businesses and the communities in which it conducts business.
It has adopted a proactive approach to environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) responsibility and has established a
working group comprising representatives from key
departments of the Company to promote the ESG initiatives
and activities of the Group and continually enhance the
Group’s ESG efforts. The environmental and social matters of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out in the
Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report 2022, which will be published before the end of August
2022.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors are pleased to submit to the shareholders their
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

As an information technology service provider, the Group is
dedicated to relevant technical research and application in
power information technology and smart city loT, providing
tailor-made software and solutions, technical services and
hardware products to various types of energy companies,
government and corporate customers.

The principal activities of the Group during the year ended 31
March 2022 are set out on pages 152 to 153 of this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required under
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), comprising a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year, a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred
subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2022, as well as an
indication of likely future development in the business of the
Group, are provided in the following sections:

e “Financial Review” on page 15.

e “Chairman’s Statement”, “Business Review”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Group Capital
Resources and Liquidity” and “Key Financial Information”
on pages 9 to 25.

e “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” on pages 25 to 28.

e “Financial Risk Management” in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 174 to 179.

e “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 28 to 54.

e Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, an account of the Group’s key relationships
with its stakeholders and the Group’s compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant
impact on the Group are provided in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” which will be published in
August 2022.

All such discussions form part of this report.
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GROUP PROFIT

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 84 to 85. The financial
position of the Group and the Company at that date are set
out in the consolidated statement of financial position on
pages 86 to 87 and note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 182, respectively, in this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

RESERVES

The reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 88 to 89 and note 26
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively. As at 31
March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders comprising share premium and retained loss,
amounted to approximately RMB141,346,000 (2021:
approximately RMB141,372,000).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not
make any donation to charitable organisations (2021: Nil).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

WANG Dongbin (Chairman)

WU Zhanjiang (Chief Executive Officer)
WU Hongyuan (Executive President)

LI Kangying

INEDs

NG Kong Fat
HAN Bin
WANG Peng

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Li Kangying, Mr. Ng Kong Fat and Mr. Han Bin shall retire
from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (“AGM”) and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election as Directors at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received written confirmation from all
INEDs regarding their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the INEDs to be
independent.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the “Directors
and Senior Management” section of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS THAT HAVE A SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON
THE COMPANY

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, to the best of
their knowledge, information and belief, the Directors were
not aware of any non-compliance by the Company with any
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on
the Company.

57

HH

AR 2022 4F 3 J] 31 HUBAEE K HEARRE H
o 2y

PITES

EHR- ()
SBIT (frEA )
Seiihl CHTTAR )
P

BLARPUTEF
Stk

Y

S

MRPRALAE T AR REE 105(A) M, ZEHioesd. %
ot % e B R w M ol AR A I i R R AR OK
CTBRRAFERE] ) WERE, F75E BRI
BT e BRSO s .

Aoy A B P A S AR AT S SR TR
B 3.13 RIS SR 2 BHTRERR . A
O AR Ry e B L AR AT S B R T

EHEANBRERAF R [HELm T E
—Hi.

HERBEY

SR T Jek P RO K SR ) o M A LA
O3 ) BCHAT AT BB 2 FIRT AL — S NAATEEA T
B (R E IR RO T AR R R
JeE R R A o

BFRAA TR ERGENE BIEER R

A ZE 202243 A31 H I E A IR, mbE g
iR, SR AR, HEMAMBAAFH
FUAT A 38 AR 8 W) 7 B R 2 AT BRVA 1
BRI =



Directors’ Report

HEERE

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles of Association provides that the Directors of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.
Directors liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors of
the Company or of its subsidiaries against any potential costs
and liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.
The relevant provisions in the Articles of Association and the
Directors liability insurance are in force during the year ended
31 March 2022 and as of the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance, to
which the Company, its ultimate holding company, any of its
fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or a connected entity of a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Year or at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of any business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
March 2022.

COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors were interested in any business
apart from the Company’s business, which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries pursuant to Rule
8.10 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company had not entered into any connected transaction
during the year ended 31 March 2022 which was required to be
disclosed under the Listing Rules. Related party transactions
entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022

are disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Board confirms that the Company has complied with the
applicable disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as
follows:

Interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

EHEBFITEA BRI MR
BB Z B ER A

2202243 331 H, A ) HH K AT
NEAAR o w R EAR T A A G2 28 R
Z5 L B R B XV 2 By« R BB K
TR 55 vh A R R 7 S U R R B SR XV S 26 7
L8y ¥ CLARNE A 24\ S AZ P 2 HE 2
B CHRAERIERE I W B R s 55 5
WA AR A S A 2 R LR ), Bk
OB RC A A 2 A AR w8 55 ) B 9] 27 352
WRRLE fi A7 < R, BURBERYE T RIS A
AR E RIS R SR B

AN A B A KBS
Bk B

IR A ] J 17 R I 17 & A

Approximate % of

Directors Capacity/Nature of interests Number of Shares held shareholding
Eisdiid ¢
=H St/ HEREE FHBRGEBE MEAYE 4t
WANG Dongbin Interest of a controlled corporation 60,000,000%)
AR AR
Beneficial owner 1,000,000
A A
61,000,000 12.10%
LI Kangying Interest of a controlled corporation 60,000,000
AP AR
Beneficial owner 1,000,0004)
Hala A
61,000,000 12.10%
WU Zhanjiang Interest of a controlled corporation 60,000,0000)
ST AR
Beneficial owner 1,000,000
A A
61,000,000 12.10%
WU Hongyuan Beneficial owner 1,200,0004) 0.238%
St ikl A A
Ng Kong Fat Beneficial owner 500,000 0.099%
St 9k A A
Han Bin Beneficial owner 500,000 0.099%
LE217 HaEa A
Wang Peng Beneficial owner 500,000 0.099%
MG HaEa A
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Notes:

1 These Shares were held by Smart East, which was wholly owned
by Mr. Wang Dongbin.

2 These Shares were held by Main Wealth, which was wholly
owned by Mr. Li Kangying.

3 These Shares were held by Union Sino, which was wholly owned
by Mr. Wu Zhanjiang.

4 These Shares represented the underlying Shares under the

options granted by the Company on 30 July 2018 pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme adopted on 5 February 2018 (“Share
Option Scheme”).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 March 2022, other than
the interests and short positions of the Directors as disclosed in
the section titled “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
above, the following persons had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange:

Interests and short positions of substantial shareholders in the
Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

mERE

TR S BRI 8 T4 R 2 JORAE

REE AN, A20224E3H31H, B ik
[ 95 J e s AT N B Ry~ AR B R 2
B R SR B ] — BT R 2 s R
FEGR BN, AN AR A T B sAH
T A7 v A R B 5 55 B M B 0 B XV 5 2
K3 R R M AR A A 4R, B E B A
AR FIAR B R 5 B B A4 2 33615 0 2
R =l P S DI R NN DS i [l

HERS BOIR AT -
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Approximate % of

Name Capacity/Nature of interests Number of Shares held shareholding
Eidiid 14
#E Sty E FHBRGEHE MEAE 5 b
Xiong Weigin Interest of spouse 61,000,000(1) 12.10%
e [
An Ning Interest of spouse 61,000,000 12.10%
e [
Zhang Jianhua Interest of spouse 61,000,0000) 12.10%
R IE [
Smart East Beneficial owner 60,000,00014) 11.91%
A A
Main Wealth Beneficial owner 60,000,000(5) 11.91%
A A
Union Sino Beneficial owner 60,000,000(6) 11.91%
A A
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Number of Shares

Approximate %

Name Capacity/Nature of interests held of shareholding
R
®E S/ HEai FERGEE MAE
Long Eagle Beneficial owner 60,000,000(7) 11.91%
(- §kZ ZEDN
Cao Wei Interest of a controlled corporation 60,000,000(7) 11.91%
[ LY RE
Wang lJiangping Interest of spouse 60,000,000 11.91%
T FCABAE 5
Chance Talent Beneficial owner 40,740,000 8.08%
L gt ZEPN
CCBI Investments Interest of a controlled corporation 40,740,000 8.08%
LR
CCB International (Holdings) Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 40,740,0000 8.08%
EIRERE (R HIRAF LR
CCB Financial Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 40,740,000 8.08%
AT SR A PR A 7] LR
CCB International Group Interest of a controlled corporation 40,740,0000) 8.08%
Holdings Limited
AT B AR A R ) LR
China Construction Bank Corporation  Interest of a controlled corporation 40,740,0000) 8.08%
Hh [ R SRAT It PR A 7 AR A
Central Huijin Investment Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 40,740,000 8.08%
e GRS AR AR AT AR A
Great Attain International Limited Beneficial owner 124,191,177(10) 24.64%
ERBIEARA A jEgE ZEDN
Notes: B3«
1 Ms. Xiong Weigin is the spouse of Mr. Wang Dongbin, an 1 RE 5 b Ry A Oy R BT 2 4 T HORSE AE 1)
executive director of the Company. Under the SFO, Ms. Xiong is e MR O Bk, e LA AE
deemed to be interested in the 60,000,000 Shares held by Smart JA M EE4 TR Smart  East#: 45 160,000,000 /1%
East as mentioned in Note 4 and 1,000,000 underlying Shares ety s CARAR A FI AR IR R T 852 7 5k
under the outstanding options granted by the Company to Mr. A I 1 AR AT A1 T P A IR 19 1,000,000 /1%
Wang pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. AH B A v A R 2
2 Ms. An Ning is the spouse of Mr. Li Kangying, an executive 2 LA Ry AR Oy F AT A U B

director of the Company. Under the SFO, Ms. An is deemed to
be interested in the 60,000,000 Shares held by Main Wealth as
mentioned in Note 5 and 1,000,000 underlying Shares under the
outstanding options granted by the Company to Mr. Li
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

62

o RIS N BRG], 2L AER
I 5% 5 7 ik Main - Wealth 3 4 160,000,000 %
JBeA s DA w AR I SR R T # F
BT SR AT A 19 B % R THR 11 1,000,000
AR B A HE 2



Directors’ Report

HEEWRE

10

Ms. Zhang Jianhua is the spouse of Mr. Wu Zhanjiang, an
executive director of the Company. Under the SFO, Ms. Zhang is
deemed to be interested in the 60,000,000 Shares held by Union
Sino as mentioned in Note 6 and 1,000,000 underlying Shares
under the outstanding options granted by the Company to Mr.
Wu pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

These Shares were held by Smart East, which was wholly owned
by Mr. Wang Dongbin, an executive Director.

These Shares were held by Main Wealth, which was wholly
owned by Mr. Li Kangying, an executive Director.

These Shares were held by Union Sino, which was wholly owned
by Mr. Wu Zhanjiang, an executive Director.

These Shares were held by Long Eagle, which was wholly owned
by Mr. Cao Wei.

Ms. Wang Jiangping is the spouse of Mr. Cao Wei. Under the
SFO, Ms. Wang is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Long Eagle as mentioned in Note 7.

These Shares were held by Chance Talent. As at the date of this
report, China Construction Bank Corporation was owned by
Central Huijin Investment Limited as to approximately 57.31%.
CCB International Group Holdings Limited was wholly owned by
China Construction Bank Corporation. CCB Financial Holdings
Limited was wholly owned by CCB International Group Holdings
Limited. CCB International (Holdings) Limited was wholly owned
by CCB Financial Holdings Limited. CCBI Investments was wholly
owned by CCB International (Holdings) Limited. Chance Talent
was wholly owned by CCBI Investments. Each of Central Huijin
Investment Limited, China Construction Bank Corporation,
CCB International Group Holdings Limited, CCB Financial
Holdings Limited, CCB International (Holdings) Limited and CCBI
Investments is deemed to be interested in the Shares which
Chance Talent is interested in.

Great Attain International Limited is owned as to 25% by each

of Smart East, Long Eagle, Main Wealth and Union Sino respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors
have not been notified by any person (other than the

Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) on 5 February 2018 for the purpose of

enabling the Group to grant share options to selected

participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
the Group.

(a)

Who may join

Our Directors may, at its absolute discretion, invite any

person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants, to take up options to subscribe for Shares:

(aa)

(bb)

(cc)

(dd)

(ee)

any employee (whether full-time or part-time
including any executive director but excluding any
non-executive director) of our Company, any of
our subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested
Entity”) in which our Group holds an equity interest
(“Eligible Employee”);

any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of our Company, any of
our subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of
our Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,

development or other technological support to any
member of our Group or any Invested Entity;
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(ff)

(99)

(hh)

any shareholder of any member of our Group
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of our Group
or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant
to any area of business or business development of
any member of our Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint

(ff)

(99)

(hh)

A AR B ] B B 23 W) BOAE A7 45
TG 10 A AT B B AS 4R A ]
B2 B B AT 450 B /8 T 94T I
R Ao 58 57 AR T R AN

A B AR AR 1 B 2y =) BT T 358 B
TR 10 A {7 3 5 60 GG B 5 5 9 e
B A o] R R C 33 B b SR 7R D
BEARI Nt K

B TR GRS EH
5 B A 3 75 <22 HE T A 4R 1K
B R AR H TR B0 A e L At 21 ) B

venture, business alliance or other business

arrangement and growth of our Group,

and, for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme,
the options may be granted to any company wholly
owned by one or more persons belonging to any of
the above classes of participants. For the avoidance
of doubt, the grant of any options by our Company
for the subscription of Shares or other securities of
our Group to any person who falls within any of the
above classes of participants shall not, by itself, unless
our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as a
grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the above class of participants
to the grant of any option shall be determined by
our Directors from time to time on the basis of
our Directors’ option as to his contribution to the
development and growth of our Group.
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(b)

(c)

Maximum number of Shares

(@a) The maximum number of Shares which may be
allotted and issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes adopted by our
Group shall not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of our Company from time to time.

(bb) The Company had held an EGM on 16 September
2020 to refresh the Share Option Scheme
Mandate Limit. The Company had been allowed
to grant further share options to subscribe for up
to an aggregate of 50,392,717 Shares,
representing approximately 10% of the issued
Shares, which do not include the share options
that are outstanding, cancelled or have lapsed as
at the date of the EGM.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of our Group (including both exercised or outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of our
Company for the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any
further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant shall be subject to the issue of a
circular to our Shareholders and our Shareholders’
approval in general meeting of our Company with

such participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

The number and terms (including the exercise price) of
options to be granted to such participant must be fixed
before Shareholders’ approval and the date of board
meeting for proposing such further grant should be taken
as the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the
exercise price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing
Rules.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

The exercise price

The exercise price must be at least the higher of: (i) the
closing price of the securities as stated in the
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; and (ii) the
average closing price of the securities as stated in the
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant.

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An option may be accepted by a participant within
21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the
option. An option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any
time during a period to be determined and notified
by our Directors to each grantee, which period may
commence on a day after the date upon which the
offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date of
grant of the option subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined
by our Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of
options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the
holding of an option before it can be exercised.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing from 5
February 2018, after which period no further options
will be granted but the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in
all other respects. In particular, all options granted
before the end of such period shall continue to be
valid and exercisable after the end of such period in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. As at the date of this report, the Share
Option Scheme has remaining life of approximately
seven years.

Particulars of share options outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme at the beginning and at the end
of the year ended 31 March 2022 and share options
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Share Option Scheme during such period were as
follows:
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

Price of share of the Company

BE 20243831 ALEEE AN B
prior to
Number of Number of Dateof  the exercise
share options share options Exercise grant of date of
Category of Date of grant of held as at Lapsed/ heldasat  Exercise period of price of share share share
participants share options® 1 April 2021 Granted Exercised Cancelled 31March 2022 share options options options options
J# 2021 48 R 20224 3
4H1H&H K¥/ A3LBRE e Gxid PR RATRERR
SEEER RS J e R Ciid ik JE R SR REAT 66 B/ ETEA RERMNE
HKS HKS HKS
T b b
Executive 1July 2019t0 31
Directors(2) December 2021
o 01947 A1HE
PATEH(2) 2021412 131 H
- WANG Dongbin 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.80 0.80 N/A
—TH0R AiEH
— WU Hongyuan 1,200,000 1,200,000 0.80 0.80 N/A
— St Sl
- LI Kangying 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.80 0.80 N/A
— it i
— WU Zhanjiang 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.80 0.80 N/A
— BT AiEH
1July 2019t0 31
INEDs(2) December 2021
- 20197 H1HE
WE[=: T, 2 30July 2018
BLIEHTEE(Q) uly 202112 A31H
—NG Kong Fat 20187 A 30 500,000 500,000 N/A
ong e F7A%E 0.80 080 I
— Sk i
—HAN Bin 500,000 500,000 0.80 0.80 N/A
— i i
—WANG Peng 500,000 500,000 0.80 0.80 N/A
T ISl
Other employees of
15,000,000 15,000,000 N/A
the Group(2)(3) 080 0.80
AEEHAMER ' ’ T
(2)3)
Advisers to the 6,000,000 6,000,000 N/A
Group(2) 0.80 0.80
FEHEAR) G
Total
A 26,700,000 26,700,000
=]
Notes: Ffh k.
(1) 20%, 30% and 50% of the share options granted were vested (1) BT % 4 T I A 19 20% . 30% B 50% L 4 71 i

3)

respectively on 30 June 2019, 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2021,
respectively.

Vesting of the share options granted to independent non- executive
Directors and advisers to the Group is not conditional upon satisfaction of
any vesting conditions.

Vesting of the share options granted to executive Directors and other
employees of the Group is conditional upon satisfaction of certain
performance conditions applicable to relevant grantees.

Do not include the executive Directors, namely Mr. WANG Dongbin, Mr.
WU Hongyuan, Mr. LI Kangying and Mr. WU Zhanjiang.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (“Share
Award Scheme”) to (i) recognise and
contribution of certain eligible participants to the growth
and development of the Group and to give incentives
thereto

reward the

in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group; and (ii) to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the

Group.

The Share Award Scheme was adopted by the Board on 27
July 2018 (“Adoption Date”) and valid and effective for a
term of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date. The
aggregate number of the Shares underlying all grants
made during the term of the Share Award Scheme is
limited to 3% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of awarded
shares granted to a selected participant under the Share
Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

On 27 August 2018 and 2 August 2019, the Board, based
the
committee of the Board, resolved to provide a sum of
HKS$3.0 million and HKS$2.0 million respectively for the
trustee of the Share Award Scheme to purchase Shares
from the market pursuant to the Share Award Scheme.
Further details of the Scheme are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 27 July 2018, 27
August 2018 and 2 August 2019, respectively.

on the recommendation of remuneration

As of 31 March 2022, there were 8,512,000 Shares held in
trust by the trustee under the Share Award Scheme. As of
31 March 2022, no Share has been awarded by the Board
to any eligible participant of the Share Award Scheme.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above,
no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares were entered into by the
Company and subsisted at the end of or at any time during
the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to shareholders by reason of their holding in the
Company’s Share.

SHARES/DEBENTURES ISSUED

No shares or debentures of the Company were issued
during the Year.

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by
them; nor was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiary corporations or subsidiary
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or their respective spouses or minor children to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

fellow
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the percentages of revenue attributable
to major customers of the Group were as follows:

FRE. HESUEE B

AR FEA A A BHAT AU B 23 7 6 A (el L L el ]
A A FUEN LTS

FEEF REEH

AFEEEARLEEAR LR P 2 R S A R M a2 1 5
EA/ I

Percentage of total revenue of the Group

Tl AR B W 2t 4B EH 1 40 b
The largest customer H—mKEP 40.62%
86.15%

Five largest customers combined R . K& F &5

During the Year, the percentages of purchases attributable
to the major suppliers of the Group were as follows:

AN A (9] ) 3 L O R BRI AL AR PRI A 2
S

Percentage of total purchases of the Group

A G P R SRR 20

The largest supplier B L

Five largest suppliers combined B R A s

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of Directors own
more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company)
had any interest in the major customers and/or suppliers
noted above.

PUBLIC FLOAT

From information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the
public at all times throughout the Year as required under
the Rules Governing the Listing of the Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Friday, 16
September 2022. Shareholders of the Company should
refer to the details regarding the AGM in the circular to be
despatched by the Company and the notice of meeting
and form of proxy accompanying therewith.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Saturday, 10 September 2022 to Friday, 16
September 2022, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of
shares, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, Friday, 9
September 2022 (Hong Kong time), being the last
registration date.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year have been audited by KPMG Certified Public
Accountants who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

There has been no changes in the auditors of the
Company in the proceeding three years.

By order of the Board
OneForce Holdings Limited
WANG Dongbin

Chairman

Beijing, China, 20 June 2022.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WIZ B EN RS

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
OneForce Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
OneForce Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 84 to 184, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flows statement
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 March 2022 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

judgment, were of most significance in our

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

B R IR

I S S IR AR R AP (0 ST
BAFAR AW F R 0 F AT e Ay HE N H
o JE IR AR A AT B M AR A B
R B R AT P, A ErEhE
S IR LR R
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opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Recognition of contract revenue

BA A FERE

Refer to accounting policy Note 2(v) and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements

BB B I IRFMNIEE 2(v) HI B AT KR MT5E 4
The Key Audit Matter
FREEER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAIRER P REZEENTE

The Group’s business involves entering into contractual
relationships with customers to provide a range of services,
including the provision of design, implementation, enhancement
and upgrades of software systems and the provision of technical
services for power grid and other distribution companies in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
ERENEBIRARFIIIE0MER, RH—RIIRS,
BRAFEANRKEME ( [HE] ) ERREMERELAIR
T AT RIARFHRE M R R AR RN RTS .

A significant proportion of the Group’s revenue is derived from
long-term contracts, most of which are fixed price contracts.
EXENABIREKERPEN, HhRHDAREERE
FI

The recognition of revenue on long-term contracts is based on the
stage of completion of work performed on a contract at the
reporting date. The recognition of revenue for an incomplete
project is dependent on estimating the total outcome of the
contract as well as the work performed to date. REF &I ZS
DERBEHRMRAAMETZ TIEN TS RER. KTMN
BB MR EREBURR EAMNMETEER, UREZSERTT
k&,
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of contract
revenue included the following: B {FIsE & A ZS FER I BALTE
FERENTEIE:

e obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal
controls over the recognition of contract revenue, including
the controls over recording work done, invoicing and cash
receipts;

s BREFEHSAORSHEINEIZNEHART. BT
BN, SRHTHRETMIE. BERBESWE
TR

e selecting a sample of contracts, using a variety of quantitative
and qualitative criteria, and performing the following
procedures for each contract selected:

o HRANBA. HATENE SRR AR AR
HESNERN TR

— inspecting key terms, including pricing, deliverables,
timetable and milestones, which were set out in the
contracts and inquiring of the relevant project managers
about key aspects of the contract, including the estimated
total contract costs, key project risks, contingencies and
billing schedules;

- BERNEIINER. . BERREERSIEG
MR EAMEECEEHSANEIRTE, BIEGE4E
BHMA. TREBERE. IREERKERFEE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Recognition of contract revenue

BRI FERE

BSEERTHIR (8D

Refer to accounting policy Note 2(v) and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements

BB S TR ML 2(v) B B AR R T aE 4
The Key Audit Matter
FEETHIE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

TIRE P REZEENITE

Forecasting the outcome of a contract involves the exercise of
significant management judgement in relation to estimating the
total costs for individual contracts. These assumptions include
estimating future labour costs required to complete the contract
based on the customised specifications of individual contract.
Errors in contract forecasts could result in a material variance in
the amount of profit or loss recognised to date and therefore also
in the current period.

FERENER SR EEEHR G EEGOMAMAEL EXH
. ELBRBREBEREESONEHRIBRMEETTRELIFT
BORKALRAR, GROTERERTRESICOHERNEBELES
HHEEERZEER, WAL EAYNERSRE.

We identified the recognition of contract revenue as a key audit
matter because contract revenue accounts for a significant
proportion of the Group’s revenue and because the recognition of
contract revenue involves a significant degree of management
judgement in assessing factors which can be inherently uncertain
and may be subject to management bias.

B EORRERAMRENFE REASHORRLES
Bl RER Y, BEAK S HERY KA T sEFEE A A
EMNERFEHEREEBHEY TR ELTEEERRIRE
s
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B

Challenging the underlying judgements of senior operational
and financial management personnel in their estimations of
total estimated contract costs and estimated costs to
complete the contract where it was still in progress at the
reporting date by comparing their estimates with relevant
underlying documentation, including suppliers’ quotations and
agreed contracts;

BB SRELRMBEEABNMESTEABR XY (B
HEFNRELBESL) L, HERHEAEMGRQMES
KA K TR IR E B E D ER TR SR AT B4R
YEH BIAERAFIER,

Comparing items recorded as contract costs during the year
with suppliers’ contracts, third party engineers’ certifications
of work completed, where applicable, and other relevant
underlying documentation;
HENNRIABEHNRANER RBEEFH SN, F=7T
R RN TEEMER (MBA) REMERRXHET
L&

agreeing total contract revenue to the contracted terms;
HEENERMNAEEHW R,

comparing the percentages of completion as assessed by the
Group’s project managers with the customer’s certifications of
work completed; and

IR EEEEEREN N IENLHEFERNTE
=R a il .

SERGERR, K

recalculating the percentage of completion based on contract
costs incurred up to the reporting date and estimated total
contract costs;
EREEREAPEENSONARMMREARAER
STETIED L,

on a sample basis, comparing management’s estimated
costs to complete selected contracts at the end of the
previous financial year with actual costs incurred during the
current year and enquiring of the management about any
significant variances identified; and

AR ELLREE R — {8 B BUF AR (AT 5 AUE
EENNRARAFEEEENERNA, YEEEESN
BB ERZER, &

on a sample basis, discussing with project managers the
stage of completion and services provided.

RER AR BUE B AR TR R i A BR TS .
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BSEERTHIR (8D

Expected credit loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets

EZRURERSNEENTEHEREREE

Refer to accounting policy Notes 2(n) and 2(o) and Notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

FEBREFBRMEL 2(n) 7 2(0) X R A & I #RZ 74T 16 7117

The Key Audit Matter
T TR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAIRER P REZEERNTE

The Group’s operations gave rise to significant trade receivable
balances and contract assets. As at 31 March 2022, net trade
receivables and net contract assets amounted to RMB295,451,000
and RMB48,053,000 respectively, which represented 68% and 11%
of the total assets of the Group respectively and against which an
loss allowance of RMB16,353,000 and RMB857,000 for expected
credit losses (ECLs) were recorded respectively.
ERENKERHELEREESRBRIREGRREGNEE. B
2022 £3 A 31 H, EZRBGHIEFERGNEEFEDHA
AR¥E 295,451,000 TR AR 48,053,000 7T, Al ELEE
EEMAEN 68% Kk 11%, HPEBBEGESBEIIIAARYE
16,353,000 Jt X A R # 857,000 JT.

The Group measures loss allowances on trade receivables and
contract assets at amounts equal to lifetime ECL using a provision
matrix which involved significant management judgement in
estimating loss rate and adjusting factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current economic
conditions and forward-looking information.
EEEEREBEERRERREIENEEEBNSEINEE
SREBFIEREHNEENEBES BT IREMBEEER
AEEBARERRTENEXNEE BB HIRRFLERERE
KR AR RS,

We identified assessing ECL allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets as a key audit matter because of the significance of
the balances of trade receivables and contract assets to the
consolidated financial statements and because of the significant
management judgement required in estimating the ECL
allowances at the reporting date, which can be inherently
uncertain.

B ESRBURIERSHNEENEREREBEERE
AAEERGTEE, REAGZSUBRRNESBEBFIEREGL
BEEGREABRREDPETENERERBGTEETERE
EL TTRE B A WERHEE R E R FIER,
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Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets included the following:
BB ZRIERIER GV EETEREREBBENEZE
FERBNTEIE:

. obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal
controls relating to credit control, debt collection and
estimating loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets;

o BREFHREERERS. EHRLEKEE ZERKIE
RENEENBERBERHENTIENSEH R, #
TREERRM,

o evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating the credit loss
allowance with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standard;

o SERTEEANER, HHEEEHEAEBERBEN
&t

o comparing, on a sample basis, the categorisation of trade
receivables and contract assets in the ageing report with
invoices issued, contract terms, contract progress reports
and other relevant underlying documentation;

o HERILERRBHREPESRBGERSNEENDREE
FRENZEE. 80/KNK. GROERREREMHERRX
%
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets

EZRURERSNEENTEHEREREE

BSEERTHIR (8D

Refer to accounting policy Notes 2(n) and 2(o) and Notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

FEBREFBRMEL 2(n) 7 2(0) X R A & I 5 #RZ /74t 16 7117

The Key Audit Matter
T TR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAIRER P REZEERNTE

77

obtaining an understanding on the key data and assumption
of the expected credit loss model adopted by the
management, including the basis of the segmentation of the
trade receivables and contract assets based on the credit risk
characteristics, the historical default data, and the
assumptions involved in management’s estimated loss rate;
Eﬁﬁﬁ HEMRMNTEREEEEEXNEEEHE LR
@Tﬁ#ﬁ?ﬁa?ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁ NEZREHFEREL

é‘}%ﬁ’]ﬁj‘ﬁ%ﬁ BABHE R EEE MG BIEEAT
W R EVRE

assessing the appropriateness of management’s estimates of
loss allowance by examining the information used by
management to derive such estimates, including testing the
accuracy of the historical default data and evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward-looking
information;

FHMEEEEMNEREBEENEEN, TEATETEEE
BMBEZEEHNER, 8RBT ROSIENE
I r&*&uﬂﬁl_méﬁai%éﬁﬁﬂiiﬁﬁ#%@iﬁﬁ&ﬁﬂ%'lﬁ
BERMEL IR ER

re-performing the calculation of the loss allowance as at 31
March 2022 based on the Group’s credit loss allowance
policies; and

RIFEEENEEHEBRBEBEBRENER 2022 £3 A
31 BERERE, X

assessing the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of trade receivables and
contract assets with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
SERTEHEINRE, THEKERGEMBRE
NEME S RBFIER SN EENKE.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BSEERTHIR (8D

Assessment of the potential impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

AEfh B E R E R R E E R E AR

Refer to accounting policy Notes 2(i), 2(j) and 2(l), and Notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements

BLREFERNEE 20). 2) M 20), URGFEH
The Key Audit Matter
T TR

AT 11 FlI12

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAIRER P REZEERNTE

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying values of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment (“PP&E”) and intangible assets amounted to
RMB7,696,000 and RMB19,162,000, respectively.
2022 F£3 31 H BEEMNE. BEXREURER
EEMNRAEEDMNAARE 769,000 Tf AREK
19,162,000 Jt.

The Group’s PP&E and intangible assets are allocated to relevant
cash generating units (“CGUs”) for the purpose of assessing if
there is any impairment as at 31 March 2022.

EXENYE. BREARBUREREEESR THBNES
EEEMN, DEHMEREE 2022 £ 3 B 31 HEGHAETER
.

The Group is required to test PP&E and intangible assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Management
compares the carrying amount of the CGU with its recoverable
amount, which is estimated by discounted cash flow forecast, to
determine the amount of impairment, if any.
EINAEEEBYE. BEAREURERLEENREEEE
EeENE, BXEEEESEREMEENE BBLR
ReEE BNREEERRETRR SR ETERATE AT
me® UETRESE (0F) .

The preparation of discounted cash flow forecasts involves the
exercise of significant management judgement, particularly in
estimating forecast revenue, forecast cost of sales, forecast
expenses and the discount rates applied.

RETRR SRR IR EEEBERERHE, LHAMS
TR S . TERISEE A, TRRIF X X FriE AT IR R,
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Our audit procedures to assess the potential impairment of PP&E
and intangible assets included the following:

BMFHEYE. BRERRBURERLEEBERENEZRERF
BRENTEIE:

U assessing the methodology adopted by management in the
preparation of the discounted cash flow forecasts, including
the key estimates and assumptions adopted and
management’s identification of CGUs and the allocation of
assets and liabilities to each CGU with reference to our
understanding of the Group’s business and the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards;

s 2EFRMY EREEBNBRBERRTEHEANRET
HEEBRAREUNTRESRAEENSEANA X, &
R AN RRAS R ERUREEENReESEEN
MBI RHERSEEEMNNEERABNI R,

o comparing key financial data, including revenue, cost of sales
and expenses, in the discounted cash flow forecasts with the
budgets approved by the board of directors;

o HRIMRREREFANPNMERUZER (BHEKE. H
ERARREX) REFSHANTEEETLE

. challenging the key assumptions adopted in the discounted
cash flow forecasts, including forecast revenue, forecast cost
of sales, forecast expense by comparing these inputs with
the historical results of each CGU and economic and industry
forecasts;

s BBERTRRSFETBATRRANEERR (84
AR, TEREEMA. BRARL) HEReELE
AR EEUREBRITETBAHZEFMALRREL
HEE,
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BSEERTHIR (8D

Assessment of the potential impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

FHEEEEEREREEBERERR

Refer to accounting policy Notes 2(i), 2(j) and 2(l) and Notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements
FEELEBEIEEMEE20). 20)RIE2), URGZEHFRZEME 11 7112

The Key Audit Matter
T TR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAIRER P REZEERNTE

We identified assessment of the potential impairment of PP&E
and intangible assets as a key audit matter because the
impairment assessments involve the exercise of significant
judgement in estimating the inputs in the impairment assessment
model, which can be inherently uncertain and could be subject to
management bias in their selection.

B YE. BEERBEUAREREENBEREMLHERS

BREZEE REARGSHREFGRENMAERFTERE
H R E FER, L&%ul’ﬁﬂ’]?ﬁ@tl% FREEERIRE

AV RIE P 2
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. involving our internal valuation specialists on a sample basis
to assess whether the discount rates applied in the
discounted cash flow forecast were within the range
adopted by other companies in the same industry and/or
comparable to external market data;

s HHREESINBMNNBEEERFEFRRETE

AR RN R B ERS %Hﬂt?ﬁiﬁ@?ﬁﬁ%
FHE’JI?_nF'EJWZi/ o T ESMNER TS E L ER

. evaluating the historical accuracy of management’s forecasts
by comparing cash flow forecasts made in previous years to
the actual results in the current year on a sample basis to
identify if there was any indication of management bias;

s BBHKRLERINETFEERSATENRAFEEBRERTE
EEEEINELEEY, BERSFETAMRETR
GEEEERR,

. performing sensitivity analyses of the key assumptions
adopted by management to assess what changes thereto,
either individually or collectively, would result in a different
conclusion being reached and assessing whether there were
any indicators of management bias in the selection of key
assumptions; and

s HEERBMRANBERRETSRES T L)(EEHE%‘“
PR LE A B M8 1Sk PR AR R S EEF K R E A ER
FHEE SRR ERRE #%Fﬁiiiﬁ““ﬁ#ﬁ?‘&ﬁ}ﬁﬁ
@, &

. assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the impairment assessment of
PP&E and intangible assets with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.

s SEBRTEHEARE, FHEEMBRRTFEHEY
¥ BERREUREREENBENHNKE.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

This report is made solely to you, as a body, and no for other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

exists.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
throughout the audit. We also:

scepticism

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

81

BEETRE SR S M B IRR A BN R

WA HAR, RRERE M RRBEME R A
A A R BUCRE BB R T 58 B30 2K B R i
AR E R, R ERERME LA
HIESS R

ARG A B R M, BRULLASL, B
AR S AN T AR S o o FRAPTREAS il A
HHINA, SR H AL 1 A T SRS
"

EELORFT RK R DR, EAREIR AR
(HBHEREAD EBTHER, £ —EKX
SR BRORAT AL R B RE X Bl S SRBAUA T L
WHEBBEER SRS, n SR A& B TR e A B Bl
T A8 R 52 38 i 5 S 75 0 A P 3 M
AR P RAEHE , AR B 85 R
BYAIEER.

FEMRE (b at BRI AT F a1 a2
o B T ESEHIEr, R T SESRERE
RERZ. HAMIR:

- BT R G B R T R AR A
SUA S R AT A T K B R BRI 1) LB, Tt
At KT TR DU SIS 28 b, DA
R e /M A SR, E AR
PR R B . e 7S SUCRE T REVS A
w RiG. BEER. EERGE, B0
R N IR 2 b, DRIROR E 9 3R R K
1T 5L 5001 O B R ORI ) Lo v 7 A
E 92 25 R S e 1T 25 50 F) B K R RO 11
JE -

- WS SRR B N B, DLREIE
R ERHER, EH IR BN
A A R SR R

- RHEEEHE PR A AT BRI AR
H g A AR AR B 3R 1 A R



Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

BHETRE SR S M BIREABNEE (8D

W R R R AR AT SRR
TR A am . MRIZ T N = SR, B
SE AT 15 A7-E S 3 TR RS Y0 A7 o] () A
FERENE, 7ET Al RE S BUE B AR M AR
BRI EEE RS E. MR A
FEAETE RN E I, HUA o BEAE A B
W AR B B AR A M R
MIMHR R . BoE A R EEE AL, R
AR R MK SRR I
SRR 5 H R PT S I B AT ISR . A
1M, R A IH B AT e 5 5 AL A

RERFARALE

AHEAR G MR BRSO L &
FERINE, CERER, DLRERS IR
TR T WU R A2 2 FHIH

R RN TR ECE S B B R
B HHE K EREE, SR
BB RRBELZ R . RMETEEE
FEETT I BREPAIERAT . BRAM AT
R REAE.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among FREA IR IS, BAMBLH L & aihiE T E
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and B TR R HE. EORE AT
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in &, BFEBAMAE T R 9 ] AT
internal control that we identify during our audit. (DEWNT7{=H
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we

have complied with relevant ethical regarding

independence and communicate with them all relationships and

requirements

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yeung Ka Chun.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

20 June 2022.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

AREIRIR

For the year ended 31 March 2022
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”))
7202243 31 H R4
CRANRSE (T ARES ] OF15R)

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MaE ARETT ANRHT T
Revenue B 4 376,704 293,666
Cost of sales SRR (288,432) (226,719)
Gross profit EH 4(b) 88,272 66,947
Other income HoAt N 5 2,195 217
Selling expenses S 2 (5,503) (7,223)
Administrative and other TEU
operating expenses HAhag 2 #H (49,182) (33,213)
Impairment losses on trade A 5 [EWGRIE J,
receivables and contract assets A [F R TR 6(b) (8,360) (697)
Profit from operations KBER 27,422 26,031
Finance costs Bl AR (1,787) (637)
Share of profits of an associate AL — ] HSi 2 2 = 3 ) 179 13
Profit before taxation A BT B A 6 25,814 25,407
Income tax IRGE 7 (3,793) (4,552)
Profit for the period attributable RATERBER
to equity shareholders of the BN
Company Ha A 22,021 20,855
Earnings per share FREFR
Basic/diluted (RMB cents) A (NREE 10 4.44 421

The notes on pages 92 to 184 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

moBmEkEMEEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
(Expressed in RMB)

7202243 H 31 H LA
(MANREEFIRD
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ANREF G
Profit for the year AN A 22020 20,855
Other comprehensive income for the FENHABETRAN
year (after tax) (BRAR)D
Item that may be reclassified K1 A GEE B HE
subsequently to profit or loss: B I H -
- Exchange differences on translation -T2y
into presentation V=gt
currency T £0 22 B (487) (1,276)
Total comprehensive income for AT ERB R EALEN
the year attributable to equity AR SRR
shareholders of the Company 21,534 19,579

The notes on pages 92 to 184 form part of the consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e A A7 U
tna ISR
At 31 March 2022

(Expressed in RMB)

#20224E3H31H

(YNNI

Note
PHAE

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Interest in an associate

Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories and other contract costs
Contract assets

Trade and bill receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other

receivables

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Bank loans

Income tax payable

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets

The notes on pages 92 to 184 form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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11

12

14
25(b)

15
16
17

18
19

20

21

22
25(a)

23
25(b)

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANE¥TE ANRET T
7,696 9,624

19,162 27,649

3,598 3,419

1,558 193
feel.....32014 40885
14,474 12,508

48,053 39,601

295,451 212,146

6,059 26,850

37,924 31,703
__________ 40961 322,808
95,227 67,516

37,490 36,909

47,520 31,267

18,628 13,142
__________ 198,865 148834
__________ 203,096 173,974
235,110 214,859

- 496

- 860
_________________ 1,356
235,110 213,503
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
FEMBRNE (8D

At 31 March 2022

(Expressed in RMB)
202243431 H
(VNN

2021

2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Gl AR® T NS

Capital and reserves B A KA 26

Share capital il 4,130 4,130
Reserves it 230,980 209,373

Total equity WA ARAE 235,110 213,503
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 202246 H 20 FIHLAE LA RET 3% .

20 June 2022.

Wang Dongbin Wu Hongyuan
FERIEH Cyed !
Director Director
HH HH
The notes on pages 92 to 184 form part of the consolidated 2 H B 184 M E AL AR B I SR K —H 4.

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

I-\Iﬁ"

EAERSRE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

(Expressed in RMB)

7202243 H 31 H LA
(YN VI
Attrik le to equity shareholders of the Company
EATEREREN
Shares held Retained
under share profits/
Share award Share Other Statutory Exchange (accumulated §
. . Total equity
capital scheme premium reserves reserves reserve losses)
wf LS \ R B
BA  EEEER BRORE Huftfe EEmE ERRRE N A
TS it 2
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
i AR¥ETT  ARETTE AR®TT ARETTE AR®TT ARETET AR¥ETTE ARBTT
(Note (Note (Note
(Note26fc)) - Note261d) g1 i) 26(gi)
e s (P&E (Pf&E (P&
Whetse) - RRE2OE) - gy 2606)i) __26(gi)
At 1 April 2020 L . 4141 a8sy 140433 53991 4730 1 4370 76| 193538
Changes in equity for #BZ 2021303101k
the year ended ERER ST
31 March 2021:
Profit and total comprehensive  4F [ s I % 42 U\
income for the year L (1276) 20855 19579
Equity-settled share-based AR & 5 DA B A7
transaction IR 5 24 386 386
Appropriation to reserves 498 22 el 25 - (25)
Cancellation of own shares AESH E 26(d) (12) 426 (415)
R 2 . A% (415), 386 B 25) 386,
At 31 March 2021 )35‘2021’5853)3 31H 4,130 (4,425) 140,018 54,377 4,755 3,094 11,554 213,503

The notes on pages 92 to 184 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

GAMELDE (4)

For the year ended 31 March 2022
(Expressed in RMB)

#F 20224331 H IR FE

(YN YIFS)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
A AR I R e G
Shares held
under share Retained
sh d sh Other S Exch profits/
are awar are ther tatutory xchange (sccumulated  Total equity
capital scheme premium reserves reserves reserve losses)
TR o 48 N
A RAAR  BOER ReGR  weae w0l s
1) 3 ?
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
. AR¥TT  AR®TT ARETT ARETTE AR®TT ARETL AREFT  ARBTT
(Note (Note (Note
(Note26(c) — Note2604) 511 26 26(i)
o o (Fff&E (Bh3E (Br3E
Vit 26 at26(d
Whikzee) 260D g 26(gil) 26l
At1 April 2021 Raonfafal 4130 (4425) 10018 4377 arms 304 W 23503
Changes in equity for BZE2022F3H31A 1k
the year ended EEERSE):
31 March 2022:
Profit and total comprehensive  4F Py i | J2 4TI RN
income for the year e e e e (487) 201 21,534
Equity-settled share-based AR HE A B 4
transaction BRI 5 24 - - - 73 - - - 73
___________________________________ L S .
At 31 March 2022 #20224£3A31H 4,130 (4,425) 140,018 54,450 4,755 2,607 33,575 235,110

The notes on pages 92 to 184 form part of the consolidated financial HO2H 184 H Rt Al liss A IR E —3 47 -
statements.
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Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

FRERIRESRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022

(Expressed in RMB)

i A220224F3 31 H UL AF
LA 5170

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation

Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs
Impairment loss on trade receivables
and contract assets
Inventory provision
Share of profit of an associate

Equity-settled share-based transaction

Gain on changes in fair value of

wealth management products

Changes in working capital:
Increase in inventories
Increase in contract assets
Increase in trade and
bill receivables
Decrease in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables

Decrease/ (Increase) in restricted cash

Increase in trade payables
Increase in other payables and

accruals

Cash used in operations

Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

RETEHH SR E

PR BT A

FHEIEH
Yreg L sy
R A
5y WK IE K A
% IR R
EAE e
AR A — T3 2 2 W A
ARt B DA 25
FERI5E 5
FRIAE S A U E )
Nkl

BT 4 )
RN
A IR 1
5y RN IE Je
JREWSCEEAE R
TEAFEKIE . 4 X oAt
JEEWCER IE kD
S IR &>
€yi1p)
B 5y A IR
At A R T % S B
S

RBTH3S
A T AR

BB ABSEH

The notes on pages 92 to 184 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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2022 2021

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
AE ARETT ANR# T
25,814 25,407

6(b) 13,475 15,126
1,787 1,171

6(b) 8,360 697
658 137

(179) (13)

73 386

(120) (125)

(2,624) (2,862)

(8,579) (4,400)

(89,705) (98,494)

2,333 5,579

653 (9,871)

27,711 47,195

6,641 2,453

(13,702) (17,614)

25(a) (532) (237)
(14,234) (17,851)

92 H A H 184 HIHREA AR & B R — 2y .



Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

<=1 = AN g —1 %
SHHGZSIRENMER
For the year ended 31 March 2022

(Expressed in RMB)

WA 20224:3 H31H IL4 S
QYNNI

Note
FaE

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for purchase of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets
Payments for self-developed intangible
assets
Settlement of the loan from a third party
Settlement of the loan from a related party
Loan granted to a related party
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of wealth management
products
Proceeds from disposal of wealth management
products
Interest received from disposal of

wealth management products

Net cash generated from/ (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Repayment of amount due to a third party
Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest element of lease rentals paid

Interest paid

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

The notes on pages 92 to 184 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.

BAFBIBNH SR E
MEEME. W &

R KPR DA B ST 5
SRS LLETA -2 O

PRI 5 =7 IH

AC ) B 7 K I

IF — 4% [ 5 7 2 HH K
BV W kA
A3k 5

Sl L

HH B BB 7

o B TV E i
Yeai

BORIEENE A/ (BT ) B iR

RREE R SR E
K BT IH
IR

TR 5K = T7 kIR
S EA ST
AT AL I B
SR

Rl T B BT AR B S A

BRI SR/ (5D ) B

FHB SR BSHED
51 I RBEIHIE
FRASRFEEEY
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19(b)
19(b)

19(b)
19(b)
19(b)
19(b)

19(a)

19(a)

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ANR#F I
(3,066) (459)

- (4,069)

6,000 -
1,500 -

- (1,500)

7 16

- (9,000)

9,000 -

245 -

... 13ese  (15012)
60,817 56,407
(36,924) (20,800)
(13,712) (9,944)
(527) (456)

(35) (42)
(1,752) (1,129)
e 7867 . 24,036 _
7,319 (8,827)
21,723 31,693
(445) (1,143)
28,597 21,723

2 H B 184 H Mt sk AL AR B iR E — 5 4.



Notes to the Financial Statements

RAF5 8RR 5T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAA LRGN, BARESIR)

CORPORATE INFORMATION

OneForce Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 5 July 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 2 March 2018 (the
“Listing Date”). The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
design, implementation, enhancement and upgrades of
software systems and the provision of technical services for
power grid and distribution companies in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the sale of products and the
investment, construction and operation of smart city
infrastructure in the PRC.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting year of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments
to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting years reflected in these
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2022 comprise the Group
and the Group’s interest in an associate.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group recorded a net operating cash outflow of
RMB14,234,000 (31 March 2021:
RMB17,851,000). However, at 31 March 2022,
the Group’s current assets exceeded its current
liabilities by RMB203,096,000. The directors of
the Company have considered the Group’s
available sources of fund including the
forecasted cash flows of the Group and the
available banking facilities and concluded that
the Group will have sufficient financial
resources for its operations for at least 12
months from the end of the reporting period.
As such, the financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis. The going
concern basis assumes that the Group will
continue in operation for the foreseeable
future and will be able to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities and commitments in the
normal course of business.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that the following assets and
liabilities are stated at their fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

- investment in debt securities (see Note
2(h)).

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
accounting estimates are recognised in the year in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that year, or in the year of the revision and
future years if the revision affects both current and

future years.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB to
these financial statements for the current

accounting period:

L Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS
4 and IFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark

Reform-phase 2

. Amendments to IFRS 16, Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

e Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020

Cycle

. Amendments to IFRS 3, Reference to the

Conceptual Framework

. Amendments to IAS 16, Property, Plant
and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended

Use

L Amendments to IAS 37, Onerous Contracts

— Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

None of these developments have had a
material effect on how the Group’s results and
financial position for the current or prior years
have been prepared or presented in this
financial report. The Group has not applied any
new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in
(“RMB”) which is the Group’s
presentation currency and the functional
currency of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries. All
amounts have been rounded to the nearest

Renminbi

thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

(e)Subsidiaries

The Group accounts for business combinations
using the acquisition method when control is
transferred to the Group. The consideration
transferred in the acquisition is generally
measured at fair value, as are the identifiable
net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is
tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a
bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss
immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as
incurred, except if related to the issue of debt
or equity securities. The consideration
transferred does not include amounts related
to the settlement of pre-existing relationships.
Such amounts are generally recognised in profit
or loss.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held
by the Group and other parties) are considered.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence

of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made
to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate
(see Note 2(f)) or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial

position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(l)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has
significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for
in the financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale.
Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee’s identifiable
net assets over the cost of the investment (if
any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of the investment, and any
direct investment into the associate that forms
part of the Group’s equity investment.
Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group’s share of
the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see Note
2(1)(ii)). At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether there s
evidence that the investment is impaired. Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s

any objective

share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results
of the investees and any impairment losses for
the year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss,
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax
items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

whereas the
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Associates (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses
is discontinued except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest
is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with any other
long-term interests that in substance form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate
after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for
under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that investee, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the
date when significant influence or joint control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset(see Note 2(h)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of:

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the
acquiree; over

(if) the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities measured
as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a
business combination is allocated to each cash-
generating unit, or groups of cash generating
units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested
annually for impairment.

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the
year, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the
profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, BLARWFIR)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Other investments in debt securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt,
other than investments in subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments. The
investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss (FVPL) for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in
profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 27(d). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group
are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest
method (see Note 2(v)(iv));
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Other investments in debt securities

(i) Investments other than equity investments
(Continued)

fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) - recycling, if the
contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the
amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from
equity to profit or loss;

fair value at profit or loss (FVPL), if the
investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Other investments in debt securities

(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is
classified as FVPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment
the group makes an irrevocable election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election
is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the
investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) is
transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL
or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as
other income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (Note 2(I)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment, less
their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

- Right-of-use assets Over the
lease term

- Leasehold improvement Shorter
between

lease period
and 10 years

- Motor vehicles,
office equipment
and other Equipment

3 to 5 years

When parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost
of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

103

2.

HERERIEOE (8D

(i) W3k, W5 Rt

W3k, W s R s TE H LR AE FRE
& DUSA IR R T 8 M IR S 18
CRfFEE200)() FIHR.

W Y. WS Kk IHE
Jiv 2 A R 2 ARZIH H R B T A
AR IF A S EL R 1 1 ] £ 2 B
SE, M B B H AEIR R
T LURERR

Preg 5 ) ELARIRA% T Bl at vl f
P II LA V36 < 5 B i A T
B A B A R R Cn
) -

- AR E EEih=¢:!
- HEEB E W &
104
CLLIE % A
- RHE A 3FE5AE
R R oAt
]

D3 s S A i TH H 2% # f
AR, AIRZIAH 1A
% 5 B MEAE 25 38 0y 2 T E AT 23
fe, HA&EoBmetmne. e
(¥ 7T A5 £ ) A HL R R (E . (A
1) BEHGETER.



Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on an internal research and
development  projects is  distinguished

between the expenditures during

research phase and expenditures during the
development phase. Research activities
involve original and planned investigation
undertaken with the prospect of gaining new

scientific or technical knowledge
understanding.

involve a plan or design for the production of
new or substantially improved materials,
devices, products or processes before the

start of commercial production or use.

Expenditure on research activities

recognised as an expense in the year in which
it is incurred. Expenditure on development
activities is capitalised if the product or
process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient
resources and the intention to complete
development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour,
and an appropriate proportion of overheads
and borrowing costs, where applicable.
Capitalised development costs are stated at

cost less accumulated amortisation

impairment losses (Note 2(l)(ii)). Other
development expenditure is recognised as an

expense in the year in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life
is finite) and impairment losses (Note 2(l)(ii)).

Amortisation of intangible assets shall begin

when the asset is available for use.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite
useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. The following intangible assets
with finite useful lives are amortised from the
date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Software and patents 3 to 5 years

Both the year and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the
right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets which, for the
Group are primarily laptops and office
furniture. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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2.

YNNI

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is

calculated using the effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
Notes 2(i) and 2(l)(ii)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental
deposits is accounted for separately from the
right-of-use assets in accordance with the
accounting policy applicable to investments in
debt securities carried at amortised cost (see
notes 2(h)(i), 2(v)(iv) and 2(I)(i)). Any
difference between the initial fair value and
the nominal value of the deposits s
accounted for as additional lease payments
made and is included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.
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2.

YNNI

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is
a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there is
a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term wusing a
revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification. The only exceptions are any
rent concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such
cases, the Group took advantage of the
practical expedient set out in paragraph 46A
of IFRS 16 and recognised the change in
consideration as if it were not a lease
modification, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease
payments in profit or loss in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the
rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due to
be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) credit losses

from financial

instruments and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on
the following items:

- financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables).

- contract assets as defined in IFRS
15 (see Note 2(n)).

Other financial assets measured at fair
value are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses. Credit losses
are measured as the present value of
all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due
to The Group in accordance with the

contract and the cash flows that The
Group expects to receive).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(1 Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(M)

Credit losses  from  financial
instruments and contract assets
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are
discounted using the following
discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade
and other receivables and
contract assets: effective interest
rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation
thereof.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes
into account reasonable and
supportable information that s
available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past
events,
forecasts of future

current conditions and
economic

conditions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are losses that are

expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives of

the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at
the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance equal
to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA TS ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i) credit losses

from financial

instruments, contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases

in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased

significantly since

initial recognition,

the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial

recognition. In
reassessment, the

making this
Group considers

that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any
is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90-

120 days past
considers  both

due. The Group
quantitative and

qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I)Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following information

is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of
principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets (Continued)

Significant  increases in  credit risk
(Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk s
performed on either an individual basis or
a collective basis. When the assessment is
performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics, such
as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a
corresponding  adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt
securities that are measured at FVOCI
(recycling), for which the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the fair value
reserve (recycling).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income on
credit-impaired financial assets

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether a financial asset s
credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the
observable events:

following

- significant financial difficulties of the

debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

- it becoming probable that the

borrower will enter into bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income on

credit-impaired financial assets
(Continued)
- significant changes in the

technological, market, economic or

legal environment that have an

adverse effect on the debtor; or
- the disappearance of an active
market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when The Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or
loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of
information are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may
be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment,
including right-of-use assets;

- intangible assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial
position and an associate.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In
addition, for goodwill, intangible assets
that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there
is any indication of impairment.;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset
is the greater of its fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market
assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). A portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate
asset (for example, head office
building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if
the allocation can be done on a
reasonable and consistent basis, or
to the smallest group of cash-
generating units if otherwise.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated
to reduce the carrying amount of
the cash-generating unit (or group
of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a
pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

(Continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. A reversal
of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had
been

no impairment

recognised in prior
Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year

in  which the
recognised.

(iii) Interim  financial  reporting

Impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with IAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end
of the interim period, the Group applies
testing,

the same

recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year

(see Notes 2(l)(i) and (ii)).

impairment

periods.

are

and
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m)

Inventories and other contract costs

(i)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of
cost and net realizable value. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those
recognised as an expense in the year in
which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realizable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised

inventories is

as an expense in the year the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any  write-down  of
inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the year in which the

reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI AREMSL, ARSI

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m)

Inventories and other contract costs

(ii)

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventory (see Note
2(m)(i)), property, plant and equipment
(see Note 2(i)) or intangible assets (see
Note 2(j)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are those costs that the Group incurs to
obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained e.g. an
incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period
and the costs are expected to be
recovered. Other costs of obtaining a

contract are expensed when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. EXREFMBOE @&
(m) Inventories and other contract costs m HELEREMERBRAE
(Continued) ()

(ii) Other contract costs (Continued)

(i) RMzAkE

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if
the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or
enhance resources that will be used to
provide goods or services in the future;
and are expected to be recovered. Costs
that relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract may include direct
labour, direct materials, allocations of
costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable
to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the Group entered
into the contract (for example, payments
to sub-contractors). Other costs of
fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets, are
expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Impairment losses
are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost
asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining
amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the
goods or services to which the asset
relates, less (ii) any costs that relate
directly to providing those goods or
services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract
costs is charged to profit or loss when
the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised. The accounting policy for
revenue recognition is set out in Note
2(v).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 e AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RSN, BLARWSIR)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Contract assets

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see Note 2(v)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(l)(i) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional (see Note 2(0)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a
contract asset (see Note 2(n)).

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant  financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method and including an allowance for credit losses
(see Note 2(l)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set
out in Note 2(l)(i).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWS1IR)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(s)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial
recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured
initially at fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see Note 2(y)).

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost
of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts
are stated at their present values.

(ii) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date using the
binomial lattice model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options,
the total estimated fair value of the
options is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that
the options will vest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BR A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

Employee benefits

(ii)

(iii)

Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of
share options that is expected to vest is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior
years is charged/credited to the profit or
loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The
equity amount is recognised in the capital
reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares
issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination
benefits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)
2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to business
combinations, and items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the vyear, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting year, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits
that may support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the
reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse either in the same year as
the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in years into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a year, or years, in which the tax loss or credit can
be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA TS ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BR A RIS, BLARWSIR)
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting
nor taxable profit (provided that they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of
reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of
realization or settlement of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting year and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it
becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the

distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities,
if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future year in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and
settle the current tax liabilities on a net
basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BR A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or
the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods, the
provision of services in the ordinary course of the
Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product or service is transferred to the customer,
at the amount of promised consideration to
which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax
or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

0] Sale of software systems

When the outcome of a service contract
can be reasonably measured, revenue
from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-
cost method, i.e., based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to
date to the estimated total costs.

When the outcome of the contract cannot
be reasonably measured, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

(i)  Render of technical services

Revenue from the rendering of technical
services is recognised over time as the
services are provided. The stage of
completion for determining the amount of
revenue to recognise is assessed based on
work performed.

(iii)  Sale of products

Revenue is recognised when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the
products. If the products are a partial
fulfilment of a contract covering other
goods and/or services, then the amount of
revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price
under the contract, allocated between all
the goods and services promised under
the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
(iv)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate s
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of
the asset (see Note 2(I)(i)).

(w) Government grant

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are recognised
as deferred income and consequently recognised
in profit or loss over the useful life of the related
asset.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting year. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated wusing the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that
are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair
value was measured.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

(y)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated
into RMB, the Group’s presentation currency, at
the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position
items are translated into RMB at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting  year. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulation
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.
Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended wuse or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or
completed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA TS ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(z) Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(a)

(b)

(c)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the

Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is
a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (i);

a person identified in (i)(a) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that individual in
their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(aa)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RAF5 SRR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

3.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting

policies,

management has made the following

accounting judgements.

(a)

(b)

Service contracts

As explained in Notes 2(n) and 2(v)(i), revenue
recognition on an uncompleted service project is
dependent on estimating the total outcome of
the service contract, as well as the work done to
date. Based on the Group’s recent experience
and the nature of the service activity undertaken
by the Group, the Group makes estimates of the
point at which it considers the work is sufficiently
advanced such that the costs to complete and
revenue can be reliably estimated. As a result,
until this point is reached the amounts due from
customers for contract work as disclosed in Note
16 will not include profit which the Group may
eventually realise from the work done to date. In
addition, actual outcomes in terms of total cost
or revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting year, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets

The impairment provisions for trade receivables
and contract assets based on assumptions about
the expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history,
existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. For details of the key assumptions and
inputs used, see Note 27(a). Changes in these
assumptions and estimations could materially
affect the result of the assessment and it may be
necessary to make additional impairment charge
to the profit or loss.

(c) Provision for inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net
realisable value. Management estimates the net
realisable value based on the current market
condition and historical experience of similar
nature. Any change in the assumptions would
increase or decrease the amount of inventories
write-down or the related reversals of write-
downs and affect the Group’s net asset value.
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the
inventories at each reporting period end date to
determine whether the inventories are carried at
the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

3.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

()

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment, and
intangible asset may not be recoverable, the
asset may be considered “impaired”, and an
impairment loss may be recognised in accordance
with accounting policy for impairment of
property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets as described in Note 2(l)(ii). These assets
are tested for impairment periodically or
whenever the events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their recorded carrying amounts
may not be recoverable.

When such a decline has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
determining the value in use, expected future
cash flows generated by the asset are discounted
to their present value, which requires significant
judgment relating to the level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions and
projections of the level of revenue and amount
of operating costs. Changes in these estimates
could have a significant impact on the
recoverable amount of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or reversal
of impairment in future years.

Income tax

The Group calculates current taxation based on
the taxable income for the year using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting year, and after taking into
consideration whether the Group has satisfied
the conditions as stipulated in the tax rules and
regulations which may result in the Group be
able to enjoy certain preferential tax rates and
tax allowable deductions. Such preferential tax
rates and tax allowable deductions are subject to
the approvals by the relevant tax authorities in
the following fiscal year. Actual current taxation
maybe higher or lower than estimated at the end
of the reporting year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a)

Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the design,
implementation, enhancement and upgrades of
software and solutions and the provision of
technical services for power grid and distribution
companies in the PRC and the sale of products.
Further details regarding the Group’s principal
activities are disclosed in Note 4(b).

(i) Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers within the scope of IFRS 15
by major service lines is as follows:

4.

N Fe o SR o
(@ WA

SR B A B A KL
NG BT BT R TR
PSR TT 5 BT A, AL
SHARE M. A B A G P 2 Y
e 2D RGN REA (o) H5 R -

() #A#HH

T B R 2 i 7 YE R 55 15 9%
MENEER BRNERS

Sale of software and solutions SHER IR A K R T &
Provision of technical services TR IR %
Sale of products PR T

Revenue from customers with whom
transactions have exceeded 10% of the
Group’s revenue are set out below:

FWN #5340
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFou N
81,143 41,164
239,743 202,862
55,818 49,640
376,704 293,666

A& 5y FAAL A BN 10%
D Ay S NG 71

Customer A BFA
Customer B ZFB
Customer C P C
Customer C P C

Details of concentration of credit risk arising
from the customers are set out in Note 27(a).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

4,

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a)

(b)

Revenue

(ii) Revenue expected to be recognised in the

future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting
date

The Group has applied the practical
expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 to its
contracts for revenue from sale of software
and solutions, provision of technical
services and sale of products such that the
financial information does not include
information about revenue, that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the
remaining performance obligations under
the contracts had an original expected
duration of one year or less.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by
business lines. In @ manner consistent with
the way in which the information is
reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following three reportable
segments. No operating segments have
been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments:

- Software and solutions: this segment
engages in the design, implementation,
enhancement and upgrades of software
systems for power grid and distribution
companies.

- Technical services: this segment engages

in the provision of maintenance services
on the software systems sold.

- Products: this segment sells software
systems related hardware and spare parts.
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RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

4,

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(b)

Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources
between segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitor the results
attributable to each reportable segment on
the following basis:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to
revenue generated by those segments and
the expenses incurred by those segments.
The measure used for reporting segment
profit is gross profit. In addition to receiving
segment information concerning gross profit,
management is provided with segment
information concerning inter segment sales.
Inter-segment sales are priced with
reference to prices charged to external
parties for similar orders. The Group’s other
income and expense items, such as other
income, selling expenses, administrative
and other operating expenses, and assets
and liabilities, including the sharing of
technical know-how, are not measured
under individual segments. Accordingly,
neither information on segment assets and
liabilities nor information concerning capital
expenditure, interest income and interest
expenses is presented.
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R 35 AR B 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br A RIS, BLARWSIR)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)
Information regarding the Group’s

reportable segments as provided to the
Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the

N igsiE e
(b) 7AEHE D

(i)

G HEE BEERAEMF
€

H BB E 20224 % 20214F3 A
31H IRE R IR T AL
TSN B LB & U5 A ET
i 3 05 2 3L A A1 (98] AT R R 4y

] B
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 is set HERORHB T
out below.
2022
Provision of
Sale of software technical Sale of
and solutions services products Total
BB R RAHANTR
Ui % SHEER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%EFm AR AR AREFr
Disaggregated by NI
timing of revenue recognition I ] 8y
- Over time - B 81,143 239,743 . 320,886
- Point in time - I B - 55,818 55,818
Revenue from external customers L ERIN % 9STION
and reportable segment revenue PEIEETE 9N 81,143 239,743 55,818 376,704
Reportable segment gross profit LS Syl 20,473 59,051 8,748 88,272
2021
Provision of
Sale of software technical Sale of
and solutions services products Total
SHEA: R ik ROEBiHTR
Ui ¥ HEER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%FT AREFT ARETFL
Disaggregated by FRNTER
timing of revenue recognition ] #y
. VA
- Over time -HS 41,164 202,862 - 244,026
- Pointin ti SR
Point in time B 2 ) ) 49,640 49,640
Revenue from external customers HKESNBE PN
and reportable segment revenue SR 41,164 202,862 49,640 293,666
Reportable segment gross profit R ER 14,051 46,696 6,200 66,947
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment
results to consolidated profit before
taxation

4.

N igsiE e
(b) 7AEHE D

(i) ATHHE A B E BRI SR
BT A R 21

Segment results WA

Other income FAbN

Financial costs Rl AR

Selling expenses sHEEH

Administrative and other ATE R HoAth
operating expenses wEEH

Impairment loss on trade B 5 ECHKIE K
receivables and contract assets & [FI& PE IR E E 15

Share of profits of an associate

Consolidated profit before taxation LR B BRAL T )

(iii)  Geographic information

All the Group’s operations are carried
out and the Group’s customers are
located in the PRC. The Group’s non-
current assets, including property,
plant and equipment and intangible
assets are all located or allocated to
operations located in the PRC.

5. OTHERINCOME

JEEAL — [ H e A

5.

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%EFm NGNS T
88,272 66,947
2,195 217
(1,787) (637)
(5,503) (7,223)
(49,182) (33,213)
(8,360) (697)
179 13
25,814 25,407

(i) A &H
AR A AT ST AR SR

M FHA R, A%
MARRENE E (R, W
B B s A ST B ) AL

Refund of value added tax (“VAT”)
(Note (i) (#t(i))

Gains on changes in fair value of
wealth management products
(Note18(iii))

Others HoAth
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2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T U AR T
1,917 -
120 125
158 92
2,195 217
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

6.

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(a)

Staff costs”

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Contributions to defined ] 558 LR AR
contribution retirement scheme AT HHE K

Equity-settled share-based DARE 2 45
payment expenses NN

The employees of the subsidiaries of the
Group established in the PRC (other than
Hong Kong) participate in a defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme
managed by the local government authority,
whereby these subsidiaries are required to
contribute to the scheme at a rate of 16% of
the employees’ basic salaries. Employees of
these subsidiaries are entitled to retirement
benefits, calculated based on a percentage
of the average salaries level in the PRC
(other than Hong Kong), from the above-
mentioned retirement scheme at their
normal retirement age.

Pursuant to RenShebufa [2020] No.11 and
No.49 Notice on the periodic reduction and
exemption of corporate social insurance
premiums ( #1BE B 0 5 45 3E FE B R B B
H7i#49]), from February 2020 to December
2020, the subsidiaries of the Group as
middle-sized companies defined by
Classified Statistics of Large, Medium, Small
and Micro Enterprises (2017) issued by
National Bureau of Statistics were entitled
to an exemption of contributions to defined
contribution retirement plan during the
year.

The Group has no further obligation for
payment of other retirement benefits
beyond the above contributions.

B, L8 K HAbER]

CUIBEAR A 2B
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B AL AT R
FRAE R ER A CANER T 5114 I5

(a) BT

| 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%Tn AR T

35,924 26,619

2,823 280

15 78

38,762 26,977

AEFAFRE CREFEEE) BT
) B JB o D D B 22 B B BUR B
8 L ) S A SR R AR T 1,
Bk, RGP A R ZE R B
P4 16% HILLE P ZET #I ALK, 1
L B R 0 B A SE JiE IE H IR AR
FEEERA R LR IB ARG #fE R
B (NS EE) FRHEKTEE
o R SRIRR ARAR R .

R4 A At #6 5% (2020111 9% [ 49 9% [
T e B I A A 3 4 DR B 2 7
I, H2020452 A it F 2020 5 12
A, REBMMKEAR (ERHBEEK
el RIBEME (HEF LR
e 2EH) 43 15 (2017)) FE I h R
) TGRSR T A OB R
ALK
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(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

6.

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION(Continued)

(b) Otheritems

6.

BRART A (8D

Depreciation and amortisation?

(Notes 11 and 12)

Impairment loss on trade receivables
, contract assets and other receivables

(Note 16, Notel7 and Note 18)
Operating lease charges in respect

of office premises
Auditors’ remuneration:

— Statutory audit services
Research and development costs
(other than amortisation)
Outsourced labour cost?

Cost of inventories sold* (Note 15)

# Cost of

inventories sold

g L e
CBFEE 11 F 12)
P IESCRIE, SRS E
Je A RIS IR AR s 48
(PH7E 16,17 K 18)
A RA R EE
FESCH
(A SGIITTI e
152 AL
XD %N
CHESH R A1)
NIIHME A
CVE A B A (B AT 15)

include

RMB229,600,000 (2021: RMB178,078,000)
relating to staff costs, outsourced labor cost,

and depreciation and
respectively, which

amounts

amortisation,
are also

included in the respective total amounts
disclosed separately above or in Note 6(a)

for each of these types of expenses.
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(b) HAIEH
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET G NS
13,475 15,126
8,360 697
2,675 1,514
2,885 2,830
29,138 12,297
191,839 149,602
287,484 225,631
O 17 B 4 ) 3
HHE TRRA. b A
TR A UL A 5 i

&5 N R % 229,600,000
JG (2021 &+ AN &
178,078,0007C), f7 4
BRI L SCE M FE6(a)
R TE LS BB K
A B #E AH RBE SR I 48
s
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 7. SR BEEARNKPIER

PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit

(b)

or loss represent:

(a) AFERBMENKMIEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT PN T
Current tax - PRC Corporate RIHARRIE — B {3
Income Tax (Note 25(a)) Fris e (s 25(a))
- Provision for the year HE DY H 5,904 4,755
- Under Provision in respect -DLRGAE B AN 2
of prior years 114 71
Deferred Tax IRFERLIE
- Origination and reversal of B2
temporary differences PR R A3 ] (2,225) (274)
3,793 4,552

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

(b) BEHZEABREFHEKBRIER X

SRR 2 [ FT AR :

2022
RMB’000

2021
RMB’000

AR¥Tu ARt

Profit before taxation IRl 25,814 25,407
Expected tax on profit before o 58 i VA ) 79 T

taxation, calculated at the g,

rates applicable in 125 B A A RE

the jurisdictions concerned 105 FH 1) R A B A

(Notes (i), (i) and (iii)) CBEEEG)~ (i) K (i) 6,700 6,785
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses N AT KA1 BH 7 [ R TE 5 48 409 1,024
Tax effect of non-taxable income DFZERRAION A TH 5 2 (45) (3)

-Share of profits of an associate -JRE A — [ B > ) Y (45) (3)
Tax effect on bonus deduction of HF3E A N R

research and development costs L IE R &

(Note (iv)) QEEAD) (4,023) (2,904)
Effect of tax losses not recognised AR AR TE B TR I s 2 2,046 1,824
Tax concessions (Notes (v)) IR % (FREw) (1,294) (2,174)
Actual tax expense B FERIAB 3 3,793 4,552
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7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime of the
subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in
Hong Kong is applicable from the year of
assessment 2019/20 onwards. The profits tax
rate for the first Hong Kong Dollars (“HKS$”)
2,000,000 of profits of corporations will be
lowered to 8.25%, and profits above that
amount will continue to be subject to the tax
rate of 16.5%.

The Company and the subsidiaries of the
Group incorporated outside of the PRC are
not subject to any income tax pursuant to the
rules and regulations of their respective
countries of incorporation.

The subsidiaries of the Group established in
Mainland China are subject to PRC Corporate
Income Tax rate of 25% for the year ended 31
March 2022 (2021: 25%).

According to the relevant tax rules in the PRC,
qualified research and development
expenditures, are allowed for bonus
deduction for income tax purpose, i.e., an
additional 75% of such expenditures is
deemed to be deductible expenses.

The subsidiaries of the Group established in
the PRC, Along Grid (b5t % BAME 5 BHE A TR
A H]) and Aipu Zhicheng (db 58 33 55 5l 49 4%
B AR A7), have obtained an approval
from the State Taxation Administration to be
taxed as enterprises with advanced and new
technologies, and therefore enjoy a
preferential PRC Corporate Income Tax rate of
15% for the period from 15 October 2019 to
14 October 2022.
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(b) Bi%EMAREREE RIS
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(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

NEIBCNEE- YRRy e S
2019/20F R P AE BRI . %
gt C [#Jc5] ) 2,000,0007C
LRI R SRR R e N
£8.25%, 1M HH I 5% SRR 1)
T 4 480 P 16.5% AR K

AR LA R ST T AE [ 5K
(RIALR KA, A m) e ASE
[ r BB 5 bt e A ol N )
W@~ BRRSANET TR
i

HZFE2022F3H31HILFE,
AEE B A H B R B T 1) BB
> ] ZE 1 25% I A0 AR B
3 T 18 M (2021 4F .
25%) .

g BARR RO AR, A3
AT 5 B SOREME R AR AT R0
Pras A, BIA B B S AR A
75% R LA AT RN BA S .
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FIAAE S I AN S B
FR A &) O RS SR LA 2
TR AR A SE AR IE, AR
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8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EHH

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information

RIE (BFHBAFMGE) F383(1) & (A
F O (BEEEER R ) B2
M EHH T

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Salaries, Retirement
Director’s allowances scheme Share-based
fees contributions payments Total
e, DUGIF -2
EENSE RERBEWFIR BARRTEIERR SEREN A
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT
Executive Directors HfTEE
Mr WANG Dongbin  F $xk 6L 292 481 53 - 826
Mr WU Hongyuan it se4: 97 700 53 - 850
Mr LI Kangying I e 292 450 - - 742
Mr WU Zhanjiang ~ SRBRITSGAE 97 642 53 - 792
INEDs BLEPATESF
Mr NG Kong Fat LS. et 97 B 102
Mr HAN Bin WA 97 - 102
Mr WANG Peng EleE 97 - 102
1,069 2,273 159 15 3,516
2021
Salaries, Retirement
Director’s allowances scheme Share-based
fees and BIK contributions payments Total
e, AR A 2 E
EFEES RURBYH & BAKFTEIfRK SIREN ame
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETT
Executive Directors ¥{TES
Mr WANG Dongbin B e E 316 444 44 - 804
Mr WU Hongyuan Syt ifiseE 105 712 13 - 830
Mr LI Kangying FHRSGE 316 - 316
Mr WU Zhanjiang ~ ®ERITEA 105 600 13 - 718
INEDs BILEBITES
Mr NG Kong Fat RS 105 26 131
Mr HAN Bin T L 105 26 131
Mr WANG Peng FMGe A4 105 26 131
1,157 1,756 70 78 3,061
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8.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors during the years as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. There was no arrangement under which a
director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
two (2021: two) are directors whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments
in respect of the remaining highest paid individuals
are as follows:

8. HEHFHM (B

AR [ A TR S ) SE SO, A
W51 FI N SN S A e T B ) i T
PR EN, BEE SRS R
TBCEEAE T I ) 22 -

9. ERFIMAL

Tt g M R A, (20214 W
1) FEHEMH A FEe R . & T it
TN ) I AR R R

Salaries and other emoluments Wi 4 S A N
Discretionary bonuses W15 AEAL
Retirement scheme contributions JBAGT B

The emoluments of the individuals who are not
directors and who are amongst the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are within the following band:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%Tn AR T8
2,509 2,194

- 486

156 30

2,665 2,710

Tyl H R AR I T A e v I L
Fr AT T 5IE I -

2022 2021
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
Remuneration Bands i 4 3 [ AB ANE
HKD nil to HKD1,000,000 FWoe  [#76]) ) & 1,000,000 #C 1 2
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 # G4 1,500,000 #7C 2 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to these
individuals during the year as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

147

AR [ £ P U A0 1 P S N SR
A 2T 51 AN BN 5 A 42 [ Ry 1) 37 T
Pl A 5 -



Notes to the Financial Statements

PATSERR M RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI AREISN, ARSI

10.

EARNINGS/(LOSSES) PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings/(losses) per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to the equity shareholders of
the Company of RMB22,021,000 (2021:
RMB20,855,000) and the weighted average of
495,415,177 ordinary shares (2021: 495,415,177
shares) in issue during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares is
calculated as follows:

Number of shares in issue at 1 April B4 A1 HMEETRDEE
Effect of shares repurchased 06 1B e - s 28
(Note26(d)) (MHE 26 (d) )

Weighted average number of
shares in issue T ERAT I IIRE T 3 8

Diluted earnings per share

No diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2022 was presented as there were no potential
ordinary shares in existence during this year.
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10. |EREMN,/ GERD

() BWREAEF, (BR)

A 202243 31 H I F A A
i PR 48 A 20 ) RE o A BRI A s RN
L #22,021,00075(20214F: A A #E
20,855,0007G) A T 95 47 M3 i n i~ 3%
#7495,415,177 [ (2021 4F : 495,415,177
i)t E .

e E T BT F R

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
NG NG T
503,927,177 505,211,177
(9,796,000)

(8,512,000)
495,415,177 495,415,177

(b) AR R

A A 5 B ANAF R A, Mk
KA # E20224E3 H 31 H ILFEFE &
JE A A2
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11. M. BB K
Motor vehicles,
office
equipment
and other Leasehold Right-of-use
equipment improvement assets Total
N
MARER
Fohtnt i MEBE (il 3293 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T76 AR T ANRH Tt ANRHT 7T
Cost: AR
At 1 April 2020 20204 4H1H 2,404 25,139 451 27,994
Additions NE 459 - 1,504 1,963
Disposals W (885) - (451) (1,336)
At 31 March 2021 202143 131 H 1,978 25,139 1,504 28,621
Additions nE 128 - - 128
Disposals EE (186) - - (186)
At 31 March 2022 202243 H31H o 1%0 25139 1504 28,563
Less: Accumulated
depreciation: W BETHE:
At 31 March 2020 202043 A31H 1,616 2,867 1 4,594
Charge for the year FNB 381 1,028 454 1,863
Written back on disposals HH A 17 43 [ (869) - (209) (1,078)
At 31 March 2021 202143 A31H 1,128 3,895 356 5,379
Charge for the year ENRSE 397 1,028 625 2,050
Written back on disposals oA 17 43 [ (180) - - (180)
At 31 March 2022 202243 H31H 134 4923 91 7,249
Less: Impairment loss: W WEER:
R 202044 H1H,
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 F12022 E 3 A 31
2021 and 2022 H T 13618 S 13,618
Net book value: BRTE A -
At 31 March 2022 20223 H 31 H 575 6,598 523 7,696
At 31 March 2021 202143 H31H 850 7,626 1,148 9,624
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11. . W AafE
The leasehold improvement mainly represents that *ﬂg&tﬁiﬁ%zk’%@*%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁjiﬂ?ﬂ
one of the Group’s subsidiaries has entered into an SV I AT A B LTS B & 3T 3L a2 B
agreement with Committee on Economy and Ry EALOME AR I RE . 5% 88 8 =1 BT
Informatisation of Mentougou District to obtain the PG RE LS AL e 0 T AR B %

right of use of light poles for 10 years. The subsidiary
renovated the poles to provide smart city
infrastructure service.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, management has 4202243 A31HIL4ER, FHE O &
performed an impairment assessment of the Cash eSS R e BAL ( [TREE
Generating Units (“CGU”) of leasehold improvement ABEAL ) FUE s AT IRAE B AL, W AE
based on the prevailing circumstances and determined RGBS R T s s T 4 A A BT
the recoverable amount of the CGU of leasehold & s T R 4 sE . R 20224F, 0 MERE
improvement by using discounted <cash flow TR (20214F: 4E) .

techniques. No further impairment was recognised in
2022 (2021:Nil).
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Management has

performed an

impairment

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12. |G E
Software and
patents
HR A 2 2R
RMB’000
ANR¥ET I
Cost: %
At 1 April 2020 A 20204 H1H 94,211
Additions WE 4,069
At 31 March 2021 #2021 423 H 31 H 98,280
Additions WE 2,938
At 31 March 2022 j#202243 4324 101,218
Less: Accumulated amortisation: W RETEH:
At 1 April 2020 A 20204 H1H 34,950
Charge for the year EN L 13,263
At 31 March 2021 #2021 43 4 31 H 48,213
Charge for the year FNR X 11,425
At 31 March 2022 202243434 59,638
Less: Impairment losses: W: WEER:
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 7202044 H 1 H, 2021 Fl
2022 20223431944 22,418
Net book value: IR T VR
At 31 March 2022 72022423 31 H 19,162
At 31 March 2021 #2021 423 H 31 H 27,649

B L B I () U AT B A AT R

assessment of intangible assets based on the
prevailing circumstances, and determined the
recoverable amount of the intangible assets by
using discounted cash flow techniques. No
further impairment was recognised in 2022
(2021:Nil).

A, P ARSI SR E R R e | R A
FrTU el & %8 . A20224F, W SRR IE — DU
{d (20217F: 48) .

The amortisation charges are included in “cost of
sales” in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss.

S B SCRt N AR A HRAER I (SRR ] V.
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13. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or
liabilities of the Group.

13. PRRB AT RIRE

TRE| EELEA LS, BENA

RIS 2 7] 1

Proportion of ownership interest

F A RERE A L %
Place and Particulars of
date of registered/ issued  The Group’s

Name of establishment/ and paid-up effective Held by the Held bya  Principal

subsidiaries incorporation capital interest Company subsidiary  activities
JROL /S M /BT R AL — [l Ff

AT 4 LV MRRAHE SN AAARAE  ATHA  TEEH

Along Grid (L3t E The PRC RMB126,136,174 100% - 100% Design,

IR IR A ) 25 May 2011 NS implementation,
(Note (i) HiH 126,136,174 7t enhancement and
Jer B IR 011F5525H upgrades of software

HRAE (HEEG) systems and the
provision of technical
services and the sale
of products

BCINE N 1Sl
AT R R
RS LA B S 65

First Magic The British Virgin 1 share of 100% 100% Investment holding
International Limited Islands US$1 each e et d
(“First Magic”) 9 June 2015 1 R

First Magic By et 1 RTTImA
International Limited 2015E6 F9H

( [First Magic] )

Citimax Development Hong Kong 1 share 100% - 100% Investment holding
Limited (“Citimax 26 January 2016 1 IR Eraeidie
Development”) i

13 B TR IR A ] 201617526 H

CIR#ER] )

Aipu Zhicheng The PRC RMB81,050,000 100% - 100% Investment,

(b5 R A %% 27 December 2013 NG construction and

RHARAR) Lt 81,050,000 JC operation of smart
(Note (ii)) 013F 12 F27H city infrastructure

AL A B
HIRAR HEE)
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13.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

13.

REBAFTRE ()

Proportion of ownership interest

B A R i LR
Particulars of
Place and registered/
date of issued and The Group’s
Name of establishment/ paid-up effective Held by the Held bya  Principal
subsidiaries incorporation capital interest Company subsidiary  activities
s B
TR
JROL/ G RS A BRI AE AREEE —[HI PR B
Bt o3 A ] 44 7% JH 15 HEMEL  AQXEEA NRIFEE  FEER
Great Progress The British 1 share of 100% 100% Inve?tment
holding
International Limited Virgin Islands USS1 each EaZete
(“Great Progress”) 23 October 2018 1 AR T E
PR AR A E B RS 1 ETH B
( Tk ) 2018 10 § 23 H
. o o Investment
Main Smart (H.K.) Hong Kong 1 share 100% 100% holding
Limited 13 April 2016 1 A Eva-ccilile
(“Main Smart”) i
Wi (i) 20164 F13H
BIRAE (THA%) )
Mingan Zhicheng The PRC HKD20,000,000 100% 100% Inve§tment
holding
(bt B2 Rk 26 November 2018 20,000,000 ;% e Ce el
RHECA TR i
(Note (i) 2018 11 § 26 H
BB
AT (HEEEI)
Mingan Waulian The PRC RMB20,202,000 100% 100% Investment
holding
(b 2 B e 5 December 2018 NG Eva-calila
RHEARAT) i 20,202,000 T¢
(Note (i) 2018412 B51
Je AR
ARAE (FEEG)
Notes: B EE
(i) The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The ()  EBBE T ARmA T AR, AR

(i)

English name is for identification purpose only.
These entities were registered as a wholly
foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC.

The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The
English name is for identification purpose only.
These entities were registered as domestic
enterprise in the PRC.
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14. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

The following is the particulars of the associate, which
is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market
price is not available:

14. A—HBE A F KR

TRAZEE AR, HATE R
TOHE, RS TR A

The
Form of Place of Group’s
business establishment Particulars of effective Principal
Name of associate structure and business  paid-up capital interest activities
ES7 FRAL K CEE  AEEM
Wi A A 44 7 LI 487 Hh B AT R FEHET
Beijing Beikong Limited Liability =~ PRC RMB16,400,020 36.59% Development of
Zhike Energy Company EE NRH smart city and
Internet Company HIRAH 16,400,020 G energy internet
Limited# T R R EIR T 2
Bt~y RN RE 5 LI
HLIAEA PR A F
# English translation for identification only.
Summarised information of the associate: BB AT B RINEE.
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ANRHT 75
Amounts of associate in the BEIMBERR S
consolidated financial statements B AR &S
Gains from continuing operations FRAE AR SETB U A 489 35
Total comprehensive income ATHI W A AR A 489 35
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15. INVENTORIES AND CONTRACT COSTS

15. HREGFRRAE

Products JEE i
Software systems under development TERF IR R &

The analysis of the amounts of inventories
recognised as expenses is as follows:

2021 4E

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT NGNS T
277

14,470 12,231
14,474 12,508

FERR A B S A BB BT I T

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT ANR# T8
Cost of inventories sold CEfEERAE 287,484 225,631
Write-down of inventories and 8 RA R A
other contract costs BRAE ME A 658 137
288,142 225,768
16. CONTRACT ASSETS 16. AHEEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%EFT NG

Arising from performance under JBATE P AR T EA
contracts with customers 48,910 40,331
Less: loss allowance W B HRE A 857 730
48,053 39,601

The amount of contract assets that is expected to
be recovered after more than one vyear is
RMB4,969,000 at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021:
RMB4,957,000), all of which relates to retentions.
All of the other contracts assets are expected to
be recovered within one year.
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17. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES 17. B 5 EWGEKIE R BN E

| 2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ANRH¥ET I8
Trade receivables A 5 EWGRIH 305,004 219,915
Bill receivables (Note) JECEERE (Bt 6,800 2,184
311,804 222,099
Less: loss allowance R TR 16,353 9,953
295,451 212,146
Note: BT
As at 31 March 2022, bill receivables of éji%zozz&:sﬁsla: V&= YN
RMB6,761,000 have been pledged to banks to 6,761,0007C T I $RAT 4T, RS AR EE [
secure bank borrowings to the Group. PEULERAT A SR I LR
(a) Ageing analysis (a) FRECDHT
The ageing analysis of trade and bill A [ B 5y G T B JE
receivables, based on the invoice date and T 5% 5 H O A0 B s PR B A
net of loss allowance, of the Group is as 1% RIS 7T A T
follows:
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AT
Less than 1 year DR — 272,653 191,564
1to 2 years —Z W 17,057 15,995
2to 3 years [ —s 5,741 4,587
Over 3 years =4 E - -
295,451 212,146
The Group generally requires customers to AREH —FERE FRESF
settle progress billings and retention 4% 0 T A A R N AR B
receivables in accordance with contracted HOIE, 5 AT R A K
terms. Credit terms of 90 days may be HEFE T 0K (S 11
granted to certain customers for progress
billings.
Further details on the Group’s credit policy HRAEEEEBEENE S M
and credit risk arising from trade and bills U 3 Py P A S Y LR 1) 3
receivable are set out in Note 27(a). — BRI 27(a) .
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18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. FEMTHUR. #&RIAREEIR

Amounts due from related parties
(Note (i)

Amounts due from third parties
(Note (ii))

Prepayment for technical service fee

Staff advances and other deposits

VAT refundable

Prepayment for miscellaneous
expenses

Wealth management products
(Note (iii))

Others

Less: loss allowance

JEWAC B i 75 K CHEREG))

TSR =75 KR
CBRRE(i)

BT RS i TEAT O

B T8GR HAR 1

AR EA

oAb B S TN AT

PR E i
CRfRE (i)
HAth

W SRS

All of other trade and other receivables are

| 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥TT
38 1,538

- 6,206

1,394 1,827

4,535 4,994

- 811

1,050 460

- 9,125

875 1,889

7,892 26,850

1,833 -

6,059 26,850

expected to be recovered or recognised as
expense within one year.

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 March 2022, the loan granted to
Beijing Beikong Zhike Energy Internet
Company Limited has been repaid in
March 2022.

As at 31 March 2022, the loan principal
has been repaid in April 2021.

As at 31 March 2022, the wealth
management product has been redeemed.
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW

INFORMATION

(a)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash at bank and on hand SRAT

BRI <5 4

4
Less: restricted cash W BRI 4

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group’s operations in the PRC
(excluding Hong Kong) are conducted in
RMB. RMB is not a freely convertible
currency and the remittance of RMB out of
the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) is subject to
the relevant rules and regulations of the
foreign exchange controls promulgated by
the PRC government.

Restricted cash includes nil as at 31 March
2022 (31 March 2021: RMB260,000) of cash
deposits pledged to banks for the
performance guarantee in relation to
certain sales contracts, and RMB9,327,000
(31 March 2021: RMB9,720,000) of bank
balance which has been pledged for the
loan from the bank.

SRATAE AN B AF IR
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e kBeFRMEI MBS
RERHR

(@)

RMB’000

AR¥TT

ReEkReFHEMELRE:

2021
RMB’000
AR¥T I
31,703

9,980

37,924
9,327

28,597 21,723

AR SR A A ] (A A A T )
MEHUNRBEET. A
R 3T At SR &
W, RE HH R (S GG )
(¥ ¥ < 32 Hh B U A5 1
A BEE 7 1) [38] A5 F) A 46 451
PITRERR .

2022463 31 H Z R & 4
AH AR # 070202143 H
31H: 260,0007C A F )6
A E RSN R
9,327,000 JG (2021 4F:3 H 31
H: 9,720,000 7C)8R 1T & ik
BRI
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW 19. & ABESENEIMBEEREE R
INFORMATION (Continued) (%)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) BUEIEENEER AEBR:

activities:

N REE A R [ R A AT B
WE), MR NKAETE&ST)., MK
TE I AR I AR MIEAR R B A T4

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash

and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from MERSEAMESEIEERHERE
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows M B4 B B 2R B & 9 = (AR I A
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the &,

Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash

flows from financing activities.

Net amount
due to et amount Lease
duetoa Bank loans o
reIat'ed il e liabilities
parties
BHBES L . .
M BHAK AERHR a5
! by
bk
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
(Note 21) (Note 21) (Note 22) (Note 23)
(Hi5E 21) (Bi5E 21) (BisE 22) (Bi5E 23)
At 1 April 2021 R2214471H 9,559 6,926 31,267 1,142 48,894
Changes from financing MERLHE
cash flows: 2.
Proceeds from new borrowings  Hfti ki ik IE . 7,640 53,177 - 60,817
Repayment of bank loans BIRRITRR . . (36,924) - (36,924)
Repayment of amount HRENE = -
due to third parties I . (13,712) - (13,712)
Capital element of lease O SRS
rentals paid - - (527) (527)
Interest element of lease DR B
rentals paid - - - (35) (35)
Interest paid O - - (1,752) - (1,752)
Total changes from BN &R E -
financing cash flows goewm oo ey o wse o (562) 7,867
Other Changes: Hihgg).
Interest expenses FE B - - 1,752 35 1,787
Total other changes NLE - - . 35 1781
At 31 March 2022 R202%3H31H 9,559 854 47,520 615 58,548
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BRekBREFEMEIMBE
RERR (8D

(b) RERVEEIEAMAEEER B .

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW 19.
INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued):

Net amount
dueto Net amount
related duetoa Lease
parties third party Bank loans liabilities Total
[Ef—4
JEAT BT H=JIH
FIRF B RATER HEAE i
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHT G AR ANRHET T ARHT 6 ANRHET T
(Note 21) (Note 21) (Note 22) (Note 23)
(PHE 21) (& 21) (P 22) (Bt 23)
At 1 April 2020 R 202044F 1H 9,559 1,000 13,000 344 23,903
Changes from financing RERERE
cash flows: g,
Proceeés from new 55l 3 57 17340 39,067 i
borrowings 56,407
Repayment of bank loans BIERTER - (20,800) - (20,800)
Repayment of amount BB = -
due to third parties HIE (9,944) - (9,944)
Capital element of lease OIS ALY -
rentals paid - (456) (456)
Interest element of lease AT AR EH -
rentals paid - - (42) (42)
Other borrowings cost paid CAT LA A - (1,129) - (1,129)
Total changes from RhER SR E
financing cash flows SRE)AAH 7,396 17,138 (498) 24,036
Other Changes: A2 a).
Interest expenses FEB - 1,129 4 1,171
Increase in lease liabilities R AL
from
entering into new leases T m A & )
during the year Ak - 1,504 1,504
If):):rr]ease in lease liabilities PR T
disposal during the year A A fE - (250) (250)
Others HAth (1,470) (1,470)
Total other changes At - (40 1129 129% 955
At 31 March 2021 ﬁé\ 2021 %£3 H31H 9,559 6,926 31,267 1,142 48,894
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20. TRADE PAYABLES 20. E5EMEIE

| 2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tom NG
Trade payables to related parties JEAT BRI 5 1 2 2 K H 2,728 -
Trade payables to third parties JEAFSE =T & 5 3K IH 92,499 67,516
95,227 67,516
All of the trade payables are expected to be B B 5 EA A IETE A — 4 N
settled within one year or are repayable on BB A BRI IR .
demand.
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade AR B S 2 H I 5 AT 3
payables, based on the invoice date, is as TEHEES i -
follows:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%Tn ANR#F I
Less than 1 year DA —4E 71,831 64,232
1to 2 years — ZE R 21,388 2,636
2to 3 years P 2 A 1,361 136
Over 3 years AR 647 512
95,227 67,516
21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21, HAhEATKIA K ERT B SC
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T1 NG T
Amounts due to related parties JHEAST B8 55 5 TR
(Note 28(c)) CPf&E 28(c)) 9,559 9,559
Amounts due to a third party JEAT S = TJ5 78 854 6,926
Other taxes payables HoAth EAT R IH 15,102 9,615
Payables for staff related costs B AR B A M AT 500H 6,347 3,745
Lease liability (within 1 year) MEAE QEND 615 646
Others HAth 5,013 6,418
37,490 36,909
Note: B 5
As at 31 March 2022, amounts due to a third HA202243 H31H, JEATEE =)7K IH
party are unsecured, interest-free and MEHCH . AFH R KA — 4 NE
repayable within one year. i,
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22. BANK LOANS

2021
MB’000 RMB’000
AR% T NS AT

Short-term bank loans, secured

(Note (i)) CPEREG)D

Short-term bank loans, unsecured

Notes:

(i)

(i)

As at 31 March 2022, the secured short-
term bank loans comprised the following:

- The bank loan of RMB5,000,000 is
jointly guaranteed by the executive
Directors, a founder and Beijing
Haidian Sci-tech Enterprises Financing
Guarantee Co., Ltd;

- The bank loan of RMB2,300,000 is
jointly guaranteed by the executive
Director and Director’s spouse and
Beijing Cultural Technology Financing
Guarantee Co., Ltd;

- The bank loan of RMB3,500,000 is
jointly guaranteed by the executive
Directors, a founder and Beijing
Yizhuang International Financing
Guarantee Co., Ltd;

- The bank loan of RMB7,000,000 is
guaranteed by the executive Directors;

- The bank loan of RMB15,000,000 is
guaranteed by Beijing Shouchuang
Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd, the
executive Directors and a Director’s
spouse;

- The bank loan of RMB2,905,000 is
pledged by bank acceptance bills; and

- The bank loan of RMB9,000,000 is
pledged by the cash deposits of the
Company (see Note 19).

All short-term loans are repayable within
one year.
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FISRAT R O

FLIISRAT B, AR

44,705 28,500
2,815 2,767
47,520 31,267
B«
(i) A20224E3H31H, CIRIEBIHRAT

BREEWT:

- SRATEH AR 5,000,00070
HHSRAT 3 . fah Ak ot
T BB A 2E ml 4 R R
o F) L E R

- SRATEHR AR 2,300,00070
HETESR. EHFRMMIL
HOSCAL R s R A PR A
GBSk

- SRATEMR AR 3,500,00070
T E . AldA A i st
7S 5 B ik 5 95 AR A B )
LR AR

- FRAT B R\ R ¥ 7,000,000 7C
FH T 3 FH A R

- AT B A\ R % 15,000,000
JG HH b 5 A Al I AR R
NFE WATHE RN — K EF
A TR A 3 [R]85

- $R AT B # N 52,905,000 76
DLSRAT AR SO bE SE R4 DAL

- AT E N K ¥ 9,000,0007T
A A &S " (R
19).

(i) P A0 B R — 47 N R

1=



Notes to the Financial Statements

PATS SRR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI REWISN, DANRE SR

23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. MHEAMRE
The following table shows the remaining contractual N R R AL 2022463 H31H
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities as at 31 ME BENR TSR HIRI .
March 2022.
IR
Present Present
value of the . .Total value of the . .Total
. . minimum .. minimum
minimum minimum
lease lease
— ayments e payments
payments pay payments
REHE REHEE RIFFHE RIEFHE
RIERE FIRMERE SIERE RIEAERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR AREFT AREFT
Within 1 year 19N 615 620 646 656
After 1 year but within 2 years 1R H 2 £ - - 496 526
615 620 1,142 1,182
Less: total future interest expenses  ¥i: A 2 H LB 4R 5 40
Present value of lease liabilities & AJRME 615 1,142
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24. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS 24.  VDIBHEESE IR /EBRKZ S
The Company has a share option scheme which was AN T A 20184E2 A 5 H RAN I HE ST
adopted on 5 February 2018 whereby the directors are #, B, EHEREARE RS S
authorised, at their discretion, to grant eligible e e g AV Y NN B
participants option to subscribe for the shares of the By . JA20184E7H30H, AN H A
Company. On 30 July 2018, the Company offered to T& G AL (AN R ST ESR
grant share options to certain eligible persons T ST AR AT ) T A
(including executive directors and independent non- HE, LR 4 3t 26,700,000 3 A< 2
executive directors of the Company) to subscribe for a ’,\ A PR

o B gl 5, 209

total of 26,700,000 shares of the Company. For the }ﬁh ﬂaﬁ&ﬂﬁiﬁﬂ{i%ﬁm O.A)

: 2201946 30 [ s &, 73 4130% 7%
share options granted, 20% vested on 30 June 2019, P HEE, ifith SR
another 30% vested on 30 June 2020, and the 202046130 ‘kga%’ . :ESOA’;{EQ
remaining 50% vested on 30 June 2021, subject to the ZOQEGH 30H IR (BT i 8 e it
vesting condition. MED
No options were exercised during the year ended 31 é&i%zozgiaﬂa1ajtfﬁ;§, 1 f S
March 2022. PR REREAT A
(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are as (@ FBHEBHIGRKEGEDT:

follows:

' Numberof e Contractua!life
instruments of options
TAHE HEH ERESEEN
Options granted to directors: BT EEMERE:
-on30July 2018 - 201847 30 H 1,140,000 11 months from the date of grant 41 months
A% A E 11 5 A 418 H
-on30July 2018 - 201847 30 H 1,710,000 23 months from the date of grant 41 months
A%t A a3 1 A 418 H
-on30July 2018 - 201847 30 H 2,850,000 35 months from the date of grant 41 months
H% A Et 35 16 A 418 H
Options granted to employees BRTFEEREER
and advisers to the Group: B Y R«
-on 30 July 2018 - 201847 H30H 4,200,000 11 months from the date of grant 41 months
A%t A a1 5 A 418 H
-on 30 July 2018 - 201847 H30H 6,300,000 23 months from the date of grant 41 months
A%t A a3 1 A 418 H
-on 30 July 2018 - 201847 H30H 10,500,000 35 months from the date of grant 41 months
H% Ak Et 35 15 A 418 H
Total share options granted B REAR 26,700,000
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24. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 24,  UIBREAHE ARG RIS (8D
(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are as () FABBEZHRBEREEHWT:
follows: (Continued) ¢-))
Except for share options granted to advisors and B 4% T A 45 18 e R R g S A AT
independent non-executive directors of the Group, HE R RE AN, IR B R
vesting of share options are subject to financial PSP A B 3] 4 4220214 [2 202243
performance of the Group for the years ended 31 H31H ILE M BRI E, &
March 2021 and 2022, unless the board of JEA A @) T H e ol AR
directors of the Company waive such condition. At A20224E3 H31H, HRA A%
31 March 2022, as the vesting conditions in IR B R, B
respect of financial performance have not been N T T A T B AR A
met and the board of directors of the Company 3 2 20204F6 A 30 [ % 20214F 6
h . . . h s h ~ o s N .
T8 erin o v st cendion B0 E RS
> BE. b3 I B IR U1 2021 45 12
30 June 2020 and on 30 June 2021 were FBI, o 45 o 2
considered forfeitures. The share options H31 R Gl RRAILE
mentioned above have expired on 31 December
2021, and no options were exercised.
Y\ & =
(b) Fair value of share options and assumptions (b) RS ATE R
The fair value of services received in return for 2R A AR 7 M TG v A R 1 AR
share options granted is measured by reference to A T AE TS 2 25 08 352 T I RE 1
the fair value of share options granted. The estimate PAEE R TP R RE AL B
of the fair value of the share options granted is ONSEAE TH AR B A 3 vn e AR W AR
measured based on a Black-Scholes model. The B, BRI RER A R AR AR e
contractual life of the share option is used as an N e . R AT {8 TE T AN
input into this model. Expectations of early exercise DNETiE A RS
are incorporated into the Black-Scholes model.
Fair value of share options and assumptions  [BRHEAFE RRRR
Fair value at measurement date AEHE H B A FE HKDO.28
0.28 T
Exercise price 1THEE HKDO.80
0.80 #&JT

FEHHBME  CLARR 5 A 20 o o R 7
AR ST AR PR (1 A
SERIERE S )

S REAE I CLAAR A 2 v o A i
HEE A N AR SRR ER F (10
SERFEHBIRD 3.42

R B R R (EAAME FE 4 58

Expected volatility (expressed as weighted
average volatility used in the modelling
under Black-Scholes model) 44.9%

Option life (expressed as weighted average
life used in the modelling under
Black-Scholes model)

Risk-free interest rate (based on Exchange

Fund Notes) 1.94%
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24. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

Fair value of share options and assumptions
(Continued)

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility (calculated based on the weighted average
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for any
expected changes to future volatility based on
publicly available information. Expected dividends
are based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect
the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service
condition. This condition has not been taken into
account in the grant date fair value measurement of
the services received. There were no market
conditions associated with the share option grants.

25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

(a)

Income tax payable in the consolidated
statements of financial position represents:

At the beginning of the year ALER]
Provision for the year and N HE SRR
under provision in respect of HHEA 2
prior year (Note 7(a)) (FfE5E 7(a))
Income tax paid [ROPIECY
At the end of the year AR
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24.

25.

DABCRERE S DAL BRI 5 (ARD

(b)

SRR APEEMER (BD

TEIIBNE SR A IAE Bl (AL
RERET 2R ER IR 5D . WAR
38 B AT A R R A i PO AE 4]
TR S k. RIS D
G SPSE SRR TN T 2
AT RHE R E R E .

HE AR IR RS IR 2t o AR
FI, R SRS (K 21 ERT R
ARt Bzttt WA B2 A HE
A BB TS iR

AR B I BIR IR A B TR B

(@) HFEMBAARIIEN K EA BT
YR

2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET I NG ST
13,142 8,553
6,018 4,826
(532) (237)
18,628 13,142
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25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION(Continued)

25.  AREMBARARNKFTAR (8

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) CHERIRIEMIEE E X A8
(i) Movement of each component of () BERFRERRFEHF
deferred tax assets and liabilities i i/
The deferred tax assets/(liabilities) TA &7 BB IR D0 A T BB ) R
recognised in the consolidated statements IEMIEGE /. (B LA
of financial position and the movements NSRRI R .
during the years are as follows:
Capitalisation
of intangible Unrealised Allowance for
assets and profits from receivables
subsequent sales within and
amortisation the Group inventories Total
BREER FEENKE
NS ] Ky bt BKE R
B il REMH st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
MHET arwti ARETSE ARETT
Deferred tax arising from: HHTAIHRNBLE
.
At 1 April 2020 #2004 48 1H (3,268) 347 1,980 (941)
Credited / (charged)to AN GNE) &4
the consolidated statement BRE(ME 7())
of profit or loss (Note 7(a)) 303 (154) 125 274
At 31 March 2021 20213 A31H (2,965) 193 2,105 (667)
At 1 April 2021 A1 FE4H1H (2,965) 193 2,105 (667)
Credited / (charged) to HN GNE) G4
the consolidated statement HAEE(EE 7())
of profit or loss (Note 7(a)) 1,008 (102) 1,319 2,225
At 31 March 2022 20223 A 31 H (1,957) 91 3,424 1,558
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25.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION(Continued)

(b)

()

(d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated
statement of financial position

25. EMBARNRNEIFTAR (8D

(b)

Net deferred tax assets TR SEF TR e VP
T S TE & & A

Net deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set
out in Note 2(t), as at 31 March 2022, the
Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of unused tax losses and deductible
temporary differences of RMB117,941,000
(2021: RMB103,469,000), as the directors
considered it is not probable that sufficient
future taxable profits against which the losses
can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 March 2022, temporary differences
relating to the retained profits of the
subsidiary of the Group established in the PRC
(excluding Hong Kong) amounted to
RMB114,777,000 (2021: RMB77,770,000) of
which no deferred tax liabilities in respect of
the tax that would be payable on the
distribution of these profits was provided as
the Company controls the dividend policy of
this subsidiary and it has been determined
that it is probable that such profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.
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ERRBEERHEREK AR

(8

(i) BRI BRI R

RMB’000 RMB’000
1,558 193
(860)

1,558 (667)

()

(d)

R IERIIRE 2 -

M M ET 2(t) 3 20 (1) & 5T K
M, A 202243 A31H, K
£5 [ 6 SR 39 SR Bl FH RS s 1R
aA0OUROE R 2 BN RGO
117,941,000 JG (2021 4£: A
[C# 103,469,000 J0) HfE A IE
WEMIAE E, HEFRAHEE
TS =2 M [ % 8 I AN T e
FEA 70 A2 A 2f JAE RR S Vi R 4K B
A HEE R

REEDBIRERIRE R

202243 H 31 H, ABAE
LA R (REFEEE) &
S7ID B 2 D 1 R A kR g
ZHEANRYE 114,777,000 7
(2021 %: A\R# 77,770,000
TG o HHIRAR 2wl
AR EBUE, HOMER
AT BETA T FAS A A & o Uk A [
WA, O A RAT B A
T AT A L TR T B 0 AE L TH &

f&.
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 26. A&, REEKE

(@) Movements in components of equity () FEmMHHTE)
The reconciliation between the opening and A [ i R 2 45 TR H ) 2 B R A
closing balances of each component of the HE# 7| N e S HE R SR,
Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Details of the changes of the Company’s A ) JECHEA 0 I I A S B s
individual components of equity are set out LE
below:
Shares held
under share
Share Share premium award Exchange Total equi
capital P scheme reserve  Retained loss quity
TR 4 88
JfeA& RpEE BB ERRME RAER  ERAE
b
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETF T ARBTE  ARETT ARETT ARBTT AR%TE
) (Note
Note 26(c)) Note 26(g)(i Note 26(d
Mote26lc)  (Note26lgl) ~ (Note2s(d) oo
. o N i
(o) (mee)  Oasey U
26(g)(ii))
At 1 April 2020 2020641 1H . o3 ____ (4851) ___ 1242 G2 1 155,383
Changes in equity for the year Z4Z 202143 31H
ended 31 March 2021: fIR:3:2 F+3 2
Total comprehensive FEREIRA
income for the year k] (11,650 (450 (12,100)
Equity-settled share-based DU HE 4 5 DA B A
transaction BRI S 386 386
Cancellation of own shares BR ISRz didn (11) (415) 426
At 31 March 2021 R202143731H 4,130 146,944 (4,425) 2,592 (5,572) 143,669
Changes in equity forthe year 22202243 H31H
ended 31 March 2022: IR E B2,
Total comprehensive CASETTION
income for the year k] (5,807) (99) (5,906)
Equity-settled share-based DRSS S DL
transaction eSO - B . 73
At 31 March 2022 R202243H31H 4,130 147,017 (4,425) (3,215) (5,671) 137,836
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(b) Dividends

(i)

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the year

The directors of the Company do not
recommend the payment of a dividend for the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

(c) Share capital

Movements in the Company’s issued share capital
are as follows:

26.

B ff R s (D

(b)

()

Ji B
() EABEAEAL TREZRRRBEE

B4 2022 4F J 2021 4E 3 H 31
HIFEE, KAREFIEAE
FRURAT IR

il

EVNSIREEER DT

Number of Nominal value of
shares ordinary shares
:3vg ¢ LiERE{E
RMB’000
NG

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: B 34T X8R @ -
At 1 April 2020 20204 H1H 505,211,177 4,141
Shares cancellation * RS A (1,284,000) (11)
At 31 March 2022 and 2021 JA 2022 A1 202143 H 31 H 503,927,177 4,130

On 17 October 2019, the Company cancelled
52,000 ordinary shares. On 3rd April 2020 and
11th May 2020, the Company cancelled
208,000 and 1,076,000 ordinary shares
respectively.
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued) 26. J A, M RIRE (D

(d) Purchase of own shares

(d) REBSBRL

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Company had
cumulatively repurchased 9,848,000 shares on The A 2022 K 2021 4F 3 H 31
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and paid H, ANa R ERES3E 50T
RMB4,874,000. 1,336,000 shares were IR A7 B EHE R 9,848,000
cumulatively cancelled and an amount of Ry, AT N 4,874,000
RMB449,000 was paid. Jo. RAEMEESN 1,336,000 i,

AT A FRNREHE 449,000 TG

Price per share

Number of shares % Aggregate

Month of repurchase  BELE £ repurchased Highest Lowest price paid
BEE A e i EfT4EER

RMB’000

August 2018 2018 £ 8 A 1,360,000 0.7473 0.7155 867
September 2018 2018 £9 H 1,400,000 0.7127 0.7080 871
October 2018 2018 F£ 10 B 144,000 0.5311 0.5311 69
November 2018 2018 £ 11 B 1,652,000 0.5700 0.5300 820
August 2019 2019 F 8 A 2,700,000 0.5100 0.4976 1,228
September 2019 20199 H 1,256,000 0.5000 0.4845 569
October 2019 2019 F 10 B 52,000 0.5100 0.4950 23
December 2019 2019 F 12 B 116,000 0.4900 0.4800 51
January 2020 20201 A 20,000 0.4850 0.4750 9
March 2020 20203 B 1,148,000 0.3700 0.3300 367
9,848,000 4,874

Aggregate

Number of shares cancelled price paid

Month of cancellation AR EEa i) dng 4= B4 EE
RMB’000

AR® T

November 2019 2019 £ 11 B 52,000 23
April 2020 2020 £ 4 H 208,000 82
May 2020 2020 f£ 5 H 1,076,000 344
1,336,000 449
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(e) Share award scheme

(f)

On 24 July 2018, the Company adopted a share
award scheme (the “Scheme”) with a duration of
ten years. The aggregate number of the shares
underlying all grants made during the term of the
Scheme is limited to 3% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time. The Board will
be entitled to make an award to any of the eligible
participant such number of issued shares as the
Board shall determine pursuant to the Scheme
rules. The eligibility of any of the eligible
participants to an award shall be determined by
the Board from time to time on the basis of the
Board’s opinion as to his/her contribution and/or
future contribution to the development and
growth of the Group. At the year ended 31 March
2022, 8,512,000 shares were repurchased from the
market and no share was granted to any eligible
participant.

Terms of unexpired and unexercised share
options at the end of the reporting period

Exercise period fTiEH

26. A, REEEE (8D
(e) MetraEmmat#l

(f)

A 2018 47 A 24 H, AR+
AN S B & C T E
#, RAMATE. AR EIHE
FRIY, BT 45 Hi Sl AH 4 1 i
y HEBLBR A A A F ARy B AT
MEAT 3%. i R A
{RAT 4 B 2 B 2 S HL AR B
Fh I R e Y 2 AT I B
Ho fTA] 6 & s 22 B 5 42 48
Ty 1) S 5 3F PH B S AR 4 LR
Ky BUE P AR R KR
1 5 8RS BAR R B IR 1 S g
. BFE 20223 431 H
15 EE, BT 5 E
8,512,000 M /lcfry, Wb A% [l EAA]
GBS EER D .

TASR 5 S AR AR I B R AT
RIS RS 3

At 31 March 2022
7202243831 H

Exercise price

Number

30 June 2019 to 31 December 2021 2019 6 H30HE 2021 £ 12 A 31 H 0.80 5,340,000
30 June 2020 to 31 December 2021 20206 H30 HE 2021 £ 12 31 H 0.80 8,010,000
30 June 2021 to 31 December 2021 20216 H30HE 2021 12 A 31 H 0.80 13,350,000

26,700,000

Each share option entitles the holder to
subscribe for one ordinary share in the N ) MR R RE R . 3% R RE 11
Company. Further details of these share W REEE RN A SRR A
options are set out in Note 24 to the 24,

consolidated financial statements.

TR B RS T 3 AR — i A
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account
is governed by Section 34 of the Companies
Law Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated

and revised) of the Cayman Islands
amended,
modified from time to time.

(if) Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and
subsidiary
established in Mainland China is required to
transfer 10% of its net profit to the statutory
reserves until the reserve reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distributions to equity
holders. This reserve can be utilised in setting
off accumulated losses or increase capital of
the subsidiary and is non-distributable other

regulations, the Company’s

than in liquidation.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign

exchange differences arising from

translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policies set

out in Note 2(x).
Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when
managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholders
returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position.

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries is
subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.
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supplemented or otherwise

26. A, REEEE (D

(9)

(h)

R & E H
() #trutr

JIE 473 i R 1) JE ) 2 88 AN Iy
CEINE PV N
IEM B SR EARNEE 22 &
% 34 & (1961 fE55 3 SEIkL
B, &&RE KIERTD BE .

(i) ZEmE

R4 v R R (98] v 41 B
AN T HR B D Hb RRST ) B
NI E RS N
10% VL i, B 2%
B G M A AR 50%.
LA O RTE MR B R AN
Sy URTT P o 3% fek H5 T A
HEE ZET G 48 Sl I o B A
H AR, BRAREITIE R,
BRI A T 43R

(iii) B 211

BEE S fot 0 355 A i Hh SE 5 A
B W AR P A A B =
B RMARIEITEE 200 Fr
N E Rt ECRE .

BAEH

AR E A AN R
DR A SR [ AL A 1R A 8 I E
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

27. SHBAREELEMTANAFE

AL IR E PR AR AREE e
JEBR . ASEE P K 1 A R S A R
A7 [ JEL g O B s R A BRI AR A R

Exposure to credit and liquidity risks arises in the normal
course of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(@) Credit risk (a) EEEMR

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit
risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables,
contract assets and other receivables. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because cash at bank are
held with well-known financial institutions, for
which the Group considers to represent low credit
risk.

The Group does not provide any financial
guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in
which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. As at 31 March 2022, 23%
(2021: 26%) and 80% (2021: 83%) of the total trade
receivables and contract assets due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers, respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. For project contracts, the Group
generally requires customers to settle billings in
accordance with contracted terms, credit terms of
90 days may be granted to certain customers for
progress billings.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 27. SREAREHEERTANAFE (B
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) @ fERAR (B
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) BB EUKIER G FIRE ()
The following table provides information about the AT T H A £ 13 BT T T
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 15 & B LA B O WK IE &

receivables and contract assets: [A]3& 2 [ TR E B kst B R

Loss allowance
For expected credit losses

EHERERNERER
2022
Gross Loss allowance

carrying Of individual Expected Loss Total loss
amount item loss rate allowance allowance

REH AR WEEAE  GRAH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
Current (not past due) B (K@) 264,078 - 1.6% 4242 4,242
lessthan 1yearpastdue  WHPR—F 65,780 602 4.4% 2,804 3,446
1-2 years past due BH—ZME 14,403 32 21.7% 3,126 3,158
2-3 years past due BAHME=F 7,080 503 50.0% 3,288 3,791
More than 3 years past due HWHER=F 2,573 - 100.0% 2,573 2,573
353,914 1,137 16,073 17,210

Loss allowance
For expected credit losses

ERRERERNERER

2021
Gross

carrying Loss allowance Expected Loss Total loss
amount Of individual item loss rate allowance allowance
KEeE e  THERE  ERES W
RMB’000 RMB'000 % RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT N S
Current (not past due) BE (FaE) 156,822 - 1.8% 2,854 2,854
Less than 1 year past due BAOR—F 82,681 - 3.6% 3,002 3,002
1-2 years past due BH—-ZME 17,154 129 14.3% 2,434 2,563
2-3years past due BHME=F 2,441 100 43.3% 1,014 1,114
More than 3 years past due  BATBIB=F 1,148 713 100.0% 437 1,150
260,246 942 9,741 10,683
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 27. EREAMREELEBMTANAME (&)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(@) =8 (E

(&) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) ROBUSHEREFEE (H)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss TR IR E 5 FEI IR
experience over the past 5 years. These rates are HEEETH., WEHRE/ER
adjusted to reflect differences between economic B D WA AR 0 A e T R Y
conditions during the period over which the AETE R Y B AR e Y 22 B KA
historic data has been collected, current conditions A [ 8F 0 WAz 2 T T 1) 7 48 1 1 4
and the Group’s view of economic conditions over TR 2 L

the expected lives of the receivables.

FN, AR HE 5 EUGRIE I R R
FREIR P E BB T

| 2022 2021

AR¥TT AT T

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect
of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

Balance at 1 April * 4 A1 HiE & 10,683 9,986
Impairment losses reversed VAR $E 8 [ (3,646) (5,324)
Impairment losses recognised FN SRR

during the year TAE 4R 10,173 6,021
Balance at 31 March 73 A 31 Hi& R 17,210 10,683
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of <cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

The following table shows the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of each reporting
year of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on rates current at the end of each
reporting year) and the earliest dates the Group
can be required to pay:

(i EE]]

undiscounted

cash flow
Within 1year  More than 1

oron yearbut less

demand  than 2 years
— NG
ERWMERT

KAMRE BB-FE

&RE  ORWE #85t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

27.

Carrying
amount

fREE
RMB'000

SRAREELSMTRENAPE &)

(b) ABIREHEE

AR B 5R )  0 B B  oR
WP ER R, FERMERFTE E BB &
T EM BRI G RE RS, DR
FHREI SRR N B 4 7 K

NRBURAE I M ARATE R A A R
HERNFESFBIH, JHZOFTHR
BRI e (AR AIRT AR R 8 (fi
FHIF I TR AR 1 R SRS
AUBSZHD S AT e 75 2T 5 7
SP ISR

2021
Contractual
undiscounted
cash flow
Within 1year  More than 1
oron yearhutless Carrying
demand  than 2 years Total amount
— N
ERMET
HRMHEE  BB—FE
¢RE  ORWE st BREfE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

NN e S e ARETn ARKTr ARETRT ARKTR

Bank loans SRATRR 48,630 - 48,630 47,520 32,718 - 32,718 31,267

Trade payables & 5 A+ IH 95,227 - 95,227 95,227 67,516 - 67,516 67,516
Other payables At fEEf] 28
andaccruals  JJEEHBH ST
(Including (Bf—4
lease liabilities P2 &TfFH

within 1year) &) 37,495 . 37,495 37,490 36,919 - 36,919 36,909

Lease liabilities  #% &fik 526 526 496

181,352 - 181,352 180,237 137,153 526 137,679 136,188
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

()

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
primarily from bank loans is limited because bank
loans issued at fixed rates. The Group’s interest
rate profile as monitored by management is set
out in (i) below.

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate

profile of the Group’s borrowings at 31 March
2022 and 2021.

()

27. SHMBREERERMTENAME (8D

I

) 2 A — TH &t TR A TE
R AR B < B R i 4 ) R
P B B . e R BRAT B K DAL
ARG, A A B [ 1 2R [ 6R
AT BRI 2R A B . 8 B B
223 (A B B R SR B DL B I R 3L
(i)o

()  FE#RA
TRFEARA 2022 £ 2021 4F

3 A 31 HASRBEKIF R
Do

Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
B RFIR RMB’000 kS RMB’000
% AR®TT % AN R#ET T
Fixed rate borrowings: B s R ALK .
0/~ 0o/ ~
Bank loans SRATREAK 2';:807% 47,520 2':5633?;% 31,267
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SHAREEESRMTRANATE (8D

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 27.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) Fair value measurement (d) AHEF=E
(i) Financial assets measured at fair value () UA-FEF BN EHEE
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that MRAB A MR FUE DL A P EE 5
are measured at fair value on a recurring A [ 4 8 28 1A TAE
basis.
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
20224 3HF 2021438
311 311
RMB'000 gy Fairvalue . , ,
hierarchy Valuation technique(s) and key input(s)
ARETIL ARETT IARRELEEN B B A i N B
Financial assets: EREE:
Wealth management T 2 - 9,125 Lf\fl 3 Discounted cash flow.
products HE
Future cash flows are estimated and
discounted based on expected rate
of return of comparable products.
IEBRIR G i i
AT G AR T s
TR B A 7 R A3
(ii) Fair values of financial instruments (i) ZIFELIA-FEFIER ST
carried at other than fair value =y A

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost
were not materially different from their fair
values as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(2) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of

the Group, including amounts

paid to the

Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 8 and
certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed

in Note 9, is as follows:

28.

Short-term employee benefits
Contributions to defined

contribution retirement scheme
Share based payments

Total remuneration is included in
(Note 6(a)).

(b) Transactions with related parties

SEAL SR
IF) 5 5 IR T 3 K

UBEAR 2B A K

“staff costs”

BB LS
(@ FEEBEABHMH

AEMEZEHEANEHFMOFEC
AR F#EF AMEE 8 B
LETREHEE RWEE 9 #
B [MEKIH, AN

Provision of technical services
Sale of products

Purchasing of products
Receiving of technical services

Repayment/ (provisions) of loans

Guarantee jointly provided by the
executive directors and a director’s
spouse

SRR
S5 E i
SR E i
BB AR

ekl / GGRAD B
PUTHEF LEF

AR IE IR SR AL AR 48 R
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2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®To0 ANR#F T

4,187 3,724

249 91

15 78

4,451 3,893
AR EAFIN [E LA (B

it6(a)) .
(b) EEEBETRIZS

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

PN TH NG T

- 113

- 3,581

673 -

3,166 1,745

1,500 (1,500)

32,800 15,500
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 28. EKEBHIRZZ ()
(c) Balances with related party (c) ERBRBITRIASER
(i) Trade receivable and prepayment and (1) ARSI R T3 LURE A
other receivables comprised the following [EWH T A1 T P BN
balances due from related parties: TS AR,
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFu NG
Trade and bill receivables: H 5 VUK A % A 22 4
- Beijing Beikong Zhike Energy — b Ab i R e s B A
Internet Company Limited FHIRAF - 713
Trade payables: H 5 AT IR
- Beijing Beikong Zhike Energy — b Ab i R e s B A
Internet Company Limited HIRAH] 2,728 -
Other receivables (Note 18): HAhESRGKIE (7 18) -
- Beijing Beikong Zhike Energy — b Ab i R e s B A
Internet Company Limited HIRAH 38 1,538
(ii) oOther payables comprised the following (i) HMEHIBERE TIIE
balances due from related parties: WG B T 4 B
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARt
Other payables (Note 21): HAWE T IE (i 21) -
- Beijing Aige Reide Technology — bR s
Company Limited B IR A F 8,779 8,779
- Beijing Aige Reide investment e S
Company Limited BEHRA A 780 780
(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to (d) BRRFRHIEZR 5 BB 7 35 R i F 4
connected transactions 5]
None of the above related party transactions WM IR BT 28 B 44 iR 14A
falls under the definition of connected (R AT 5 e A RS S e

transaction or continuing connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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29. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION

Note
Fit st

ERENE &=
Interest in an associate TA— TR 2 = I RE
Amounts due from a subsidiary  JE— i i B A 7 & 50

Non-current assets

Current assets WERE

Bank balances and cash SRAT#E AR L B4

Other receivables HoAth B 2k TH

Current liabilities WENRE

Other payables oA AT 3K IH

Net assets BERE

Capital and reserves A R 26(a)
Share capital g

Reserves G4

Total equity S48

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 20 June 2022.

WANG Dongbin
EHR

Chairman

Ev3
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AT BT B RTLR

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETIT AR T

51,367 53,531

81,719 81,782
o 133086 135,313

10,212 14,022

- 35
e 20212 14,057
. SA62 3,701

137,836 143,669

4,130 4,130

133,706 139,539

137,836 143,669

HEHEA 2022 5 6 A 20 HALHE R AZHET)
.,

WU Hongyuan
St

Director

=H
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30.

31.

Impacts of Covid-19 pandemic

The Covid-19 pandemic since early 2020 continues to
bring uncertainties to the Group’s operating
environment and may impact the Group’s operations
and financial position.

Despite of the easing of the Covid-19 pandemic in
Mainland China, the Group continues to closely monitor
the possible impact from the Covid-19 pandemic has on
the Group’s business and keep contingency measures in
place and under review in the case where the Covid-19
pandemic rebounds. These contingency measures
included but not limited to assessing the situation and
adhered to the principles of reducing costs and
enhancing operational efficiency and improving the
Group’s cash management by expediting debtor
settlements and negotiating with suppliers on payment
extensions.

The exact timing of the cessation of the Covid-19
pandemic is still uncertain. Nonetheless, the directors of
the Company is optimistic that the Covid-19 pandemic
will eventually be under full control.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 March 2022, the directors consider the immediate
parents of the Group to be Union Sino Holdings Limited,
Long Eagle International Limited, Main Wealth
Development Limited, Smart East Limited and Great
Attain International Limited which are incorporated in
the BVI. These entities do not produce financial
statements available for public use. The directors
consider the ultimate holding parties of the Group to be
Mr Wu Zhanjiang, Mr Cao Wei, Mr Li Kangying and Mr
Wang Dongbin.
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30.

31.

Haim R

H 2020 fEHJLAAR, il g R i A A
RS IR AR E I, 67T RERY
BRI ) IE B I BRI

{M¢Iﬁ@m%%%k7%ﬁ%%%

(EUAC S [0 R A0 U1 Bl T M 48 P 15 S A
%I%%%T“%L,ﬁfﬁﬁ%xﬁT
SRR SR A I, T e A T A
EANPR A RFATIROL « - B A AN vy 3 2
R I ANPR A i SO B R A
S B3 ASF S AT R P R 53 A T Y B i
s

W7 ek il 2 8 156 15 L P Bt ) Ty e 47 SR AN i
o MEE I, 2R HE B 5 R
&S AR PRtk sE S VU

HERBRRERTT

J*2022 43 H 31 H, #ERZRHAELEN
B # B 2 ® % Union Sino Holdings
Limited . Long Eagle International
Limited . Main Wealth Development
Limited . Smart East Limited A Great
Attain International Limited, FZ%ZF/\ &)
TATE )R PR R RE MR AT . RS T RN MR
A AL AT A SRR . AR,
AR (1) e A R T R L e . IR
etk AEPUU S R E BRI .
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32. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 32. B 220224E3 A 31 H 1L E B EHMiE
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT WRAERHMERT SR R
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 R E
MARCH 2022
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, MRS AR T 2 H 0, Ff%j%?rﬁ
the IASB has issued a number of amendments, and a SIS AR BRI ET S TR,
new standard, IFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are B T ERSE 17 SRORMEEAY, 7%
not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2022 and SHEET MO HERIE 2 2022 /£ 3 H 31 Hik
which have not been adopted in these financial SR FEATE AR A OIS R TE 5% 55 W 5 ek P R
statements. These developments include the following Ao FZEETEREALEE N H1) N e B A £ B A
which may be relevant to the Group. o

Effective for
accounting years
beginning on or after

UL H sz 12
BRI & st AR
Amendments to IAS 1, Classification of liabilities as BR e st e RIS 1 9RINBRT, JEIAATF R 1January 2023
current or non-current B EHI# 7 2023F1H1H
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2, o8] % o RO 55 1 S [R5 R o Y R 1 January 2023
Disclosure of Accounting Polices B IHEE 2 SRIMBRT, EATEEIHEE 2023fF1 A1 H
Amendments to IAS 8, Definition of Accounting R e st NI ZE 8 SRIMERT, &A1 1171 HIE 1 January 2023
Estimates e 20231 H1H
Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets BFEar T qERISS 12 SRRMERT, & —X 42 1 January 2023
and liabilities arising from a single transaction AT (E T 1908 A 17 2023F 1818
The Group is in the process of making an A A [ B I gt 5 5 5 R YR A v U M
assessment of what the impact of these MR AT . AEFE LSS,
developments is expected to be in the period FRAN A ET By R RIS ] B 4 4 B
of initial application. So far it has concluded TR B

that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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Financial Summary

A B

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi, except for per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss (Note 1)

R E TS
(BEBREESS, FASENARSTTAER)

FEBEER (k)

For the year ended 31 March
HE=A=1+—HIEFE

2018 2019 2020 Jei 2022 |
Revenue PN 85,799 115,108 163,454 293,666 376,704
Profit/(loss) before taxation ~ FRFIATHF],~ (5D 20,528 21,837 (67,857) 25,407 25,814
Income tax IEEE (3,806) (1,583) (1,311) (4,552) (4,552)
Profit/(loss) for the year TRE 2 2 o JEEA
attributable to equity ENRF,
shareholders UEHD 16,722 20,254 (69,168) 20,855 22,021
Earnings/(loss) per share BEF, &)
Basic and diluted FEA I i
(RMB) (NRHED 5.71 5.20 (13.88) 4.21 4.44
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Note 2) S EIRRE (FfEE2)
As at 31 March
W=A=+—H
2018 2019 2020 2021 [EZER
Total assets B AR 216,165 328,064 263,317 363,694 433,976
Total liabilities BB AEEE 27,845 66,651 69,779 150,191 198,865
Net assets HEE 188,320 261,413 193,538 213,503 235,110
Total equity HE 5 ARAH 188,320 261,413 193,538 213,503 235,110

Note 1: The results of operation for the years ended 31
March 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 are derived
from the Company’s annual reports of 2018,
2019, 2020 and 2021. All such information is

extracted from the financial
prepared under the International
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

statements
Financial

Note 2:

The consolidated financial position as at 31
March 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 is derived
from the annual reports of 2018, 2019, 2020
and 2021. All such information is extracted
from the financial statements prepared under
the International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”).
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Definitions

“Aipu Zhicheng”

[

“Along Grid”

[ 5 B i |

“associate(s)”

Rl IN

”

“Beikong Energy Internet
[ k4% Be s T HSAT |

“big data”

[ KR8 ]

“Board”

[FEHa ]

“business day”
[&3%H ]

“BVI”
[ )88 I LR

B S R A 45 B B A IR A\ (Beijing Aipu Zhicheng Internet
Technology Company Limited*), an enterprise established in the PRC
with limited liability on 27 December 2013 and became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company on 28 February 2020
RIS IS R IR AR, — 22013412 5 27 HAEH [
WAL R AT, 1074 20194E2 ] 28 H BLA A4 5] (14 4 )8 4 7

Jb i B RS R A TR A 7] (Beijing Along Grid Technology Company
Limited*), a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC
with limited liability on 25 May 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

AR SRR AR AR, —RR20114E5 A 25 H 7 H B A7 Y
SMEREAIRAT, ZAAE 4G M E A A

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

R TR AR T 1 5

bt dbis 2 Rl B UE B4 A IR A =] (Beijing Beikong Zhike Energy
Internet Company Limited*), an enterprise established in the PRC with
limited liability, an associate of the Group

fRAb AL R R R LA R AR, — R B L AR A,
paF e S i) k= /N

refer to information that is huge in amount and volume, which make it
not possible to achieve data collection, management and processing
into data that is capable of being used in decision making in business
operation

BT B R SR EORIAE B, DLECAARRI . 7 P R PR Y
T8 R FAAE A S 88 TR M g

the board of Directors of the Company

HARFIEES

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for normal
banking business to the public and which is not a Saturday, Sunday or
public holiday in Hong Kong
TREHEMERAT — BH M &8 IEH RT3 H ., HEHEEIIN, 2
Y H B A R

the British Virgin Islands
TR R R
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Definitions

‘%

“CCBI Investments”

[ CCBI Investments ]

“Chance Talent”

[ Chance Talent |

“Companies Law” or “Cayman
Companies Law”

[ w3 B B 2 A w1
“Companies Ordinance”
[ 2 w4451 |

“Company” or “the Company”

(A AH ]

”CSG"

[P 77 A |
“Director(s)”
[H# 5

“EIT”
[EESEC

CCBI Investments Limited, an investment holding company
incorporated with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands
on 10 November 2004 and an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
China Construction Bank Corporation, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 939) and the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 601939)

FECCBI Investments Limited, —[i]j20044£11 5 10 H AR 5 5 2 8 51k
BIREM SO B G A PR A ], W2 A AR (R AXsE: 939)
Je IR G (R EEARES: 601939) b7 2 &) o B i AR R AT I 1
A B2 w1 [ e 4 B JBS A )

Chance Talent Management Limited, a company incorporated in the
BVI on 4 July 2007 with limited liability, which was wholly-owned by
CCBI Investments as at the date of this report

}&Chance Talent Management Limited, —[HA20074:7 A4 H 1E95)E i
RS EM BRI ARA R, BAHRE H A CCBI Investments 4 &
A

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Laws 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands
FEBH 2R VA BB 225 A T A (1961 FF S35V, &84 & RIBRD)

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

TRAE LG 622 A FRG], SARMERT . MiFEs AT B

OneForce Holdings Limited (7t J#IE B R A 7)), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 5 July 2016 as an exempted
company with limited liability

TBIC B RARA T, —MR201647 H 5 H 7B 2 5 5 53 Ml ar (1)
TR AT PR 7]

R 5 AT R 2 /F A & (China Southern Power Grid Company
Limited), an Independent Third Party, a major state-owned cross-
provincial electric power grid company which is principally engaged in
electric power transmission
TR EE T EREAREEAR, HBILE=T, —HEEEEEEE
HANF], TECHEEER

the director(s) of the Company
RA N ] H

enterprise income tax of the PRC

6 T B A SE P A AR
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Definitions

J

“Founding Shareholders”

B30 1B 3R )

”ou

“Group”, “our Group”,
llwell or llusll

[ A G el 34 )

“HKS” or “Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars”

[#7e ]

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
[ Frits ]

collectively, Smart East, Union Sino, Main Wealth, Long Eagle, Mr.
WANG Dong Bin, Mr. WU Zhan Jiang, Mr. LI Kang Ying and Mr. CAO
Wei

FESmart East. Union Sino. Main Wealth. Long Eagle. FHtsE2E.
SBRULSE A P el I W IR e A I i AR

the Company and its subsidiaries at the relevant time

FEA A ) L LT A TR PR ] B JBR A )

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
RE B E BT

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
$i o B A U R 90 4T B

“Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar” Tricor Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar

[ P 5 R0 i |
“IMPG”

[ A5 ]

“IMPG Group”

BRESuE Pk S

”

“Independent Third Party(ies)

[ 575 =7 ]

“Inner Mongolia”

[

of the Company
FRAC N w) A HR I 3 38 5 6 50 3 R AR RS IR AL A TR A A

electric power grids covering Inner Mongolia, and managed by IMPG
Group, a state-owned provincial electric power grid in the PRC

RBEENSE RS, BB & AR A N 5 & AR

WE s ) (D ABREAAEAF (Inner Mongolia Power (Group)
Company Limited*), an Independent Third Party, a state-owned
provincial electric power grid company, together with its subsidiaries, is
principally engaged in the electric power transmission, transformation
and distribution in the west Inner Mongolia

TENS BN CRBDAE RN, ABLE=T7, —HBEEEHE
FAT], G [E AT EEANF L E . S E X E

a person, persons, company or companies which is or are independent
of, and not connected with (within the meaning under the Listing
Rules), any directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective associate(s)
TR SLAR A R B FHAT M B AR FEM S, EEATBN BT
JBE R AN S % B AR TN, HBLEZ S N LML s e 28 00 BTl
FLRDI N LA A

Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region of the PRC

TR NS AR E
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Definitions

‘%

“internet of things” or “loT”

[ Hsi4 |

“Listing”
[ 77

“Listing Rules”

[ b )

“Long Eagle”

[ Long Eagle ]

“Main Board”

[EA

“Main Wealth”

[ Main Wealth |

“Mr. CAO Wei”
[ A
“Mr. LI Kang Yin”

[ 2= gt ]

“Mr. WANG Dong Bin”

[ F AR5 ]

ainformation accessing media that is based on internet and
telecommunication network, which connects all individually traceable
devices, and is characterised with smart, advanced and three key
features

T — A AN S B R A (5 SR E S, SEPTE REA BB L Sk 1
SR LS LA, LR RE. S K =R E TR

listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 2 March 2018
Fa 4201843 2 A FEMAE BT L7

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

TR Pt e BRI, AEARRHERT . s A A7 0B 2

LONG EAGLE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, a company incorporated in the
BVI on 26 November 2015 with limited liability, which is wholly owned
by Mr. CAO Wei, a Substantial Shareholder and one of the Founding
Shareholders

}5LONG EAGLE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, —[#jA20154E11 H 26 H 7
L PR T S R ML A PR A ), 3R g A (2 R A S A
W —)EBHE

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
FEWHAZ T AR

MAIN WEALTH DEVELOPMENT LIMITED, a company incorporated in
the BVI on 18 March 2016 with limited liability, which is wholly
owned by Mr. LI Kang Ying, a Substantial Shareholder and one of the
Founding Shareholders

FEMAIN WEALTH DEVELOPMENT LIMITED, —[{]JA20164F3 H 18 H{E
b i L SR M AL A IR AT, A B S AR (R B oK I B
Rz — B

Mr. CAO Wei ( # F% ), a Substantial Shareholder and one of the
Founding Shareholders

TR, R R AI R —

Mr. LI Kangying (Z=3{ %), an executive Director of the Board, a
Substantial Shareholder and one of the Founding Shareholders

EEPISE, /EFEPITESR. ETERR AR R —

Mr. WANG Dongbin ( F % %k), an executive Director and chairman
of the Board, a Substantial Shareholder and one of the Founding
Shareholders

RERRELE, /PUTEREFERG IR, EERRLARER . —
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Definitions

“Mr. WU Zhan Jiang”

[ SR BIT S

“PRC” or “China”

[P )

“RMB”

AR

“SEC”
(27-% ﬁkﬁj

EiSRi =

“SEQ”

“SGCC”

[ 5K R4

“Share(s)”

[t )

“Shareholder(s)”

[

“Smart East”

[ Smart East ]

Mr. WU Zhanjiang (& #%7T.), an executive Director of the Board and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, a Substantial Shareholder
and one of The Founding Shareholders

TRRBRIT A, MEFGPITES . AQ TR FER R LA
PR 2 —

the People’s Republic of China, except where the context requires
otherwise, excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region of the PRC and Taiwan

farb o NRIEME, BRAEce A s, SRIACEES. P
AT R I &8

Renminbi, the official currency of the PRC

R C RPN G PN

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

REEER N REERELZR Y

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time

TR AL 5715 78 7 KN BRG], SANREET . Al 7B LA AR Ty
A fEek

[ EAIG PR /A=) (State Grid Corporation of China), an Independent
Third Party, a major state-owned cross-provincial electric power grid
company, are principally engaged in electric power transmission,
transformation and distribution in the PRC, other than the west Inner
Mongolia and Southern China

TR K BAIEIRAF, RMBIHE=T7, —HEEEGEEBNAE,
FEA P B ON G T REETERR DM i R 8T R E T

ordinary share(s) of the Company with a nominal value of HKS0.01
each, subscribed for and traded in Hong Kong dollars and listed on the
Stock Exchange

AR A W I THE0.01HE TT N Ed i, LAME TR s & B B M A A i
bl

holder(s) of the Share(s)
ECLISHESREDN

SMART EAST LIMITED, a company incorporated in the BVI on 27
November 2015 with limited liability, which is wholly owned by Mr.
WANG Dong Bin, a Substantial Shareholder and one of the Founding
Shareholders

FESMART EAST LIMITED, — [H]jA20154E11 H 27 H £ J5 & 32 Lo it ik i
RALHIA PR AT, B EFR R A (R R LA R — ) &G A
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Definitions

‘%

“Stock Exchange”

[HAZ P )

“subsidiary(ies)”

[ 2~ ]

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[ 32

“Takeovers Code”

(YA B < A

“Ubiquitous power loT”

(N2 A 6 71 Wi |

“Union Sino”

[ Union Sino |

“VAT”
[ e R )

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
TREBB LA ITH R A A

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Companies Ordinance

£ X SRS line e SRR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

A _E T R R TR %

the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs in Hong
Kong as approved by the SFC and as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time

e & AT WU . A0 K0 I B R, A8 B e R M AR IRy 12
A1 Al E A AR T g e

is creating an intellectual service system with comprehensive state-
aware, efficient information processing, convenient and flexible
application by making full use of 5G technology, mobile Internet,
artificial intelligence and other new technologies in the entire power
system to realize the interconnection and human-computer interaction
of all aspects in the entire power system
TRARSIERAE N RSG SR NMSGHMNT . FEIEHBHE. N L8
HAKTHEAT, IR RS IR A LS, A, 4TI
— R RE AT . AR BRI RS R BRI R A

UNION SINO HOLDINGS LIMITED, a company incorporated in the BVI
on 4 January 2016 with limited liability, which is wholly owned by Mr.
WU Zhanjiang, a Substantial Shareholder and one of the Shareholders
FEUNION SINO HOLDINGS LIMITED, —[HjA20164F1H 4 H fE95)8 i 4«
W e ARAR, HRERBILAE(FERRE R R )&
A

value-added tax

TR EM
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d ) iTERBIRAS

- OneForce Holdings Limited



